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Corporate Profile
NI B

China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited (the “Company” or"Shengmu”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) is an integrated “Forage Grass Planting, Cows Breeding” desert eco-organic circular raw milk
enterprise, covering the entire value chain of the dairy industry, from forage grass planting and cows
breeding to raw milk production.
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With a safe milk source base as the core, organic planting and breeding, high quality organic raw milk as the basis, Shengmu

is able to secure partnerships with downstream emulsion companies. The Group currently owns 34 farms, which are

classified into organic milk farms, DHA milk farms, organic A2 milk farms and farms of raw milk with standard and high

quality, with herd size of 148,000 cows and fresh milk yield of approximately 2,119 tonnes per day. Shengmu'’s unique organic

eco-sand treatment industry system in the Ulan Buh Desert has been selected by the United Nations Global Compact as the

best integrated practice for the "Sustainable Production and Consumption” category. Raw milk generated by the Company is
also the first in Mainland China that has obtained dual certifications of organic standards domestically and in the EU.
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Location Map of Organic Production Base
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Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | am pleased to present to
the shareholders the Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2023 of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

In 2023, the domestic demand for dairy products did not grow sufficiently,
there was a phase of surplus of raw milk in the upstream, the market price
of raw milk continued to decline, and the cows breeding industry suffered
extensive losses. In the face of uncontrollable challenges in the industry, China
Shengmu has risen to the challenge by strengthening its overall management
capability and enhancing its operational efficiency, which has resulted in the
solid and robust development of the Group's core business. During the year, the
Group recorded encouraging growth in herd size and quality, the average milk
yield, total milk yield and revenue from raw milk sales. Revenue for the year
was RMB3,383.6 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 6.5%. While
the industry was generally loss-making, the Group still maintained a relatively
good profitability, with cash EBITDA of RMB991.0 million, representing a year-
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Providing
globally the most
premium
desert organic milk
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on-year increase of RMB54.1 million, and net profit of RMB94.6 million, with net
profit margins remaining at a relatively high level in the industry.

During the year, all the staff of China Shengmu had firm confidence, strategic
determination and grasped the opportunities of the times, and achieved
remarkable results despite the downturn of the cows breeding industry cycle.
A number of indicators of the farm operation continued to be optimized and
reached the leading level in the industry. In particular, the average milk yield
per milkable cow reached a record high in the Company’s history, representing
a year-on-year increase of 8.2%. At the same time, the farm's lean cost
management system was further refined and put into practice, resulting in a
reduction in the cost of sales of a kilogram of raw milk as compared with the
corresponding period, while bulk raw material prices remained relatively high.
The increase in the average milk yield and the decrease in costs enabled the
Group's gross profit margin to remain relatively stable despite the relatively
large drop in market price of milk. High-end dairy products remained the
main category of consumption growth. Organic raw milk, as the Group's core

ik .

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

EETEXIRHE

business, continued to grow in sales volume, with 548,000 tonnes of organic
raw milk sold for the year. As the largest supplier of organic raw milk to
Mengniu Group, a major customer, the Group has proactively increased the
number of organic cows in stock in line with the strategic development plan
of the customer. As of the end of the reporting period, the number of organic
cows in stock reached 96,165, and the Group has well grasped the cyclical
changes in the industry by strategically importing about 3,800 Australian cows
at the time when the price of the imported cows was at a low point, and the
imported cows with high quality will further improve the overall quality of the
Group's herd. Meanwhile, in order to better co-ordinate with the customer’s
business deployment and to enhance the strength of the desert organic milk
brand, the Group has invested in an organic demonstration zone in the Ulan
Buh Desert Base to co-operate with Mengniu Deluxe Milk brand and to build the

world's first desert oasis farm of Deluxe Milk.

Being smarter and greener is a strategic direction that the Group has been
pursuing, and the Group has continued to achieve good results in the upgrading
of digitalization and ESG sustainable construction during the year. In the
past few years, the Group has already digitized and upgraded its back-end
management and support systems. During the year, the Group has started
to apply more digital intelligence to the front-end management of its farms
business, so as to achieve further digital transformation from “farm” to “factory”
through standardization of the business process, digitization of the operation
and management as well as an intelligent management system. During the
year, the Group received awards from various sectors of the society, including
being selected as one of the Golden Keys - SDG Leaders; being selected for
the report “Implementing Global Development Initiatives and Accelerating the
2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development: Corporate Carbon Neutrality Target
Setting, Action and Global Cooperation”; being nominated for the Paulson Award
for Sustainable Development. The Group was also awarded "ESG Disclosure
Enhancement Pioneer Organisation” by the Hong Kong Quality Assurance
Agency at the Hong Kong Green and Sustainability Contribution Awards 2023
presentation ceremony; the 2023 Listed Company ESG Excellent Practice
Cases by the China Listed Companies Association; the Outstanding Case of the
Year by Ernst & Young in the Second Listed Companies Sustainability Summit
Forum for “Towards a New Natural Economy Model with Nature's Benefits at
its Core”; and the 18th People's Corporate Social Responsibility Award - Green
Development Award for its long-term cultivation and outstanding contribution
in the field of ecological civilization construction and social responsibility etc..
The purpose of ESG is to ensure the longevity of enterprises, to enable them
to develop in a sustainable manner, and to equip them with a strong body, and
ESG is the Group's long-term focus, both in terms of competitiveness and risk

mitigation.
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Looking forward to 2024, it is expected that the growth trend of dairy products
consumption will improve. The quality of dairy products in China is already at
the forefront of the international arena, and consumers are in need of more
nutritious products, which is a demand that is still confirmed by the market
under the uncertain environment. In view of the trend, the number of cows
in stock is still at a high level, the raw milk production is still on the rise, and
the supply and demand situation facing the cows breeding industry will not
change for the time being. Under such circumstances, the Group still needs to
maintain its firm beliefs, continues to improve its management, adapts to the
new situation and environment, adheres to its great mission of “providing the
highest quality desert organic milk in the world", meets government'’s strategic
objectives, serves the needs of people’s livelihoods, follows the development
requirements of a modern industrial system, expands its industry and

enhances its corporate value.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my heartfelt
gratitude to all our customers, employees, partners and shareholders for your
continued trust and support, which has enabled us to achieve our current
achievements. The overall food safety situation in China is improving, and the
transition from “eating safe” to “eating healthy” is becoming a new demand
of the people for a better life. China Shengmu will continue to uphold the
corporate mission of “providing the highest quality desert organic milk in the
world”. With industry colleagues and all walks of life, the Group will further
forge consensus and work together to promote the high-quality development
of China's food industry, continue to provide consumers with safe, high-
quality, nutritious and healthy products, and make greater contributions to the
construction of a healthy China and a strong country in terms of quality.

Chairman’s Statement

EETEXIRHBE

RE2024%F A BMBEERRTBALENR

Z PEIMmMmECEERRAY - HE
FEERLENER G THRENKIRE

THSKAEENT R - KBBWKE - P
FREBAAEN &L - REDESTE L
BIEF - PIFRETERBROERKBE TR
NENE  BEREET  AREERATER
FREENES THREERE  IREHT
2 MRS BRIRH2ERsEEREDE
B IR AR ED - [CECHRATER - IR
REFK  HRERKEXRRZRELR
REX  RIACEEHR-

AANZBRREFGAMBERL BT A1F
BHEBERBAROHRESE  BREMARA
REEMSHE - R FI77 BEEISIRE R
THERAREVBEERALT K EERE
A BRE S EERRARBRELFERE
RFFENR - MEERBEERFSIRE DR
REmE DRI N EMER - BT
XRC  HEXRE—PREHE  BFH
# BEPTERRITESEELER  KES
BEXBEERELE - BE 28 BFEW
Em ARFETHE GERFEERMEEXR
BEf -

ANNUAL REPORT F[Z 3R 2023



Q Q Herd Structure (0,000 heads) .
" FREHE (29) P

Milkable cows

pRFLA

Heifers and Calves

Yt T

Fattening cows

©oEpEs

s\ Milkable Cow Annualized Milk Yield (tonne/head) S Volume of Raw Milk Sold (0,000 tonnes)
\_ B4 FERE mwm \_ RYIEE ()

58.5 63.5 71.2

2021 2022 2023 2021 2022 2023

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED FF EIEEMAHL 2B R A R




=

=

Highlights
S

Growth in Proportion of Organic Raw Milk
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In 2023, the macro-economy gradually rebounded amidst the recovery, with
China's GDP reaching RMB126,058.2 billion, representing a yoy growth of
5.2%; and the total retail sales of consumer goods for the year amounted
to RMB47,149.5 billion, representing an increase of 7.2% compared to the
previous year; the sales of basic commodities grew steadily, and the retail
sales of food, oil and beverages recorded by businesses of at least a certain
scale (FREEIA F¥47) increased by 5.2%; the annual consumer price index
(CPI) rose by 0.2% over the previous year, with food, tobacco and alcohol
prices rising by 0.3%. The national disposable income per capita for the year
was RMB39,218, representing a nominal increase of 6.3% compared to the
previous year, while national consumer expenditure per capita for the year
was RMB26,796, representing a nominal increase of 9.2% compared to the
previous year. Consumption expenditure per capita on food, tobacco and
alcohol accounted for 29.8% of consumption expenditure per capita (Engel's
coefficient), representing a decrease of 0.7 percentage points from the previous

year.

In 2023, in terms of the dairy products industry, consumption of dairy products
recovered slowly, but lacked momentum for growth. The production of dairy
manufacturing enterprises above the designated size (FRIEA FF & @B &
%) in China was 30.546 million tonnes, representing a year-on-year growth
of 3.1%. In terms of import, China imported a total of 2.878 million tonnes
of various dairy products in 2023, representing a year-on-year decrease of
12.0%, and imported dairy products equivalent to 17.18 million tonnes of
raw fresh milk, representing a year-on-year decrease of 10.4%. In the major
categories, in 2023, China imported a total of 777,000 tonnes of large packets
of powder, representing a year-on-year decrease of 24.9%. Apart from that,
imports of condensed milk and packaged milk also declined significantly,
by more than 20% compared with the corresponding period,

and imports of infant formula decreased by 16%. On the ,

contrary, imports of whey powder and cheese increased /
by 9.4% and 22.5% respectively during the year. Overall,
the total volume of dairy products imported into China has
decreased significantly for two consecutive years. With
the weakening of the price advantage of imported

dairy products and the development of high-
end domestic dairy products, the domestic
dairy product processing relies more on
the supply of domestic raw milk, and
the upward trend of the milk supply rate
accelerated significantly.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of the dairy farming industry, the upstream supply of raw milk was
relatively lax and the growth rate of raw milk production was greater than the
growth rate of downstream demand. 41.97 million tonnes of raw milk was
produced in China in 2023, representing a year-on-year growth of 6.7%, which
was the same as the growth rate in 2022. In view of this, the price of fresh
raw milk continued to decline on the basis of last year. As of the last week
of December 2023, the average price of fresh raw milk in the primary dairy-
producing provinces (regions) as monitored by the Ministry of Agriculture and
Rural Affairs was RMB3.66/kg, representing a decrease of 11.2% as compared
with the corresponding period last year; the average price for the whole year of
2023 was RMB3.83/kg, representing a year-on-year decrease of 7.9%. In terms
of feed costs, although the price of forage decreased slightly as compared with
the corresponding period last year, the production cost of raw milk for dairy
farms was still high and there was severe cost pressure. According to the
monitoring data from the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs, the national
average price of corn in the last week of December 2023 was RMB2.79/kg,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 8.5%, and the average price of soya
bean in 2023 was RMB4.28/kg, representing a year-on-year decrease of 15.6%.
The total volume of imported forage continued to decline. According to customs
statistics, in 2023, China imported 1.072 million tonnes of hay, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 44.8%. Among them, there was an accumulated 1
million tonnes of imported alfalfa hay, representing a year-on-year decrease
of 44.1%, and 72,000 tonnes of imported oat hay, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 52.7%. Overall, affected by the slowdown in downstream demand
growth and the sustained high costs of upstream forage, the profitability of the
dairy farming industry has been further compressed, with some enterprises
struggling to continue operations. Cost reduction and efficiency improvement,
and a focus on liquidity risk management have become industry commonplace.
With the optimization and integration of industry resources, the number of
large-scale farms is increasing year by year, which has a positive effect on the

long-term sustainable development of the industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The principal business of the Group is dairy farming, production and sales of
high-end desert-based organic raw milk and quality non-organic raw milk.
The Group focuses on the production and sales of desert-based organic milk,
while satisfying the diversified needs of customers for quality raw milk, and
continues to develop a variety of functional raw milk to enrich the Group's
product mix and enhance its profitability. In 2023, the Group's daily fresh milk
production exceeded 2,000 tonnes for the first time, reaching 2,119 tonnes.
Among them, 18 organic certified farms produced 1,667 tonnes of fresh milk
per day; 2 DHA milk farms produced 133 tonnes of fresh milk per day; and 1
organic A2 milk farm produced 34 tonnes of fresh milk per day. The diversified
and high-end product structure has enabled the Group to enjoy a clear

differentiated competitive advantage in the raw milk industry.

HERD SIZE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group operated 34 farms, including 2 fattening
cow farms. The Group had 148,029 milkable cows and fattening cows in stock,
representing an increase of 8.6% as compared with the end of the previous
year, with 96,165 organic cows in stock and 51,864 non-organic cows in stock.

During the year, the Group continued to optimize its herd structure and
strategically retired inefficient cows, resulting in a significant improvement in
the overall quality of the herd, with the proportion of milkable cows accounting
for approximately 47.0%, and the healthy and positive development of reserve

cows was maintained.
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31 December

31 December

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4F

12H31H 12 H31H

Number of Farms (number) HisHE (BE) 34 33

Milkable Cows (heads) PR LA (B8) 64,193 64,355

Calves and Heifers (heads) B4 RAEKS () 72,373 63,980

Fattening cows'" (heads) B4 (5) 11,463 8,009

Total (heads) EFH(5E) 148,029 136,344
(1) Fattening cows refer to a type of cow that mainly produces beef and the main purpose (1)  BIEFHE—HBUEEFHATNF  EXEH

of which is for selling.
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OPERATION REVIEW

ORGANIC RAW MILK SALES CONTINUED TO GROW AS MILK YIELD
REACHED RECORD HIGH

In 2023, the Group continued to focus on improving the level of milk yield
through lean farm management. The milk yield of milkable cows reached 11.38
tonnes, representing an increase of approximately 0.86 tonnes as compared
with the corresponding period, which is the highest level of milk yield since
the establishment of the Group. Under the current market environment, the
increase in milk yield of milkable cows will effectively enhance the profitability
of the Company. With the help of the increase in milk yield, the Group recorded
total raw milk sales of 0.711 million tonnes, representing an increase of 12.0%
as compared with the corresponding period. Among them, the sales volume of
organic raw milk was 0.548 million tonnes, representing an increase of 19.7%
as compared with the corresponding period, and the proportion of organic
raw milk sales in the total sales of raw milk reached 77.0%. The increase in
the proportion of organic raw milk further reinforced the Group's profitability.
Despite the decline in raw milk prices in the industry, benefiting from the
increase in both the milk yield of milkable cows and the proportion of organic
raw milk sales, the Group still recorded growth in sales revenue of RMB3,383.6
million for 2023, representing an increase of RMB207.4 million over the
corresponding period.

REDUCING COSTS AND INCREASING EFFICIENCY, FARMING COSTS
WERE EFFECTIVELY CONTROLLED

In 2023, the raw milk market faced severe challenges and the price of raw
milk dropped significantly as compared with the corresponding period. During
the year, the average price of raw milk sold by the Group was RMB4.76 per
kilogram, representing a decrease of 4.9% as compared with the corresponding
period. Under such circumstances, the Group actively expanded its cost
reduction and efficiency enhancement

measures by innovating the farm

management model, introducing

an excellent nutritional team,
‘ optimizing the feeding formula
and exploring new technologies
and resources. In terms of forage
selection, while adopting low-cost
forage substitution, the Group also
paid attention to the consideration
of comprehensive benefits. The
optimized forage formula not only
effectively controlled the cost of
feeding, but also improved the
health of the herd and alleviated
the impact of stress on the yield
and milk index of the cows. In 2023, the Group's
cost of sales per kilogram of milk was RMB3.32, representing a decrease of
RMBO0.08 over the corresponding period.
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EHEERR D

HERD UPGRADING AND OPTIMIZATION, STRATEGIC RETIREMENT OF
INEFFICIENT COWS

Maintaining the breeding capacity of cows is the basis for ensuring the
quality of the herd. In 2023, the Group effectively enhanced the accuracy and
completeness of the genomic genealogy of cows through practical and effective
selection and breeding measures. In terms of breeding, the Group formulated
the Shengmu Breeding Index, placing emphasis on the production and health
traits of cows, reducing the proportion of body size traits, and increasing
milk protein and mastitis resistance. The Group has also established the IVF
system to upgrade the breed of herd, build up a core herd and establish a
national core breeding farm. In terms of herd health care, under the concept of
focusing on health care and prevention of disease and light on treatment, the
proportion of health care expenses was raised and the proportion of treatment
expenses was lowered, and overall the herd medication expenses decreased
significantly compared with the corresponding period. Meanwhile, the stress of
cows was reduced, and the level of passive culling of cows was lowered, such
that the health of cows was guaranteed, and the consistency of cows in the
whole herd was improved. In the face of changes in supply and demand in the
industry, the Group further launched a herd upgrading and optimization plan to
improve the standard of cow retention, proactively retire and reduce the size of
inefficient cows on the basis of ensuring the continuous optimization of various
breeding indexes. As a result, the culling rate of the Group's cows increased as
compared with the corresponding period, and with the upgrading of the overall
quality of the herd, the Company's overall profitability of dairy farming was
also enhanced. Under such influence, the Group’s cow reproduction rate was
controlled at a relatively healthy level. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's
entire herd of cows increased by 11,685 cows as compared with the end of
the previous year, and the self-breeding and reproduction rate of productive
biological assets was 6.2%.
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THE FARMS ARE WELL MANAGED, THE GROUP WON THE ORGANIC
GOLD AWARD, AND WAS AWARDED THE TITLE OF NATIONAL KEY
LEADING ENTERPRISE

The Group leverages the resource advantages of the Ulan Buh Desert to care
for the welfare of its dairy cows. Relying on the clean desert land, the Group
provides a comfortable living environment for dairy cows (warm winters and
cool summers in the desert environment), and each farm is equipped with
heat protection measures such as fan spraying, as well as warming measures
such as windbreaks and temperature-controlled heated water tanks. The
farm is kept clean, with manure removed three times a day, such that manure
is cleared once the cows move away, and fresh feed is delivered regularly
(EZIBRF]). The farm also has a cow exercise yard, with an average of
approximately 80 square metres of activity area per cow, providing sufficient
space for cows to relax. In addition to this, the farm also has a variety of
measures such as a dedicated nutrition team and a professional veterinary
team to ensure the welfare of the dairy cows and create a better life for
the cows. As a firm believer in high quality organic raw milk, the Group is
determined not to use chemical fertilizers and pesticides in the cultivation of
forage, and no hormones and antibiotics are used in the feeding of dairy cows.
This has enabled the Group's raw milk quality to remain at an industry-leading
level, and during the year, the milk protein rate, milk fat rate, microorganisms
<30,000 pass rate, and cell <200,000 pass rate of the Group's raw milk were all
further improved as compared with the corresponding period of last year. In the
16" Asian International Organic Products Expo, Shengmu Organic won the Gold
Award of Organic Products Expo for 11 consecutive years. The improvement
of the Group's farm management capability also continued to gain recognition
from more industry associations. In 2023, six farms of the Group passed the
GAP accreditation review, while seven new farms were accredited with Grade S
in the "Modern Dairy Classification and Evaluation of Dairy Farms”. In addition,
the Group was named as a national key leading enterprise in agricultural
industrialization by the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs of the PRC
for its remarkable achievements in promoting agricultural modernization,
upgrading the quality and safety standards of agricultural products and
promoting the development of the dairy industry, etc.
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EHEERR D

THE CONSTRUCTION OF DELUXE ORGANIC MILK DEMONSTRATION
ZONE WAS LAUNCHED, AND IMPORTED COWS WERE SUCCESSFULLY
STATIONED IN THE ZONE

In order to realize the Group's future strategic plan and achieve growth in
organic milk sales, the Group has commenced the construction of a dairy
farming demonstration zone in the Ulan Buh Desert base. The demonstration
zone is a high-quality, green and low-carbon development project to promote
the modernization of agriculture and rural development under the guidance
and support of the local government. Meanwhile, in order to better co-ordinate
with the customer’s business deployment and to enhance the strength of
the desert organic milk brand, the demonstration zone will co-operate with
Mengniu Deluxe Milk brand, to build the world's first desert oasis farm of
Deluxe Milk. During the year, the construction of the demonstration zone was
on schedule and the preparatory work for the commencement of production
was carried out in an orderly manner. The construction of barns and living
quarters for the farm has been completed, and the Group imported over 3,800
high-quality young Holstein cows from Australia which have been successfully
stationed in the organic demonstration zone as of the date of this annual
report, in view of the low cost of imported cows and the high cost of domestic

farming.

SHOULDER SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY WITH COURAGE, UPHOLD
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

As a leading organic raw milk enterprise in China, the Group has continued
to practise sustainable development, improve its corporate sustainable
development governance system, promote the synergistic development of
economic, social and natural environmental benefits, and build an organic,
ecological and intelligent Shengmu, playing a leading role in creating a
sustainable future together with its stakeholders. During the year, the Group
received awards from various sectors of the society, including being selected
as one of the Golden Keys - SDG Leaders; being selected for the report
“Implementing Global Development Initiatives and Accelerating the 2030
Agenda for Sustainable Development: Corporate Carbon Neutrality Target
Setting, Action and Global Cooperation” and being nominated for the Paulson
Award for Sustainable Development. The Group was also awarded "ESG
Disclosure Enhancement Pioneer Organisation” by the Hong Kong Quality
Assurance Agency at the Hong Kong Green Sustainability Awards 2023
ceremony; the 2023 Outstanding ESG Practice Case for Listed Companies by
the Association of Listed Companies in China; the Outstanding Case of the
Year by Ernst & Young in the Second Listed Companies Sustainability Summit
Forum for “Towards a New Natural Economy Model with Nature's Benefits at
its Core”; and the 18" People’s Corporate Social Responsibility Award - Green
Development Award for its long-term cultivation and outstanding contribution

in the field of ecological civilization construction and social responsibility. In the
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future, the Group will base on the “farms with cows and forage (FRE#AA)" to
ensure that economic benefits and sustainable development are given equal
importance, further promote the sustainable development of agriculture and
animal husbandry, protect the Ulan Buh Desert, and contribute to the building
of an ecological civilization and the development of a beautiful China.

ENHANCEMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES PERFORMANCE, INCENTIVE
MECHANISM TO STIMULATE TEAM DYNAMICS

In terms of human resources, the Group focuses on improving people efficiency
and stimulating team dynamics through organizational optimization and
performance incentives. In 2023, the Group’'s man-to-cow ratio, production per
capita and income per capita were all significantly higher than those of the
corresponding period. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 2,701
employees (as at 31 December 2022: 2,845 employees). Total employee costs
(including directors’ and senior management’'s emoluments and restricted
share award of the Group) in 2023 amounted to RMB377.4 million (2022:
RMB330.7 million).

Employees in Hong Kong are provided with retirement benefits, under the
Mandatory Provident Fund scheme, as well as life insurance and medical
insurance. Employees in Mainland China are provided with pension insurance,
medical insurance, employment injury insurance, unemployment insurance,
maternity insurance and housing fund contributions in compliance with the

requirements of the laws of China.

In 2023, the Group's long-term share award scheme (“Share Award Scheme”)
was continuously implemented. On 20 April 2023, approximately 50% of the
first tranche of a total of 108,942,111 award shares was vested as a result
of the achievement of various performance targets of the Company, with the
remaining approximately 50% to be vested on 20 April 2024. On 21 April 2023,
a second tranche of a total of 99,954,000 award shares was granted by the
Group to 66 middle and senior management and 1 director. The Group, through
the trustee of the Share Award Scheme (“Trustee”), has purchased existing
shares of the Company from the open market as award shares in accordance
with the Company's instructions, using cash contributed by the Group, and as
at 31 December 2023, there is outstanding 230,986,988 award shares that
have not been granted under the Share Award Scheme, representing 2.8% of

the Company's issued shares.
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EHEERR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

ANALYSIS ON CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SALES REVENUE

Bt 35 [ 8

FeiRm Rk EtEENEs
R

HEWA

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MBLEEE

Sales revenue (RMB'000) HEWA(ARETIT)
Sales volume (tonnes) s (18)
Average selling price (RMB/tonnes) FHEB(ARET, W)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
3,383,629 3,176,253
711,465 635,451
4,756 4,998

In 2023, the Group's raw milk sales revenue amounted to RMB3,383.6 million
(2022: RMB3,176.3 million), representing an increase of 6.5% as compared with
the corresponding period, which was an increase in total revenue despite the
industry backdrop of a general downtrend in the selling price of raw milk in the
domestic raw milk market, and brought considerable cash inflow to the Group,
which was mainly attributable to the increase in sales of its core product,

desert organic raw milk.

The Group focused on its advantageous resources and continued to optimize
its product structure. During the year, the sales volume of organic raw milk
increased by 19.7% as compared with the corresponding period, with the sales
volume of organic raw milk accounting for 77.0% of the total sales volume
of raw milk; in terms of product research and development and innovation,
the sales volume of "DHA Milk" and "Organic A2 Raw Milk", which were
successfully marketed as functional raw milks, grew steadily. In 2023, DHA
Milk and Organic A2 Milk achieved sales volumes of 39,355 tonnes and 1,647
tonnes respectively, enriching the product matrix and contributing to revenue
growth.
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In 2023, in view of oversupply in the industry, the Group took the initiative to
retire inefficient cows to improve the structure of the quality dairy herd, and
continued to promote the accuracy and completeness of the genome genealogy
of cows to achieve continuous improvement in the quality of the herd. In terms
of process management and control, the Group strengthened the lean grouping
and other operational management initiatives, the level of milk production
by cows increases year-on-year, with the milk yield of milkable cows during
the year amounting to 11.38 tonnes, representing a year-on-year increase of
8.2% as compared with the corresponding period. The sales volume of raw
milk reached 0.711 million tonnes (2022: 0.635 million tonnes), representing a
year-on-year increase of 12.0% as compared with the corresponding period.
However, due to the weakening of domestic consumption of dairy products, the
selling price in the raw milk market continued to decline, the average selling
price of the Group's raw milk dropped by 4.9 percentage points to RMB4,756
per tonne (2022: RMB4,998 per tonne) as compared with the corresponding

period.

COST OF SALES, GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN
Unit: RMB'000, except percentages
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For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MBLEEE

Cost of sales 85 & AR
Gross profit ER
Gross profit margin ESV B

2023 2022
2023 2022 %
2,358,609 2,163,571
1,025,020 1,012,682
30.3% 31.9%

In 2023, the cost of sales of raw milk of the Group amounted to RMB2,358.6
million (2022: RMB2,163.6 million), representing an increase of 9.0% as
compared with the corresponding period, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in sales scale.
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EHEERR D

In 2023, bulk raw material prices remained at a high level as compared with
the corresponding period, and as the production process based on organic
raw milk became more stringent, with higher standards for forage quality, this
exacerbated the difficulty in controlling the Company's feed costs. The Group
achieved a year-on-year decrease of RMB0.08 in the cost of sales of kilogram
of milk by expanding channels for cost reduction and efficiency enhancement,
innovating the farm management model, optimizing the formula for cow
breeding in collaboration with the nutrition team, increasing the utilization rate
of forage, better allocating the feeding cost and improving the health of the
herd; and internally, continuing to carry out the “Battle of the Milliseconds (£
EEELIR)", strictly controlling various expenses, and achieving new record highs
in the yield of milkable cows and other key indexes.

In 2023, due to the lower market price of raw milk, the Group recorded a gross
profit margin of raw milk of 30.3% (2022: 31.9%), representing a decrease
of 1.6% as compared with the corresponding period. However, by adjusting
the organic milk structure to increase the sales volume of organic milk and
strengthening internal operation efficiency to reduce costs and increase
efficiency, the Group was able to offset the profit impact of the continuous
decline in the selling price of raw milk, and achieved a gross profit of raw milk
of RMB1,025.0 million (2022: RMB1,012.7 million) for the year, representing a
positive increase of 1.2 percentage points as compared with the corresponding

period.

LOSS ARISING FROM CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE LESS COSTS TO SELL
OF BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Loss arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets
mainly represents fair value changes in the dairy cows, due to changes in the
physical attributes and market prices of the dairy cows and the discounted
future cash flow to be generated by those cows. In general, the value of a heifer
increases when it grows to a milkable cow, as the discounted cash flow from
milkable cows is higher than heifers. Further, when a milkable cow is ousted
and sold, its value decreases.

In 2023, the loss arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell of
biological assets amounted to RMB706.3 million (2022: RMB291.4 million),
the increase in loss as compared with the corresponding period was mainly
attributable to (i) a substantial increase in the number of retired inefficient
cows compared with the corresponding period as the Group proactively retired
inefficient cows in order to improve the structure of the high-quality milkable
cow herd; and (ii) a yoy decrease in the appraised value of biological assets, as
a result of the decrease in the market price of raw milk, the constant high cost

of feeds, the decrease in the market price of beef and other factors.
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

In 2023, other income and gains amounted to RMB72.3 million (2022:
RMB46.1 million), representing an increase of 56.8% as compared with the
corresponding period. This mainly included government grants, interest income
and beef cow breeding business, etc., of which interest income was RMB29.6
million (2022: RMB17.3 million).

During the year, the Group’'s beef cow farming business slaughtered 6,854
heads of beef cattle, achieving sales revenue of RMB49.5 million (2022:
RMB123.6 million).

Beef cow breeding business
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Revenue of beef cattle farming business P4 A ZE AU A
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Gross profit/(loss) EFE/ (E1E)
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costs to sell of biological assets

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4F
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ARET T AR®EFIT
6,854 12,583
49,473 123,595
(58,961) (115,305)
(9,488) 8,290
(9,488) 8,290

As a result of the continuous decline in the beef sales market, the slaughtering
volume and sales revenue of the Group's beef cow breeding business
decreased as compared with the corresponding period, and the gross profit of

the beef cow business was at a loss status.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

In 2023, selling and distribution expenses amounted to RMB62.7 million (2022:
RMB55.2 million), representing an increase of 13.7% as compared with the
corresponding period. This was mainly attributable to: (i) the growth in the
total volume of sales of raw milk; and (ii) the Group’'s proactive expansion
of sales channels in response to the industry cycle, with an increase in the
transportation radius as compared with the corresponding period. Selling and
distribution expenses include salaries and benefits in addition to transport

costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEERR D

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2023, administrative expenses amounted to RMB166.3 million (2022:
RMB141.0 million), representing an increase of 18.0% as compared with the
corresponding period, and accounted for 4.9% (2022: 4.4%) of sales revenue.
This was mainly due to the recognition of the different benefit periods for the
expenses related to share awards (2022: from the adoption date of the Share

Award Scheme).

Administrative expenses mainly include staff costs, travelling expenses,
overheads, brokerage services and depreciation expenses and other
administrative types of expenses.

OTHER EXPENSES
In 2023, other expenses amounted to RMB2.5 million (2022: RMB42.0 million),

representing a decrease of 94.0% as compared with the corresponding period.
This was mainly due to the recognition of litigation provision expenses of
RMB35.7 million in the previous year. Other expenses mainly included donation

expenses and litigation provision expenses.

FINANCE COSTS

In 2023, finance costs amounted to RMB53.1 million (2022: RMB57.4 million),
representing a decrease of 7.6% as compared with the corresponding
period. The Group continued to deepen the cooperation between banks and
enterprises, practiced green finance, optimized the debt structure and lowered
the finance costs. The consolidated financing cost ratio for the year was 2.67%,
representing a decrease of 0.98 percentage points as compared with 3.65%
for the previous year, which was low compared to rest of the industry and
historical figures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SHARE OF THE LOSS OF ASSOCIATES

The Group's associates include: (a) Inner Mongolia Mengniu Shengmu Hi-
Tech Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (ARER4EHSEZmBRAE]), owned
as to 49.0% by the Group, which is primarily engaged in the operating and
selling of Shengmu organic liquid milk products; (b) Food Union Shengmu
Dairy Co., Ltd. (BREE EHILGBRRAF]) and Inner Mongolia Shengmu
Low Temperature Dairy Product Company Limited (A5 &= ZEHIE A ZLmAE R
72 1A)), both of which the Group held minority interests in and produces dairy
products with raw milk from the Group; (c) Inner Mongolia Yiyingmei Dairy Co.,
Ltd. (REEEBEIAZEABR AR, in which the Group held minority interests
and is principally engaged in the production of high-end organic milk powders;
and (d) Mudanjiang Liangyuan Technology Limited (HfHTIEREHEER A F),
which the Group held minority interests, which is primarily engaged in feed
processing. In 2023, the share of losses of the above associates amounted to
RMB10.2 million (2022: RMB20.4 million).

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

All profits of the Group were derived from its operations in the People's
Republic of China (the "PRC" or “China”). According to the Enterprise Income
Tax Law of the PRC (the “EIT Law"), the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
generally subject to a PRC corporate income tax at a rate of 25%. According
to the preferential provisions of the EIT Law, the Group's income arising from
agricultural activities, such as dairy farming and processing of raw agricultural
products, is exempted from enterprise income tax. Under the PRC tax laws
and regulations, there is no statutory time limit for such tax exemption as long
as the relevant PRC subsidiaries of the Group complete filings with the tax

authorities as required.

In 2023, the Group's income tax expense amounted to RMB3.1 million (2022:
nil).
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PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

In 2023, the Group's cash EBITDA was RMB991.0 million (2022: RMB936.9
million), representing an increase of 5.8% as compared with the corresponding
period.

As a result of the above combined factors, profit attributable to owners
of the parent company for 2023 was RMB86.1 million (2022: RMB416.5
million), representing a decrease of RMB330.4 million as compared with the
corresponding period.

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests mainly represents the profit for
the year attributable to the dairy farmers with whom we cooperated in relation
to dairy farm management of our farms. In 2023, profit attributable to non-
controlling interests amounted to RMB8.5 million (2022: RMB33.6 million).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES
AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has maintained a prudent financial policy by expanding external
financing channels, strengthening co-operation with banks, obtaining sufficient
credit lines, ensuring liquidity, reasonably matching the long-term and short-
term financing structure and effectively reducing the risk of the Group's use of
short-term debts for long-term investments; and internally, centralising the
management of funds to improve cash flow operations. The Group's finance
department regularly examines the overall cash and debt situation and flexibly
arranges financing plans based on the Group's cash flow from operating
activities and the maturity profile of financing.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
RMB395.5 million (31 December 2022: RMB490.2 million).

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

In 2023, the Group's credit facilities exceeded RMB10 billion and the utilization
rate was maintained at below 30%, which continuously protected the
Company's stable operation. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's available
and unutilized credit facilities amounted to approximately RMB8,957.4 million
(31 December 2022: RMB5,202.5 million). Having considered (i) the projected
cash flows from operating activities of the continuing operations; and (ii) the
existing financial assets and leverage level of the Group, the Directors believe
that the Group has sufficient financial assets to settle its debts and to finance
its day-to-day business operations as well as its contracted capital expenditure
as at 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had outstanding interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings amounting to RMB2,131.2 million (as at 31 December 2022:
RMB1,840.2 million), which were all denominated in RMB, of which RMB911.4

million was repayable within one year.

The Group's net borrowings are calculated as interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) less cash and bank balances and short-
term investment deposits. Net borrowings at 31 December 2023 amounted to
RMB1,053.4 million (at 31 December 2022: RMB891.1 million), representing an
increase of 18.2% as compared with the end of 2022.

In 2023, the interest rate on interest-bearing liabilities ranged from 0.87% to
3.26% per annum (year ended 31 December 2022: 0.87% to 4.15%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's total equity amounted to RMB4,236.3
million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB4,261.7 million), comprising current
assets of RMB2,155.0 million, non-current assets of RMB6,361.9 million,
current liabilities of RMB3,022.2 million and non-current liabilities of
RMB1,258.4 million. Non-current prepayments, other receivables and other
assets amounted to RMB49.8 million (2022: nil), which mainly represented the
prepayment for the importation of over 3,800 high quality young Holstein cows
from Australia during the year.

The Group's financial gearing ratio is calculated as interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings (including lease liabilities) divided by total equity. The
financial gearing ratio as at 31 December 2023 was 51.5% (as at 31 December
2022: 43.5%).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's total restricted bank deposits amounted
to RMB148.8 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB199.9 million), of which
RMB63.1 million was pledged to banks in the PRC as deposits for the issuance
of letters of credit and bank drafts and RMB85.7 million was frozen due to
litigation.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's commitments in relation to acquired
property, plant and equipment amounted to RMB43.7 million (as at 31
December 2022: RMB5.0 million). The increase was mainly due to the
construction of the Smart Farm as scheduled during the year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group provided guarantees for bank borrowings
of RMB69.0 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB142.9 million) of Bayannur
Shengmu High-tech Ecological Forage Co., Ltd. (EE/sMEM BRI EEE
¥ B[R /AR]). The external guarantees provided by the Group were recognised
in the financial statements, adopting the valuation of the guarantees as
determined by the independent professional valuer as the best estimate of
payment required for the performance of the relevant existing obligations in

accordance with the requirements of IFRSs.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group's operations are primarily located in Mainland China and the
majority of transactions are conducted in RMB. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group had no significant foreign exchange risk in respect of its operations
except for cash balances of approximately RMB2.0 million, RMB0.2 million and
RMBQO0.1 million denominated in USD, EURO and HKD. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group had not entered into any arrangement to hedge against any foreign

exchange fluctuations.

CREDIT RISK

The Group only trades with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is
the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. Credit risk related to the Group's
other financial assets arises from default of the counterparty with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments. Since the
Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties, collateral is

generally not required.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

In 2023, the Group's operations were in compliance in all material respects
with currently applicable national and local environmental protection laws and

regulations in the PRC.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

In 2023, the Group did not make any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR ACQUISITION OF
CAPITAL ASSETS AND EXPECTED SOURCE OF FUNDING

Save as disclosed above in the section headed “Capital Commitments” and in
the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus, as
at the date of this annual report, the Group does not have any plan for material

investments or acquisition of capital assets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no material subsequent
event of the Group from the end of the reporting period to the date of this
annual report.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

China's No. 1 central document for 2024 pointed out it is necessary to adhere to
the development of agriculture through industry, quality and green agriculture
and accelerate the construction of modern rural industrial system that
integrates grain, economy and feed, agriculture, forestry, animal husbandry
and fisheries, production, processing and marketing, and the integration of
agriculture, culture and tourism, and make agriculture a modernized large
industry. In terms of dairy cattle breeding, the document also pointed out
that it is necessary to vigorously promote the breakthrough of key core
technologies in agriculture such as germplasm, accelerate the expansion of
beef cow and sheep farming and dairy production, and vigorously promote the
upgrading and transformation of grassland pastoralism. The 2024 Policy on
Promoting High-Quality Development of the Milk Industry issued by the Inner
Mongolia Autonomous Region mentions the need to stabilise the supply of
high-quality milk sources, support the cultivation of high-quality seed sources,
increase subsidies for forage storage, promote the increase in production of
domestically-produced high-quality alfalfa, and support the expansion of the
processing capacity of dairy processing enterprises and the development
of deep and intensive processing, etc. The Group will closely follow the
policy guidelines of the national and local governments, with the strong
empowerment of industrial resources and leveraging on the unigue resource
endowment of the Ulan Buh Desert, earnestly push forward the implementation
of various business objectives and strive to achieve the strategic goal of
doubling the sales volume of organic raw milk by 2025 as compared with that
of 2020.

In 2024, there remains tension in the supply and demand in the industry, and
the enhancement of the enterprise’s internal lean management capability is
an important means to cope with the external uncertainties. The Group will
focus on important issues such as overall cost control, efficiency improvement,
herd optimisation, green storage acquisition and commissioning of new farms
and farm digitization, in order to achieve a new breakthrough in the Group's
operational capability. In terms of business, the Group will make every effort
to ensure the high quality growth of the desert organic milk business of its
major customer, Mengniu Group, and at the same time construct the Deluxe
Milk Organic Industrial Zone with high standards. Operationally, the Group will
enhance its digital innovation capabilities and build a highly efficient supply

chain to achieve sustainable development.
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Report of the Directors

The Board has the pleasure in submitting its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023. Save as stated otherwise in this annual report, the defined
terms herein shall have the same meaning as in the Company's prospectus (the
“Prospectus”) dated 30 June 2014.

Business Review

The Group's principal businesses consists of dairy farming business. For
details of the principal subsidiaries of the Group, please refer to note 1 to the

financial statements.

The Group's income is mainly derived from its business activities in the PRC.
Further details of the Group’s business review of the financial year are set out
in the section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

The Group is exposed to a variety of business risks, including financial risks,
regulatory and environmental risks, climate, disease and other natural risks in

the ordinary course of business.

Further details of the Group's principal risks, please refer to note 16 and note
37 to the financial statements.

Results

The Group's consolidated results for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income in the financial statements.

Five-Year Financial Highlights

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out in the section headed “Financial Summary” in this

annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

For details of the changes in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year, please refer to note 12 to the financial statements.

Donations

The Group made donations in the a total amount of RMB2,545,000 during the
year of 2023 (2022: RMB6,264,000).
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Dividend Distribution

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HKD0.23 cents
(2022: HKD1.13 cents) per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December
2023. Subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company, which will be held on Friday, 14 June 2024 (the "AGM"),
the proposed final dividend will be paid on or about 5 July 2024 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 21

June 2024. No interim dividend was paid during the year (2022: nil).

Distributable Reserves

The Company's distributable reserves amounted to RMB3,474.4 million as at 31
December 2023 (as at 31 December 2022: RMB3,569.3 million). For details of
the changes in the Company's reserves in 2023, please refer to note 38 to the

financial statements.

Share Capital

For details of the changes in the Company's share capital in 2023, please refer
to the consolidated statement of changes in equity in the financial statements

and note 27 to the financial statements.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities, except that the Trustee purchased a total of 206,932,000 ordinary
shares of the Company as restricted shares in the open market in accordance
with the rules of the Share Award Scheme at a total consideration of
approximately HK$72,673,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB66,657,000)
(2022: a total of 77,944,000 ordinary shares of the Company was purchased
in the open market as restricted shares at a consideration of HK$29,708,000
(equivalent to RMB26,188,000) by the trustee of the Share Award Scheme).
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Annual General Meeting and Closure of
Register of Members

The forthcoming AGM will be held on 14 June 2024. For determining the
shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 11 June 2024 to 14 June 2024,
both days inclusive. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company should ensure that all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Financial Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 7 June 2024.

The notice of convening the AGM and related circular will be published on
the website of the Stock Exchange and on the website of the Company at
http://www.shengmuorganicmilk.com/ and despatched to the shareholders in
due course.

Pre-Emptive Rights

Neither the Articles of Association of the Company nor the laws of the Cayman
Islands, where the Company is incorporated, contains any provisions relating to

pre-emptive rights.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In 2023, the five largest customers of the Group in aggregate accounted for
99.8% (2022: 99.7%) of the Group's total revenue and the largest customer
accounted for 95.3% (2022: 91.5%) of the Group's total revenue. In 2023, the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 30.6% (2022: 32.36%) of the
Group's total amount of purchases and the largest supplier accounted for
11.7% (2022: 15.06%) of the Group's total amount of purchases.

In 2023, to the knowledge of the Directors, other than China Mengniu Dairy
Company Limited ("China Mengniu”), none of any of shareholders or any of
Directors or any of their close associates who owns more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital, had any interest in the five largest suppliers or
customers of the Group.

In 2023, we did not experience any material disputes with our customers or

suppliers.
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Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation to which the Shareholders
are entitled by reason of their holding of the Shares.

Directors

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company's Directors were as
follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. ZHANG Jiawang

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Ping

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun

Mr. SUN Qian

Ms. SHAO Lijun

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WANG Liyan
Mr. WU Liang
Mr. SUN Yansheng

Biographical Details of Directors and Members
of Our Senior Management
Biographical details of Directors and members of our senior management are

set out in the section headed "Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

During the financial year, the Company has maintained adequate liability
insurances covering all losses or liabilities that might be incurred or suffered
by the Directors and senior management in relation to the performance of their
duties or other related matters.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract or an appointment
letter with the Company for a term of three years starting from the respective
appointment date and shall retire by rotation at the general meeting according
to the requirements of the Articles of Association of the Company. The Board
may appoint any person as a Director from time to time and at any time either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed
shall hold office only until the next annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election. None of our Directors has entered into any
service contract or appointment letter which cannot be terminated within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation)
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the financial year.

Changes to Information in respect of
Directors

Mr. LU Minfang ceased to be the chairman and a non-executive director of
China Modern Dairy Holdings (B3R AR B R 2 7)) ("China Modern
Dairy”) with effect from 1 February 2023.

Save as disclosed herein, during the year, there was no change of information
required to be disclosed by the Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and
(g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules where applicable.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

Mr. LU Minfang, a non-executive Director and the Chairman, was appointed
as the vice-chairman of the board of China Mengniu and resigned as the chief
executive officer of China Mengniu with effect from 26 March 2024. Mr. LU is
the chairman and a non-executive director of Yashili International Holdings
Ltd. (L FBERIEAREBR /AR ("Yashili’). Mr. LU was the chairman and a
non- executive director of China Modern Dairy until 1T February 2023. He is also
the chairman and a non-independent director of Shanghai Milkground Food
Technology Co., Ltd. (E/8¥ AIEE %R mEHTR D AR A R)) (‘"Milkground”). Mr.
LU is also a director of International Dairy Federation.
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Mr. ZHANG Ping, a non-executive Director, was an executive director of the
China Mengniu during the period from December 2021 to 26 March 2024.
Mr. ZHANG, who joined the China Mengniu Group in 2014, is currently a vice
president and the chief financial officer of China Mengniu. Mr. ZHANG is a non-
executive director of Yashili , a non-executive director of China Modern Dairy,

and a non- independent director of Milkground.

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun, a non-executive Director, is currently vice president, and head
of milk sourcing and supply chain business unit of Mengniu Group. He is also

currently a non-executive director and chairman of China Modern Dairy.

For further information on the businesses of China Mengniu and the potential
competition between those businesses with the business of the Group, please
refer to the section headed "Relationship with Mengniu Group — Competition” in

the Prospectus.

China Mengniu is one of the leading dairy products manufacturers in the
PRC, principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution of premium
dairy products, including liquid milk, ice cream, formula milk and other dairy

products.

Yashili is an investment holding company which, together with its subsidiaries,
is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of dairy products and

nutritional products.

The principal activity of China Modern Dairy is the production and sale of raw

milk to customers for processing into dairy products.

Milkground is principally engaged in the research and development, production

and sale of cheese-related dairy products.

The above-mentioned competing businesses are managed by separate entities
with independent management and administration. The Directors are of the
view that the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses independently
of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of these entities. When making
decisions, the relevant Director, in performance of his duty as Director, has
acted and will continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, all Directors have confirmed that for the year ended
31 December 2023 and as at the date of this annual report, they and their close
associates have not engaged in or held any interest in any business which is or

may be, directly or indirectly, in competition with our business.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received a letter of confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors as to his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Material acquisition and Disposal of
Subsidiaries and Associates and Joint Ventures

In 2023, the Group did not make any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and associates.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
And Debentures of the Company

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, as at
31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which were required to be immediately notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ), or the interests or short
positions which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or the interests or short positions
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
(the "Model Code"), to be immediately notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:
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LONG POSITION IN THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES

RGO HEBERD TR

Number of
Shares/
underlying Percentage
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares of interest
B3,
"A 5, EnME HHEROEE EREI
ZHANG Jiawang Beneficial owner 164,391,580 1.96%
SRR EmEAA
(1) Including 19,413,790 award shares granted but not yet vested under the share award (1)  BIEIRIEARRQRIRD EB 2R LB ﬁ% B

scheme of the Company (subject to the vesting conditions set out in the Company's
share award scheme and the relevant grant letter) and 6,847,790 award shares which
have vested.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations which were required to
be immediately notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Scheme” and “Share
Award Scheme” in this annual report, at no time during the year ended 31
December 2023 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Litigation

A civil judgement was issued by the Intermediate People’s Court of Huhhot (the
“PRC Court") (the “Judgment”) on 16 August 2021 in relation to a claim made
against Inner Mongolia Shengmu Hightech Farming Co., Ltd. (AR5 & 24k &%
WZEBPRAT]) ('Shengmu High-tech”), an indirect wholly- owned subsidiary
of the Company, and two of the Company’s former directors concerning a
claim made by the plaintiff. Accumulated povision was made amounting to
RMB85.0 million for the probable losses, which was reflected in the 2022 and
2021 annual financial report, to the Group based on the reasonable estimation
of the outcome of the lawsuits after taking into account the legal advice by the
management. For further details, please refer to the announcements published
by the Company on 16 September 2021 and 22 October 2021 and the 2021
Annual Report. Shengmu High-tech had applied to the High People's Court of
Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region for a second trial and no adjudication has

yet been made.
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Interests of the Substantial Shareholders

So far as is known to any Director of the Company, as at 31 December 2023,
the following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares or the underlying
Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or were, directly or indirectly, interested or deemed to be
interested in 5% or more of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in

all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group:

FERRNVES
RARBEAESHAA R-TB_=F+—
A=+—H8 ' TIAAL(ERBAEERES
T BRRSMN B S AR BRI AR R A AT
BERARARIRRE 75 K I E 558 336 1547
EAFEMNESLMOBRIORE - HIRIFE
7 REAR RPIE XV #RSE 2 3 D RBRORTER
AAREMBRRENRRSRE - RE
KRR A SRR R TR A M SRR R AT
AER T EREBERNKE RARHNBERAS
FREOEAERRIIRA 5% S IA L HOREE

Capacity/ Number of Shares/

Name Nature of interest underlying Shares Percentage

BE AR 519 REtE B, 1R D BB Akt

Start Great Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 2,513,178,555 (L) 29.99% (L)
BalEEA

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 2,513,178,555 (L) 29.99% (L)

HERFIEBRAF RIEHEE R

Nong You Co., Ltd. Beneficial owner 1,301,651,000 (L) 15.53% (L)
BB A

Beijing Zhi Nong Investment Co., Ltd. Interest of a controlled corporation 1,301,651,000 (L) 15.53% (L)

IRERREFREELF REHEE R

Shao Genhuo Interest of a controlled corporation 1,301,651,000(L) 15.53% (L)

EBIRRE RIEHEE R

Greenbelt Global Limited Beneficial owner 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
BB A

BPEA Private Equity Fund V, L.P. Interest of a controlled corporation 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
REHEE R

BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P. Interest of a controlled corporation 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
RIEHEE R

BPEA Private Equity GP V Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
RirHEEER

BPEA EQT Holdings AB Interest of a controlled corporation 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
REHEE R

EQT AB Interest of a controlled corporation 536,097,305 (L) 6.40% (L)
RIEHEE R

Notes: PIE

(1) Based on 8,381,295,229 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

(2) (L) Indicates a long position.

(3) Start Great Holdings Limited is the subsidiary of China Mengniu.
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Interests of the Substantial Shareholder of
any Member of the Group (Other than the
Company)
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Percentage
Name Name of member company of interest
BB A B R EIRERE EEBEDE
WU Jianye Bayannur Shengmu Pangu Farming Co., Ltd. 45.00%
HEH EERmERREYREREMELRT
Inner Mongolia University Aodu Assets Inner Mongolia IMU-Shengmu High-tech Dairy Co., Ltd. 30.00%

Management Limited

ARERERPEELLAREET AT

AREAXBRSREREAR QA

Save as set out above, our Directors are not aware of any person (not being a
Director or chief executive of our Company) who, as at 31 December 2023, was
interested, directly or indirectly, in 10% or more of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member

of our Group (other than our Company) or any options in respect of such capital.

Share Option Scheme

On 18 June 2014, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme which is
subject to the provisions under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate employees,
Directors and other participants, and to provide a means of compensation
through the grant of options for their contribution to the growth and profits of
the Group, and to allow them to participate in the future growth and profitability
of the Group. The participants of the Share Option Scheme are any executive,
non-executive or independent non-executive Directors or any employees
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
or associated companies or any other person whom the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the Group. The basis
of eligibility of any of the class of the participants to the grant of any options
under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board from time
to time on the basis of their contribution to the development and growth of the
Group and any invested entity.
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The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes of the
Company (and to which the provisions of the Listing Rules are applicable) shall
not exceed 10% of the aggregate of the Shares of the Company in issue on the
Listing Date, being a total of 635,440,000 Shares, which also represents 7.63%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme mandate of the
Share Option Scheme as at the beginning and end of the year is 635,440,000

shares.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each eligible participant under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Any further grant of options
to an eligible participant under the Share Option Scheme which would result in
the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to
be granted to such participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such further
grant exceeding the above said limit shall be subject to our Shareholders’
approval in general meeting with such participant and his associates (as

defined under the Listing Rules) abstaining from voting.

The amount of HK$1.00 is payable as consideration for each grant of options
under the Share Option Scheme, upon acceptance of such grant. The
subscription price in respect of Shares upon exercise of options under the
Share Option Scheme shall be such price as determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion at the time of the grant of the relevant option (and shall
be stated in the letter containing the offer of the grant of the option), but in
any case the subscription price shall not be less than the highest of (a) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business day, (b) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant,

and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

An option granted under the Share Option Scheme may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during the
period to be determined by our Board at its absolute discretion and notified by
our Board to each grantee as being the period during which an option may be
exercised and in any event, such period shall not be longer than 10 years from
the date upon which any particular option is granted in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme.
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No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme since the adoption
date of the Share Option Scheme and up to the latest practicable date prior
to the publication of this annual report. Therefore no options were exercised,
vested, canceled or lapsed during the year. A summary of the terms of the
Share Option Scheme has been set out in the section headed “Appendix
IV — Statutory and General Information — E. Share Option Scheme” in the

Prospectus.

The Share Option Scheme was approved by shareholders’ resolutions of the
Company passed on 18 June 2014 and will remain in force for a period of 10
years following such date. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is
less than one year.

Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme with effect from 19 April
2022 ("Adoption Date”). Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the Shares
to be awarded under the Share Award Scheme (the "Award Shares”) will be
comprised of Shares purchased by a professional trustee appointed by the
Company (“Trustee”) on the market.

OBJECTIVE OF THE SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to recognise the contributions
by certain employees of the Group and to provide them with incentives in
order to (i) improve the corporate governance structure to achieve sustainable
development of the Company; (ii) attract, retain and motivate outstanding
talents and build a common interest among shareholders, the Company and
employees; (iii) fully motivate the core employees and continue to stimulate
high-quality growth of the team performance; and (iv) attract external talents
for the Company. Eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme
comprise employees in specified positions in any member company of the
Group.

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF ANY INDIVIDUAL PARTICIPANT UNDER
THE SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Under the Share Award Scheme, the number of Award Shares vested and
to be vested in respect of share award(s) granted to each participant for the
12-month period up to and including the date of grant of the last Award Share
to such participant shall be no more than 1% of the number of issued shares of
the Company from time to time.
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DURATION

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board or
any persons authorised by the Board with powers to administer the Share
Award Scheme under the rules of the Share Award Scheme (“Share Award
Authorised Representatives’) pursuant to the rules of the Share Award
Scheme, the Share Award Scheme shall be effective from the Adoption Date
and shall remain in full force and effect for a period of 10 years from the
Adoption Date. The remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is approximately

8 years.

ADMINISTRATION

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Share
Award Authorised Representatives and the Trustee in accordance with the
rules of the Share Award Scheme and the trust deed. The decision of the
Share Award Authorised Representatives with respect to the interpretation of
the Share Award Scheme and any dispute relating to the Award or the Share
Award Scheme shall be final and binding. The Trustee shall hold the Trust

Fund in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

SCHEME OPERATION
SOURCE OF THE SHARES TO SATISFY ANY VESTED AWARDS

The Trust is required to purchase the existing shares on the Stock Exchange at
the prevailing market price or at a price set by the Board with the contributed
amount received in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement. The
Shares so purchased shall constitute Award Shares to be granted to the
eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme and the Shares are to be
held by the Trustee for the benefit of the eligible participants under the Share
Award Scheme under the Trust on and subject to the terms and conditions of
the Share Award Scheme and the trust deed.

VESTING OF AWARDS

Subject to the terms and condition of the Share Award Scheme and the
fulfillment of all vesting conditions to the vesting of Award Shares on such
eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme as specified in the
Share Award Scheme and the grant letter, within 120 days of the Share
Award Authorised Representatives completing the calculation of the vesting
percentage for a particular Award Shares, the Company will arrange for the
issuance or transfer to the eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme
(after deduction of any applicable taxes, social security contributions and other
levies) such number of Shares in respect of which Award Shares has vested.
The relevant number of Shares will be determined in accordance with the basis
set out in the grant letter. The grantee is not required to pay any purchase price
upon vesting of Award Shares.
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CASH EQUIVALENTS

In case of any restrictions under the Listing Rules (including the Model Code),
any securities trading rules, applicable laws, regulations or statutes in any
relevant jurisdictions applicable to the Company, or if the Share Award
Authorised Representatives so decide in their absolute discretion, any vested
Award Shares may be satisfied in cash by: (i) an equivalent cash payment to
the eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme; or (ii) the Company
procuring the disposal of an equivalent number of Shares attributable to the
vested Award Shares and the transfer of such sale proceeds in cash to the
eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme, in each case, subject to

the terms and conditions of the Share Award Scheme.

VOTING RIGHTS

Unless otherwise specified in the Share Award Scheme or the grant letter, an
eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme is not entitled to exercise
voting rights, receive dividends or dividend equivalents, and will not have any
other rights of a shareholder until the Shares are issued or transferred to him
or her. The Trustee shall not exercise any voting rights in respect of the Shares
held under the Trust.

TERMINATION

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the tenth anniversary of the
Adoption Date or such earlier date as determined by the Share Award
Authorised Representatives’ sole discretion. No further Award Shares shall be
granted after the termination of the Share Award Scheme but such termination
shall not affect any Award Shares previously granted.

GRANT OF AWARD SHARES

A total of 206,932,000 ordinary shares of the Company were purchased as
Award Shares from open market by the Trustee of the Share Award Scheme at
a total consideration of HK$72,673,000 (equivalent to RMB66,657,000) during
the year (2022: 77,944,000 shares at a total consideration of HK$29,709,000
(equivalent to RMB26,188,000)).

On 21 April 2023, the Board resolved to grant 87,388,000 Award Shares to 66
middle and senior management personnel of the Group (excluding Directors),
and 12,566,000 Award Shares to Mr. Zhang Jiawang, an executive director of
the Company, such 99,954,000 shares in aggregate represent approximately
1.19% of the issued share capital of the Company as of the date of this annual
report. None of the aforesaid Award Shares were vested during the year.
None of the grantees has been and will be granted options and award shares
exceeding the 1% individual limit under the Listing Rules and the Share Award

Scheme.
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Each of the 67 Grantees is required to comply with the rules of the Share
Award Scheme, and vesting of the Award Shares is subject to the fulfilment of
vesting conditions as specified in the Share Award Scheme and the relevant
grant letter. Subject to satisfaction of the vesting conditions, fifty percent of the
99,954,000 Award Shares shall vest on 21 April 2024 and the remaining fifty
percent shall vest on 21 April 2025.

The Award Shares granted are subject to the terms and conditions of the
scheme and the fulfillment of all vesting conditions to the vesting of the Award
Shares imposed on such selected participant as specified in the rules of the
scheme and the grant notice.

The fair value of an Award Share as at 21 April 2023, being the date of grant,
was HK$0.325. The fair value of all the Award Shares granted to the 66 middle
and senior management personnel of the Group (excluding Directors), and
the Award Shares granted to Mr. Zhang Jiawang, an executive director of the
Company, on 271 April 2023, was HK$28,401,100and HK$4,083,950 respectively.
The fair value of the Award Share is measured by the closing price of the
Award Shares at the day before the grant date. For details of the relevant
accounting policy for the determination of fair value, please refer to note 2.4

and 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

For details of the Share Award Scheme, please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 21 April 2023 and note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed in sections headed “Material Acquisition and Disposal of
Subsidiaries and Associates and Joint Ventures” and “Share Option Scheme”
of this annual report, during the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement (as defined in section 6 of the
Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong
Kong)).

Transaction, Arrangement or Contract of
Significance with Directors and Controlling
Shareholders

Save as the related party disclosures set out in note 34 to the financial
statements and as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below, no Transaction, Arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group's business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director, an entity connected with a
Director or a controlling shareholder of the Company had a material interest,

whether directly or indirectly, subsisted for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

The Company's continuing connected transactions during the year of 2023 are
as follows:

BHERERS
RIZ-=FF  ARANBEEBRERSS
WA

RAW FRESH MILK SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 1.

In 2022, Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (A& &5
FIAXEBRNERAR)
on behalf of its subsidiaries)) entered into a framework agreement in
relation to the sale of raw fresh milk from the Group (the "Raw Fresh
Milk Supply Framework Agreement”).

AR RAESR 7R

R-B_—F  ERSH(RELRF R
RREMBARDBEARERFIE
(EE)BRNERAA(TRELERSF ]
(REAGERREMBAR))EE
REEM LB FLAT IR SR pade ([ A ¢
FEEERGE]) -

(“Inner Mongolia Mengniu” (for itself and

Date: 17 November 2022
HE : “ET-F+—At+tH
Parties: (i) Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries); and
(i) Inner Mongolia Mengniu (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
HEVIE (i) EHESH(BERFERKEWBLRA) : &
(il ARERF(BEARFEAKREMBLAR)
Listing Rules As China Mengniu holds approximately 29.9% equity interest in the Company through Start Great
Implications: Holdings Limited, China Mengniu is a connected person of the Company. Inner Mongolia Mengniu

EHRANRE

Duration:

HARR

Principal Terms:

is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Mengniu, therefore an associate of China Mengniu and
also a connected person of the Company.

AR BIS4F381B Start Great Holdings Limited ¥ AR AL 29.9% B pEHE - PR AN
RAWEEAL - ARERFRPEASRFNIFZEMRBLR - ALRPESFNBEA - 75
RANTNEEAL -

1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025
T C=Ff—-A-BRE_T-_AF+-A=+—H

The Group shall sell raw fresh milk which meets China Mengniu and its subsidiaries’ (“China
Mengniu Group”) purchasing standard and quality requirements to China Mengniu Group on a
daily basis in accordance with the monthly milk supply plan to be agreed between the Group and
China Mengniu Group, and the Group shall ensure that on average more than 80% of the raw
fresh milk it produces in each year will be sold to China Mengniu Group. The specific amount
to be purchased shall be the amount as confirmed by the Group and China Mengniu Group. The
daily delivery amount is determined by the amount as weighted by China Mengniu Group.
FEBRBRBEAREETBEZFREMBAR(PERFSE D HENET AFNHEAET
AAPERFEEHENSERBRENBEEERNENY - EASEHERTHFFRF
BRFEEMEEHEEN0% A LMEET - B TFTHRENARBRBBERAAEEALRTERS &
EEENEE  BRAXNHENTRZFSEMEESERE
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Pricing:

Annual Cap:
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The purchase price of raw fresh milk was determined in accordance with market conditions,
seasonal factors and sales price of raw fresh milk in the region and adjusted based on the
quality and level of raw fresh milk by taking into account the logistics subsidy as agreed between
the Group and China Mengniu Group. The final purchase price of raw fresh milk varies in
accordance with the quality grade as agreed between the Group and China Mengniu Group. The
quality of milk supplied by the Group shall comply with the standards set by the government and
the requirements of China Mengniu Group. China Mengniu Group purchased all raw fresh milk
produced by the Group which meets such standards. The Group shall ensure that on average
more than 80% of the raw fresh milk it produces in each year will be sold to China Mengniu
Group. During the contract period, if the rating of the quality grade of the raw fresh milk from the
Group changes, the purchase price shall be calculated in accordance with the latest rating.
AHIOBEERET R  FHMEZOEBEAHIHEERET  EXNAHIAOMERS
TETRAE  WEBRNEEEFENSFEE 2 RBENYRMHA KAREEEPERFEE
BE > EEACERBEBRESSRMAM TR - REBEMMHES D2 EERTTA BT
EXBERPRASFRE L ER - FEARFEEBEAEELEEN BT ZSREN L
Ao AEERBERTHGFOTESFTEBLELEEN80% A LMELTL - REKHR -
MAEEEHIESERANTERY  BEEHRESHTEAE -

For the year ended:
Cap: 31 December 2023: RMB3,400.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB3,226.1 million
Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB4,300.0 million;

Cap: 31 December 2025: RMB5,000.0 million;
HETSABIEFE :

it

FR: ZE_=F+_A=+—H: ARE34000BET:

HETT

TR G ARM3 2261

\r

FR:ZFE-mMF+=-—A=+—H8: AR¥43000B&T:
R ZFE-AF+=-_A=+—H: AR¥500008&7T:

Details of the Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework Agreement are set out EEIHEEERBZEOFBIHRAEAR
in the announcement of the Company dated 17 November 2022 and the AERA-TE-_—_F+—A+tANK

circular of the Company dated 11 December 2022.

NERARB AT _—_F+=
A+—HHmK -
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FUYUAN INTERNATIONAL BULK RAW MATERIALS SUPPLY FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

On 24 November 2022, Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf
of its subsidiaries) and Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial
(Group) Co., Limited (AR H = REBEEZE (5E) BR2AF]) ("Fuyuan
International” (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)) entered into a
framework agreement in relation to the supply of materials by Fuyuan
International Group to Shengmu High-tech (the “Fuyuan International
Materials Supply Framework Agreement”).

ERERR AR RRM AR R

RZEZZF+—AZ+WA ' BHY
B AERFRREREMBARF)H
NEHEREBEX(EE)BRAF
([EREBI(AERS RRKENE
~aE))hERER(EE) mERE R
HEDHETVERG R EREEY
REEERETZE])

Date: 24 November 2022
HE - T —F+—HAZ+WMH
Parties: (i) Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries); and
(i) Fuyuan International (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
BERE (i) EHESHH(RERFERKREAWMBLRA) &
(i EBRERREASFKRKREMEBLF)
Listing Rules As at the date of the Fuyuan International Materials Supply Framework Agreement, Shengmu
Implications: High-tech was an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Fuyuan International

ERANEE

Duration:

HARR -

Principal Terms:

was a non-wholly owned (as to 99.06%) subsidiary of China Modern Dairy, which was in turn
a 30%-controlled company of China Mengniu. China Mengniu is a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, Fuyuan International is an associate of China Mengniu.
REREEMEMERERGRTI LB EHSHARARZEELENB AR - ERER
RPERRBERF99.06% RENFEZENBAR - MABRRKBERTREARFZ30%X
ZRAE - FERFR/ARFIZHEEAL - Bt EREBFEARFERFZHEA -

From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025
R = —-A-ARE_FE-RAFTA=1T—H

Fuyuan International Group shall sell raw materials (including but not limited to maize, soybean
meals, coarse fodder and feed additives, etc.) which meet Shengmu High-tech’s purchasing
standard to Shengmu High-tech. The purchase amount shall be specified by Shengmu High-tech
based on the Group's actual needs, to be confirmed in each purchase order placed with Fuyuan
International Group.
EREREEANENSHEHENSENSHRBRENRE(BFEETRNELR - 5
AR REEORNESE) - BEFAERSHBREREERT RET - LRERMAEIRER
SETERER -
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Pricing: The purchase price of the raw materials to be procured under the Fuyuan International Bulk
Raw Materials Supply Framework Agreement shall be determined based on the current market
price. Shengmu High-tech will compare quotes of similar raw materials from at least two other
independent third party suppliers to ascertain the relevant market price.

EfE BREEREBRARREMEERGEAMRBRANBEBARBRITHEET - RS
B ZEDRREMBLE=H HEEE AR REAEERETE -

Annual Cap: For the year ended:

Cap: 31 December 2023: RMB30.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB10.2 million
Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB30.0 million;
Cap: 31 December 2025: RMB30.0 million;

FEER : BETIABIEFE
R ZZT_=F+"RA=1t—H: AR¥3008&8T BEXHTHE  ARK10288T
PR ZZE-EF+-A=+—H: AR¥300BET
FR:ZZF-RF+RA=+—H: AR¥3008&T

Details of the Fuyuan International Materials Supply Framework BRE R YR EAE L R B E

Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 24 RARNRBHA-ZZ -_—_F+—A

November 2022.

“FIUEBAE .
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2022 AIYANGNIU TECHNOLOGY MATERIALS SUPPLY FRAMWORK
AGREEMENT

On 5 August 2020, Shengmu High-tech entered a materials supply
framework agreement in relation to the supply of materials by Inner
Mongolia Aiyangniu Technology Co., Ltd. (RE B EFRHIER A 7))
("Aiyangniu Technology”) for a term of period from 5 August 2020 to 31
December 2022 (the "Original Framework Agreement”).

Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and
Aiyangniu Technology (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered
into a materials supply framework agreement (the “2022 Aiyangniu
Technology Materials Supply Framework Agreement”) on 28 March
2022 to (i) terminate the Original Framework Agreement; (ii) renew for a
term of period commencing 28 March 2022 and ending on 31 December
2024, (iii) revise the annual cap for the year ending 31 December 2023;
and (iv) set annual caps for the years ending 31 December 2023 and
2024,

—ECCFERESNRRMERESRY

e
EE4

R-ZZ_ZTF)\ARHE BHSHE
SMHHEEIERBE - ARBRAR

TEEFTHRXBERAATEESN
ROHEDE  IRE-_FT_FFN
ARABEE-T-_—_F+-_A=t+—
BIE(TRERRZE]) -

P AERERRERERBA
A EEBEFRR(BERFRREE
MEBEARDR _ZE-_—_F=ZA_-+N\
BEl Rt EEE R — 2=
ﬁﬁ%*ﬂﬁ%ﬂTﬁﬁ%%mD'
LA (i) #2 1 IR AE 2R W o JHLEWE'
5_7__¢ A+ NB#EE=
_E¢+_H:+—Eﬁﬂlnuﬂﬁ
E-T=F+-A=+—HIFE
MEELER: URIVEEEHEZZT
ZEFRZE_NFE+=ZA=1+—H
IFFENFELR -

Date: 28 March 2022

BER - T F=R=+N\H

Parties: Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and Aiyangniu Technology (for
itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)

ETHITT ENERHREAFRREXEMBAR) REBFRIR(BERS RRKEKBEAF)

Listing Rules As at the date of the 2022 Aiyangniu Technology Materials Supply Framework Agreement,

Implications:

Aiyangniu Technology was a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Mengniu. China Mengniu was

a connected person of the Company. Aiyangniu Technology was an associate of China Mengniu

and therefore a connected person of the Company.

RIZB- —FEBFMBRYHERERBZET LB EEFHMBRATERFN—HERE

ERANRE

MEAE - FERFR/RARANEEALT - ERFHERATESTOBEA - At AAAT)

MBEEAL -

Duration: From 28 March 2022 to 31 December 2024

HABR - TE- A+ N\HE-ZZ-WFE+_A=+—H
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Pricing:

Annual Cap:
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Aiyangniu Technology shall sell materials (including but not limited to feed, veterinary medicines
and dipping liquid for cows) which meet Shengmu High-tech’s purchasing standard to Shengmu
High-tech. The purchase amount shall be specified by Shengmu High-tech based on its actual
needs in each purchase order signed and confirmed by Shengmu High-tech.

ERESMRARNEHSHMLENERSRHRBRENDH (BEE IRV TG - 28 -
BAR) HESEHEHNSHRBEERFTREERRMEZ RERNEHRBIEFIE

TE °

o N

The purchase price of the materials to be procured under the 2022 Aiyangniu Technology
Materials Supply Framework Agreement shall be determined based on the current market price
when Shengmu High-tech submits the purchase order to Aiyangniu Technology and after mutual
agreement between Shengmu High-tech and Aiyangniu Technology. Shengmu High-tech will
compare quotes of similar materials from at least two other third party suppliers to ascertain the
market price and Aiyangniu Technology will ensure that the purchase price of the materials to be
procured under the 2022 Aiyangniu Technology Materials Supply Framework Agreement will not
be higher than the quotes provided by third party suppliers.
TECCFERSHMRDHEBRERBEE MRRBEYHNERBER  ARBEHSHAE
BAMBRZXRBIIERNHRTHISER  LEHNSHAZRIMEAREERET - 2K
SRR ELZINMRE=FHEFNREDHNRE - UEETSHER  BERLRES
BRBE _Z - —_FEEFTHMRODHHEEBERGRRBMHNRBER TSN E = HER
RHEHRE -

For the year ending:

Revised Cap: 31 December 2022: RMB120.0 million (Note*); Actual transaction amount: RMB3.3
million

Cap: 31 December 2023: RMB120.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB1.7 million

Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB120.0 million;

Note*: The original annual cap was RMB30.0 million under the Original Framework Agreement

BETSIEHILFE -

BIEFTER : —E-—F+-A=1+—08: AR 120088 (i) EBRX5L5H
RiE33[ETT

>

m

IR B+ -A=+—H: AREI1200887T  BEXGLE  AREK17EET

r

FR: ZE-MFE+-A=+—8: ARKI1200H8T:

Bifat - : RIBRIER D - RFEELRAARKE00BETT °

Details of the Original Framework Agreement are set out in the RIERBGZNFBEERN ARG AR
announcement of the Company dated 5 August 2020. Details of the 2022 —E_EFNAREMNRE =&
Aiyangniu Technology Materials Supply Framework Agreement are set T oEFEEBEFREYRHEERG S
out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2022. EOEER Rl AN/ = 1 =

S Rty VAN E = NG
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*

2023 DABEINONG GROUP MATERIALS SUPPLY FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT AND REVISION OF ANNUAL CAPS

On 30 December 2020, Shengmu High-tech entered into a materials
supply framework agreement in relation to the purchase of feed,
additives and medicines from Beijing Dabeinong Technology Group Co.,
Ltd* GERAI BRI EE AR B R A7) ('Dabeinong Group’) for a
term of period commencing 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023 (the
“Original 2021 Framework Agreement”).

On 28 March 2022, Shengmu High-tech and Dabeinong Group entered
into a materials supply framework agreement (the "2022 Dabeinong
Group Materials Supply Framework Agreement”) to (i) terminate the
Original 2021 Framework Agreement; (ii) renew for a term of period
commencing 28 March 2022 and ending on 31 December 2024; (iii) revise
the annual caps for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023; and (iv)
set annual cap for the year ending 31 December 2024.

On 15 August 2023, Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its
subsidiaries) entered into the 2023 Dabeinong Group Materials Supply
Framework Agreement ("2023 Dabeinong Group Materials Supply
Framework Agreement”) with Dabeinong Group (for itself and on behalf
of its subsidiaries) to (i) terminate the 2022 Dabeinong Group Materials
Supply Framework Agreement; (ii) renew the 2022 Dabeinong Group
Materials Supply Framework Agreement for a term ending 31 December
2025; (iii) revise the annual caps for the two years ending 31 December
2023 and 2024; and (iv) set an annual cap for the year ending 31
December 2025.

For identification purpose only
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HE]
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Listing Rules

implications:

ERANRE
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HARR
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FEFR

Pricing:
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15August 2023
—ZE_=F)\A+HAH

Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries); and

(1)

(2)  Dabeinong Group (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
(1) EBEHER(REAFERKREMBLRAF) &

(2) RIEBREB(BEAFEKKREMBLA)

As at the date of the 2023 Dabeinong Group Materials Supply Framework Agreement, Mr. Shao
Genhuo was a substantial shareholder of the Company and a connected person of the Company,
and as Dabeinong Group was an associate of Mr. Shao, Dabeinong Group was therefore a
connected person of the Company.

RIZBZ=FRIEEEEMHHEIERRZEI LB @ BRELERTRAFNEERR LA
REMBEEAL  MARALREERBBAENBEA - B AIEEEERARRAMNMEA
+ o

From 29 September 2023 to 31 December 2025
TR =FAAZtTNABEZE-_RAFTZA=1—H

Dabeinong Group shall sell to Shengmu High-tech materials (including but not limited to feed,
additives and medicines) which meet the purchasing standards of Shengmu High-tech. Shengmu
High-tech will purchase from Dabeinong Group in the form of written orders based on actual
demand and Shengmu High-tech determines the final purchase of goods, specifications, quantity
and related quality, delivery and other services.

ANEREEARAZEHSHEUENT A ERSRHRBRENYH (BEE TRV GAL - RindE &
Zm) EHSHBRBRERST SR UAEEENFARMALEEERE BEEKRENE
Y RRESE  BENEREE  JEFREAT -

The price of the materials purchased by Shengmu High-tech from Dabeinong Group shall be
based on the prevailing market price at the time of the submission of the relevant purchase order
by Shengmu High-tech to Dabeinong Group. Dabeinong Group undertakes to sell at a price no
higher than the market price of similar materials. For the purpose of determining the prevailing
market price, Shengmu High-tech shall request quotations from at least two independent
suppliers.
EHmBmALREEEENYHNEREREBEENSRERMAILREERIRER ER
ERNTEHEME - RLREEAREEER TSR AEMENTISER - RETERNT
SE - BEHEMARELREE=HEENRE -
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Annual Cap: For the year ending:

Revised Cap: 31 December 2023: RMB300.0 million (Note**); Actual transaction amount:

RMB211.5 million

Revised Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB300.0 million (Note**);

Revised Cap: 31 December 2025: RMB300.0 million;

Note**: The original annual cap was RMB146.0 million under the Original 2022 Framework Agreement.
FELER: HETSAEIEFE :

LRI LR ZEZ=F+ZA=+—H : AR 300 088L(MF") s EEXS5o5 :

ARB211588T

RIEFTER : —Z-WF+-A=+—H: AR¥300.0B&T(MzE") :

BEFTER : —E-RAF+-A=+t—H: AR¥30008&T:

izt RER T - —FERRE  RFELRAARKE 14 0EST -
Details of the 2021 Original Framework Agreement are set out in the ZEC—FRERBENOFBEEAR
announcement of the Company dated 30 December 2020. Mr. Shao NREIBAE T T+ -_A=+H
resigned as non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 30 MAaE-flEEB T -—FtH
July 2021 but continues to be a connected person of the Company as a —THEBHERRRENTEER
substantial shareholder of the Company. Details of the 2022 Dabeinong % BIERRRRIZERE - DAK
Group Materials Supply Framework Agreement are set out in the NAMBEEALT - —E-—_FKXIEE
announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2022. Details of the 2023 SEYHHEERBZEOFBRHAR
Dabeinong Group Materials Supply Framework Agreement are set out ARB-Z-_—_F=A=-+/1\AK
in the announcement of the Company dated 15 August 2023 and the NE e ZEBEZFRIEREEYRE
circular of the Company dated 29 September 2023. Vﬁ[ S ENEFBEHN A AR HEA

—E_ = \ATEENRERAH
RIZBZ=FNR -+ NBENBEX
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YIYINGMEI RAW FRESH MILK SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 5. =mBRASIMHEERGS

On 28 March 2022 (after trading hours), Shengmu High-tech (for N_E-_—_F=HA =1+ N\H(XFFE
itself and on behalf of the Group) entered into a raw fresh milk supply HERR)  EHRERH(AEARGRERE
framework agreement with Inner Mongolia Yiyingmei Dairy Co., Ltd.* AEBE)HERASHmBEIEFRAT
(NEEHREEIEARAR) ("Yiyingmei Dairy’) in relation to the sale ((ZEXHAE D ERSRREEE
of raw fresh milk from Shengmu High-tech to Yiyingmei Dairy (the FLELEEHIFI AL EIES

“"Yiyingmei Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework Agreement”).

Date:
=R

Parties:

HESRE

Listing Rules
Implications:

ERANRE

Duration:

HARR -

Principal Terms:

R
i

TE

RAK -

For identification purpose only

e ([ mBRAERAMBERZE]) -

28 March 2022
—E-—F=F=+\H

Yiyingmei Dairy; and

(1)

(2)  Shengmu High-tech (for itself and on behalf of the Group)
(1 =BEERIE R

2) EHERHAERFEREXAREH)

As at the date of the Yiyingmei Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework Agreement, Mr. Shao Genhuo
was a non-executive Director of the Company in the preceding 12 months of the date of entering
into the Yiyingmei Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework Agreement. Mr. Shao held 24.49% equity
interests in Dabeinong Group, which was interested in approximately 91.36% in Yiyingmei Dairy
and hence Yiyingmei Dairy was a subsidiary of Dabeinong Group. Mr. Shao was therefore a
connected person of the Company and Dabeinong Group and Yiyingmei Dairy were associates of
Mr. Shao and therefore each also a connected person of the Company.
MREEERT U LEEHIHEEERBZBNAN2EARNSERFFNTESE - 1
MEEEHIHEERRRIT LB  BBEERARNILREE 26.49% NRE - MALLRSE
FIFARBEEIEDN 6% RE  FRBXIAER/KRILREENMB AR o Eitt - A8
FERRRBNEAEAL  MALBEERGEEAXERBEENBEA - ALEBETFR/R
NRIHBAEAL -

From 28 March 2022 to 31 December 2024
R E =R+ N \BEZE_NFE+_A=1+—H

According to the monthly milk supply plan, Shengmu High-tech shall sell raw fresh milk to
Yiyangmei Dairy that meets Yiyangmei Dairy's purchasing standards. The specific quantity of
milk purchased is based on the quantity confirmed by Shengmu High-tech and Yiyangmei Dairy,
and the daily delivery quantity is determined by volume weighted by Yiyangmei Dairy.
EYERRIEAEHRDFE  ARBEXIELENTERBTIERBREN LT - AR
DERBHENENSREREXIEEANHERE  BRAREHEUR BRI ENEEH
BRE -
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Pricing: The purchase price of raw fresh milk shall be determined and adjusted in accordance with
market conditions, seasonal factors and quality of raw fresh milk. The final purchase price of raw
fresh milk varies in accordance with the quality grade as agreed between Shengmu High-tech
and Yiyingmei Dairy.

EfE EERINKBERARBETSER  THMRZREHINE SRETELAE - 8N
BREBEREREN S ERERAROTENEEEREMES -

Annual cap: For the years ending:

Cap: 31 December 2022: RMB17.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB1.8 million
Cap: 31 December 2023: RMB84.0 million; Actual transaction amount: RMB3.3 million
Cap: 31 December 2024: RMB146.0 million;

FEER : BHETHHBIEFE
FR: ZFZZF+-A=1+—H: ARB17.08E8L  BEER 28 ARK18HET
FR: ZZE_=F+-A=+—H: AR¥SL0EEL : BEERX 528 ARKIZEET
R ZZT-OF+-A=1+—H: AR¥14608ET

Mr. Shao resigned as non-executive Director with effect from 30 July BFEEg T —F+tH=THEH

2021 but continues to be a connected person of the Company as a EIMITESRS - BIEAEARARE

substantial shareholder of the Company. Details of the Yiyingmei SRR AR FMEEBEAL - &

Raw Fresh Milk Supply Framework Agreement are set out in the BEAHIABEEEBZOFBIRN

announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2022. AAFRBMH-_ZE-_—_€#=A=-+/\H

RS
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are of the
view that the continuing connected transactions referred to above are entered
into during the ordinary and usual course of the Group's business on normal
commercial terms or better and according to agreements in respect of such
transactions, the terms of which are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’'s auditor has confirmed that: (i) nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions in this annual report have not been approved by the Company's
board of Directors; (ii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the price and terms of the transactions were not, in all material
respects, determined in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;
(iii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and (iv) with respect
to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing connected transactions set
out above, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded the maximum

annual cap as set by the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, none of the related party transactions as disclosed
in note 34 to the financial statements constitute non-exempt connected
transaction or non-exempt continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the Group's related party transactions are set out in note 34 to the
financial statements. During the year, the related party transactions mainly

comprised:

(1) sale of products to certain associates (such associates constitute
associates under the accounting standards as the Group holds certain
shares in them);

(2)  sale of raw fresh milk to China Mengniu Group;

(3)  purchase of materials from Aiyangniu Technology in accordance with the
2022 Aiyangniu Technoloy Materials Supply Framework Agreement;

(4)  purchase of materials in accordance with the Fuyuan International
Materials Supply Framework Agreement;

(5)  purchase of materials from Dabeinong Group in accordance with the
2023 Dabeinong Group Materials Supply Framework Agreement;

Report of the Directors
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(6)  sale of raw fresh milk to Yiyingmei Dairy;
(7)  payment of emoluments to key management of the Group;

(8) guarantees provided by the Group for the bank borrowings of Shengmu
Forage; and

(9) entrusted loan provided by the Group to Shengmu Forage. The
arrangement whereby Shengmu Forage provided biowaste (i.e. cow
dung) cleaning services to our organic dairy farms for free in return for
our supply of such unprocessed biowaste from our organic dairy farms to
Shengmu Forage for free, is an exempt continuing connected transaction,
details of which have been set out in the section headed “Continuing

Connected Transaction” in the Prospectus.

Employees

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 2,701 employees (2,845
employees in total as at 31 December 2022). Total staff costs for 2023 (including
the emoluments of Directors and senior management of the Company)
amounted to RMB377.4 million (RMB330.7 million in 2022). The Group believes
that the dedicated efforts of all of its employees are the very essence of the
Group's rapid development and success in the future. The Group provides
management personnel and employees with on-the-job education, training and
other opportunities to improve their skills and knowledge. In general, the Group
determines employee compensation based on each employee’'s performance,
qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has made contributions to the
social security funds and housing reserve for its employees in accordance with
the relevant national and local social welfare laws and regulations. Employees
in Hong Kong are provided with retirement benefits, under the Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme.

The Group has also approved and adopted the Share Award Scheme and the
Share Option Scheme. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract,
retain and motivate the Directors, senior management and employees of the
Group and other participants. The Share Award Scheme was also adopted
to recognize the contributions by certain employees of the Group and to
incentivize them to contribute to the sustainable development and high-quality
growth of the Company.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A
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Retirement Benefit Plans

The Group has participated in a number of fixed contribution retirement plans
for eligible employees within the Group in accordance with applicable laws and

regulations.

Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior
Management

The remunerations of Directors and senior management are determined
based on their working experience, industry expertise, educational background
and skills as well as the Group's performance and operating results and with
reference to the remuneration policies of other companies in the industry
and prevailing market rates. Directors and employees also participate in
performance incentive arrangements relating to the performance of the Group

and individuals.

For the year of 2023, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director or
any of the five highest paid individuals of the Company as an inducement to join

or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

For details of remuneration paid to the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals which are required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 of the

Listing Rules, please refer to notes 7 and 8 to the financial statements.

Sufficient Public Float

Based on the public information available to the Company and so far as all
Directors are aware, the Company had maintained the public float as required
by the Listing Rules throughout the period up to the latest practicable date
prior to the publication of this annual report.

Foreign Currency Risk

Details of foreign currency risk are set out in note 37 to the financial
statements.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code

For details of the Company's corporate governance practices, please refer to
the section headed “Report on Corporate Governance Practices” in this annual
report.

Event after the Reporting Year

Saved as disclosed in this report, no other material events of the Group

occurred after 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHT

Auditors

Ernst & Young has audited the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

All references in this part of the annual report (Report of the Directors) to other
parts, sections of or notes in the annual report, form part of the Report of the
Directors.

By Order of the Board of

China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited
LU Minfang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. ZHANG Jiawang (58 BE), aged 45, is an executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company and is also a member of the Strategic and
Sustainability Committee. Mr. ZHANG was a non-executive Director of the
Company from 26 September 2016 to 29 June 2018. He was appointed to our
Board as an executive Director on 25 January 2019. Mr. Zhang joined Beijing
Dabeinong Technology Group Co., Ltd. (Jt R AL 2RI EEBRMHBRAF)
in August 2001 and has held various positions, including outreach director,
president’s assistant, development and investment manager, manager of
strategy and development, and vice president since then. Mr ZHANG is also the
vice president of China National Sand Control and Desert Industry Society and
the vice president of China Dairy Association.

Mr. ZHANG received his bachelor's degree from Inner Mongolia Agricultural
University (M55 2% KE) in July 2001, majoring in horticulture and his
master degree in executive master of business administration from Renmin
University of China (FBI AR AXZ2) in January 2010. He is currently studying
for a doctorate degree in management jointly developed by Guanghua School

of Management of Peking University and the University of Hong Kong.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. ZHANG did not hold any directorship in any public

listed companies in the last three years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Minfang (E&}), aged 55, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company and the chairman of the Board on 30 July 2021.

Mr. LU was appointed as the vice-chairman of the board of China Mengniu,
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2319) and resigned as
the chief executive officer of China Mengniu with effect from 26 March 2024.
Mr. LU is the chairman and a non-executive director of Yashili (former stock
code: 1230.HK), a subsidiary of China Mengniu, and the chairman and a non-
independent director of Milkground, an associate of China Mengniu, a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability whose shares are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600882). Mr. LU is also a director of
International Dairy Federation.
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EENGREERE

Mr. LU was the chief executive officer and an executive director of Yashili
before his appointment as chairman of the board of directors of Yashili. Mr.
LU was also a director of the following subsidiaries of Yashili, namely Yashili
International Ltd. (FEZ=FIBERHEBR A F]), Yashili International Group Limited
(EEFIREBREE AR A 7)), Newou Hong Kong International Co., Limited (HT
B EBBREAR AR and Mengya International Group Limited (5B &
BB R AT (formerly known as Scient International Group Limited (jifi E
BEEEER/AR])). He was also the chairman and a non-executive director
of China Modern Dairy until 1 February 2023, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1117). Mr. LU was the Vice President (Greater China)
of Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater China and had been with Danone S.A.
and its subsidiaries (the "“Danone Group”) and Dumex Baby Food Co. Ltd. for
over 10 years. During his tenure at Danone Group, he demonstrated strong
strategic business and market planning capabilities. With strong leadership,
management skills and in-depth market knowledge, Mr. LU had contributed
significantly to the success of Danone Group's baby nutrition business in China.
Prior to joining Danone Group, Mr. LU spent 9 years with Johnson & Johnson
(China) Company Limited and almost 4 years with General Electric Company
(China). Prior to joining China Mengniu Group, Mr. LU has over 18 years of
experience in sales and marketing and has been in general manager or senior
executive roles for over 10 years. Mr. LU has extensive experience in the
management of fast-moving consumer products and dairy companies and has
an excellent grasp and in-depth knowledge of the PRC market. Mr. LU obtained
his bachelor’s degree from Fudan University ({8 B XZ2) in Shanghai.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. LU did not hold any directorship in any public

listed companies in the last three years.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. ZHANG Ping (5R¥), aged 59, is a non-executive Director of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 25 August 2020. Mr. ZHANG was an
executive director of the China Mengniu during the period from December
2021 to 26 March 2024. Mr. Zhang, who joined the China Mengniu Group
in 2014, is currently a vice president and the chief financial officer of the
China Mengniu Group. Mr. ZHANG is also a director in several subsidiaries of
Mengniu Group, including major subsidiaries Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy
Group Limited (REHFF I (£E) BRHBEMRAF]) and Inner Mongonlia
Tegoxin Dairy Co., Ltd. (AR E = ILEMAR A F)). He has over 33 years
of experience in the fast-moving consumer goods industry, specializing in
management of operation, finance and audit as well as risk control. Mr. ZHANG
successively worked as manager of internal audit and system development
and finance director at Swire Beverages Co., Ltd., general manager of its
bottler manufacturing company and chief executive officer of Coca-Cola
Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr. ZHANG is also a non-executive
director of Yashili (a Hong Kong-listed company) and China Modern Dairy
respectively, and a non-independent director of Milkground, a company listed
on Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. ZHANG graduated from Beijing Information
Science and Technology University (3t 52 {5 BRHE A Z2) with a master’'s degree

in management engineering.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. ZHANG did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun (B84 E), aged 47, is a non-executive director of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 30 March 2020. Mr. ZHAO is currently a vice
president and the head of milk resource and dairy chain of Mengniu Group
(a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2319) and is responsible
for strengthening and collaborating the management of dairy segment of China
Mengniu, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2319). Mr. ZHAO
is also currently a non-executive Director,chairman of the board, chairman of
the nomination committee and strategy and development committee of China
Modern Dairy, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1117).

Mr. ZHAO joined Mengniu in 2000 and has served successively as regional
manager, sales director, general manager of operation and general manager
of planning and logistics. Mr. ZHAO has almost 20 years of experience in
the dairy industry, with strong leadership qualities, and specializes in both
sales management and supply chain management. Mr. ZHAQO has in-depth
knowledge of PRC dairy market and great foresight in the PRC dairy industry.
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EENGREERE

Mr. ZHAO received his bachelor’'s degree majoring in business administration
from China University of Geosciences, Wuhan (47 B33 K (%)) in 2009

and his master’s degree in software engineering from Beihang University (1t
FZEMARAAE) in 2013

Save as disclosed above, Mr. ZHAQ did not hold any directorship in any public

listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. SUN Qian (&%), aged 50, is a non-executive Director of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 26 March 2014 and he is a member of
the Strategic and Sustainability Committee. Mr. SUN currently is a partner
of Sequoia Capital China. Mr. SUN received a bachelor's degree in applied
mathematics from Harvard University in the United States in June 1997, and
a master’s degree in business administration from Harvard University and a
juris doctor's degree from Harvard Law School in the United States both in
June 2003. Mr. SUN was a director of Bona Film Group Limited (principally
engaged in film distribution business), a company listed on NASDAQ (delisted
from NASDAQ on 8 April 2016), from 2007 to 2011 and a director of BIT
Mining Limited (formerly known as 500.com Limited) (principally engaged in
cryptocurrency mining), a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange
(NYSE: BTCM), since October 2013. Mr. SUN was a director of CooTek (Cayman)
Inc. (delisted from the New York Stock Exchange on 16 June 2022), a company
with input method being its core business, since July 2014. From December
2013 to June 2016, Mr. SUN was a non-executive director of Dongpeng Holdings
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (delisted from the
Stock Exchange on 22 June 2016) and from October 2020 to September 2023,
he has been a director of Dongpeng Holdings Company Limited listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (5Z.003012).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. SUN did not hold any directorship in any public

listed companies in the last three years.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. SHAO Lijun (BREE#), aged 38, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company on 30 July 2021. Ms. SHAO is currently a director of Nong
You Co., Ltd. and the general manager of Beijing Zhinong, each of which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Ms. SHAO is currently a director of
Beijing Dabeinong Technology Group Co., Ltd. (it R AL BRI & E A (7
FR/AR]), Inner Mongolia Shengmu High-tech Farming Co., Ltd. (A5 & E24K
SRR EBBR A F]), a general manager and executive director of Changchun
Shengshihuinong Agriculture and Trading Co., Ltd. (RERMEEZEZERE A
A]), and a supervisor of Beijing Dabeinong Holding Co., Ltd. dE A4t 2HEMKE
FR A R]), Beijing Dabeinong International Science and Technology Co., Ltd(1t X
Kb 2B R AR A F)). Ms. SHAO resigned from the positions of director
of Shanghai Fujie Information Technology Co., Ltd. (/8= B EMTAR A
7]), Shanghai Congrong Information Technology Co., Ltd. (/8I2g (= BT B
R /2&]), Naifen Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (=& 85T (=
/) BPFR/AR]), NetFin Works International Limited and NetFin Works Holdings
Limited in January 2024. Ms. SHAO obtained a Bachelor of Law degree from
China University of Mining and Technology (PEIIEEAE)

=]

Save as disclosed above, Ms. SHAO did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. WANG Liyan (£ &), aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 28 June 2017. He is also a member of
the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. He is currently a professor
of the Department of Accounting and a doctoral advisor of Guanghua School of
Management in Peking University and a certified public accountant in the PRC.
He obtained his doctor's degree from Peking University. His major research
area lies in accounting information and corporate value, overseas listing, dual
financial report, corporate governance system, environmental cost, accounting,
corporate sustainability report and CSR report. He also serves as the chief
editor of China Accounting Review and China Management Accounting. Mr.
WANG has been an independent director of Unigroup Guoxin Co., Ltd., a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002049), since 23
March 2017. Mr. WANG has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Jinshang Bank Co., Ltd., a joint stock company incorporated in the
PRC with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2558), since 5 November 2019. He also served as an independent director
of Beijing Dabeinong Technology Group Co., Ltd ({t R AIL BRI EBR N H
[R2 7)), a company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002385),
until March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. WANG did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.
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Mr. WU Liang (2 %), aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 22 December 2020 and also a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He is currently a distinguished professor of Tongji University and
the executive dean of the National Research Institute of Modernization of Tongji
University (RIEAZ2REZIBARALIFICET). Mr. WU joined Xinhua News Agency
(FT#E4L) in 1993 and served in various entities of Xinhua News Agency for over
25 years. He successively worked as the chief of the economic segment and a
member of the editorial board of the Outlook Weekly of Xinhua News Agency (37
PR EIA T4, the executive vice chief editor and the executive chief editor
of the Financial National Weekly (Bf£&&BIZR#H)), the chairman and the chief
executive officer of Outlook Think Tank (B2 %5 &) between 2006 and 2018. Mr.
WU graduated from Shandong University (L& AE2) with a bachelor's degree
in chemistry in 1993 and also obtained his bachelor's degree in journalism
from China Journalism Academy (FF BT E267) in 1998.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. WU did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. SUN Yansheng (fREE4E), aged 60, is appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 30 July 2021.

Mr. SUN is currently an independent director of Newonder Special Electric
Co. Ltd. (FrELEEBTRRMD AR A A, a company incorporated in the
People's Republic of China with limited liability whose shares are listed on
the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock code: 837503), an
independent non-executive director of Steve Leung Design Group Limited (&

with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock

REtE=EAR A7), a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
code: 2262), an independent director of Meizhongjiahe Medical Technology
Development Group Co., Ltd. (a limited company registered and established
in the PRC, with its shares listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2453) ), an independent director of Arctech Solar Holding Co. Ltd. (L&
FEEF R REHE IR B R /A7), a company incorporated in the People's
Republic of China with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688408), an independent director of Lanpec
Technologies Limited (HERERI AL S FEHERMDBRAF]), a company
incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability whose
shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601798), an
independent director of Mudanjiang Hengfeng Paper Co. Ltd. (F:FfHTIEZ4
*¥M1EPR2F]), a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600356) and a director of China National Machinery Industry
International Co., Ltd. ({f B EIFR & (ERL D AR A R)). Until June 2022, Mr.
SUN also served as an independent director of Jiangsu Zhongxin Bo Xin Energy
Technology Co., Ltd. (a limited company registered and established in the PRC,
with its shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688408)).
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. SUN qualified as a PRC Lawyer in June 1994 and founded Beijing Tian Yin
Law Firm bR AERZRNEFT) in December 2002. From February 2013 to
April 2016, he was a member of the planning committee of the China Securities
Regulatory Commission, which was principally engaged in the carrying out
of forward-looking research on and to propose solutions to capital market-
related laws and policies, where he was mainly responsible for advising
on regulatory reform as well as carrying out research on capital market
supervision, registration reform and information disclosure. Since April 2016,
he has been the founding partner of Beijing Duncheng Investment Management
Consultation Centre (Limited Partnership) (At REGHIEEERFZERT O (BIR
& %)), which is principally engaged in the provision of investment advice on
industries and government guidance and the management of industry funds,
where he is mainly responsible for participating in the formation of industry
funds, guiding the formation of local government industrial funds and serving
as a listed company and government financing and strategic adviser.

Mr. SUN obtained a Bachelor of Law degree from the Inner Mongolia University
(A& EHKE2), the PRC in 1986 and a Master of Law degree from the Renmin
University of China (FE] AR AEE), the PRC in 2003. He also received a
certificate of completion for a postgraduate course in political economics from
the Harbin Institute of Technology (Y5 F3/& T 2K &2), the PRC in 1999.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. SUN did not hold any directorship in any public
listed companies in the last three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHANG Jiawang (5RZXFE), aged 45, is the chief executive officer and
executive Director of the Company. His biographical details are set out under
the section "Executive Director” above.

Ms. GAO Lingfeng (= %Bl), aged 53, holds a master’s degree in business
administration from Inner Mongolia University of Technology. Ms. GAO Lingfeng
joined China Shengmu in 2009 and is currently the head of support system
and vice president of China Shengmu. She is responsible for the coordination
and management of the Company’s milk resource quality, milk sales, human
resources, administration and outreach. Ms. GAO Lingfeng has extensive
experience in the operation and management of the entire livestock breeding
industry chain. Ms. GAO has worked for Yili Group and Mengniu Group,
holding various positions including Director of Quality Inspection Department,
Director of Quality Control Management Centre, Director of OEC Office and
General Manager of Western Business Division. She was awarded the title of
“Outstanding Dairy Worker of the Year 2022", "Outstanding Person of Inner
Mongolia Famous and Special Agricultural and Livestock Products Output in
2023" and "The Most Beautiful Science and Technology Worker".
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EENGREERE

Mr. NIU Yuesheng (4 B %), aged 49, holds a master’s degree and graduated
from Inner Mongolia University majoring in business administration. He is a
senior accountant, a senior international financial manager and an international
certified public accountant. Mr. NIU Yuesheng joined Shengmu Group in
2019 and is currently the Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of China
Shengmu. Mr. NIU is responsible for the Group's finance and digital intelligence,
including the coordination and management of strategic finance, operational
finance, shared finance and investment and financing business. Mr. NIU
Yuesheng has worked for Mengniu Group and has many years of experience
in finance, having held various positions including factory finance manager,
senior finance director of supply chain and senior director of investment and
equity management. Mr. NIU Yuesheng is also an expert member appointed by

the Inner Mongolia Digitizing Association.

Mr. LIU Gaofei (Z2|& ), aged 42, holds a doctorate degree in animal
husbandry and graduated from Xinjiang Agricultural University majoring in
animal husbandry. He is a senior animal husbandry officer, senior economist
and senior food safety manager. Mr. LIU Gaofe joined Shengmu Group in 2019
and is currently the Head of Operations System and Vice President of China
Shengmu China. He is responsible for the Group’s procurement management,
farm technology operation and feed production management. Mr. LIU Gaofei
has extensive experience in the operation and management of the dairy
farming industry chain. Mr. LIU worked for Mengniu Group and held various
positions including General Manager of the General Management Centre and

General Manager of the Quality and Safety Management Centre.

Mr. LI Kwok Fat (Z=Ef|2%), aged 48, was appointed as Company Secretary of
the Company in 2022. Mr. Ll is currently the company secretary and financial
controller of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1117.HK). Mr. Ll is a
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. LI holds a master degree of finance and a master’'s degree
in corporate governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. LI
has over 19 years of experience in corporate finance, accounting, corporate

secretarial and compliance service field.

For details of Directors’ interests (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) in shares
of the Company, please refer to the section headed “Report of the Directors
- Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions in shares,

underlying shares and debentures of the Company” in this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no further information of our Directors or senior
management is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2) (h) to (v)
under the Listing Rules.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A

FRERE 95 BEHRELE  RAR
HABIHEEEXEEX - SRR - &
R BIRR B TS B IRRD - BB ETRD o 4 A
ERER2019FEMAEREE - BAEFE
ERERVEE  SEBEIBE - 4 EEE
BESEMBIERESELER  BREYE
T - BEUH - REUBRIERESED
WREHER - FAEXESRBREFE
® - HEZEMBIESRS  SERETAT
ISR - EES R SEE  REM
REEESRBESZERY - FAELE
ARAANSTHTLESRANEREZE -

BEMEE 425k BREBELHRE
RIMBEERBENSZEEEE - aER
Bl SAUCERD  mRRRETEEERM - 2
BREER 2019 F A EHER - BTH
BHEHELRREBEA  EH - -FEESE
EREEE  HUSHKIMES  FAREEEE
ST - FaREEFELENNFEEE
EREEEIRLH - AEEURBNFTSE
H - BEREREATERLELE  B2%
2ERR LRI E L ERE -

TEIBGEE L8R RZE_FREE
BARRRDRWE - TREBAAPEER
WEERBRAT(ROMRIE : 1117 HK) Y
RAWERVIERE - ZEERBBELAE
BRg  REFTARSHMAGREEY
ARASNEE - FRAREEAEIARSE
TRELTSURCEERETEM - FELE
RIEERE - G5 CEMERERRBES
B EABB19FENER -

EREMESERNARARNDFHEENER
(EERBEHRBEGEGIEXVE) T
FLBAFERPEEERE -EENERS
TTBRABEARRBIRD - HHEERD & E#E
Bz AR | — & o

fr BRI MERMEFARRERE
REMBIRARE EHARRIE 1351200 E
W) RIEHIREE -



Report on Corporate Governance Practices

Overview

The Company ensures that the Company and its subsidiaries are committed to
achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The Board
understands the influence and importance of high standards of corporate
governance on the value of the Company, and that good corporate governance
is in the interest of the Company and shareholders as a whole.

We have adopted, applied and complied with the code provisions contained in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “Corporate Governance Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing Rules”) (as amended from time to
time) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Board of Directors

The Board is the decision-making body of the Company, and is responsible
for formulating overall strategies and policies of the Group and approving
its implementation plans to ensure that the Group achieves its goal swiftly.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the responsibilities performed by
the Board include © formulation of strategies of the Company; formulation
of development goals, guidelines and policies and implementation plans of
the Company; control of and assessment on the fulfillment of the Company's
financial and operating goals; review and approval of annual financial budgets,
final accounts plans, profit distribution plans and compensation plans of
the Company; establishment of effective internal control systems for risks
assessment; and review and approval of the Company’s material contracts and
transactions, information disclosure, connected transactions and other matters

required to be handled by the Board.

Moreover, the functions of corporate governance of the Board include :
formulation and review of corporate governance policies and practices of the
Company; review and monitoring of the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management; review and monitoring
of the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; formulation, review and monitoring of the code of
conducts for staff and the Directors; and review of the Company's compliance
with other provisions contained in the Listing Rules from time to time and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate effective
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated by the
Board to several committees under the Board (including the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Strategic and
Sustainability Committee) and senior management. All Board committees
perform respective functions and duties within their terms of reference (which
are available for inspection by the public on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange).

With the leadership of the chief executive officer, the senior management is
delegated by the Board with authorities and duties on the daily operation and
management of the Group. The delegated functions and work progress will be
reviewed regularly. Approval from the Board shall be obtained by the Company

before entering into of any material transactions.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including one executive Director (Mr. ZHANG Jiawang); five non-executive
Directors (Mr. LU Minfang, Mr. ZHANG Ping, Mr. ZHAO Jiejun, Mr. SUN Qian and
Ms. SHAO Lijun); and three independent non-executive Directors (Mr. WANG
Liyan, Mr. WU Liang and Mr. SUN Yansheng). The Chairman of the Board of the
Company is Mr. LU Minfang.

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Directors and Senior Management”,
there was no financial, business, family or other material relationship between
the Directors of the Company and in particular, between the Chairman of the

Board of the Company and the chief executive officer.

Biographical details of the existing Directors are set out in the section headed

“Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND DISMISSAL OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) has
signed a service agreement or an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of three years. The Directors shall be subject to retirement from office
by rotation or re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company pursuant to Article 16 of the Articles of Association of the Company
(the "Articles”).
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Report on Corporate Governance Practices

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association of the Company (“Articles”),
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the existing Directors shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for the re-election. Pursuant
to Article 16.3 of the Articles, any Director appointed by ordinary resolution to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be

eligible for re-election.

According to Article 16.18 of the Articles, at every annual general meeting of
the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less
than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director appointed pursuant to
Article 16.2 of the Articles shall not be taken into account in determining which
Directors are to retire by rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the
close of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election.
The Company at any annual general meeting at which any Directors retire may

fill the vacated office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board implements a policy of diversified composition of the Board. For the
purpose of sustained and balanced development, the Company recognises that
the Board diversity is critical for facilitating its strategic goals and maintaining
its sustainable development. The Board appoints members based on their
skills and qualifications, and also considers the value of having a diverse mix
of perspectives and backgrounds. The Board considers various aspects of
diversity, such as gender, age, culture, education, career, skills, knowledge
and tenure, in its initial selection of Board members. After that, the Board
matches the Company's specific requirements for talents with business goals
and strategies at different phases of development. As of the date of this report,
the Board consists of nine Directors, one lady and eight gentlemen, who have
diverse and professional backgrounds. Three of the Directors are independent
non-executive Directors, who contribute to a critical review and oversight of
the board management process. Having reviewed the board diversity policy
and the Board's composition, the Nomination Committee considered that the
requirements of the board diversity policy had been met and no measurable

objective had been set to implement the board diversity policy.

The Company will, from time to time, review the composition of the Board and
continue to look out for, among others, suitable female talents, to ensure a
pipeline of diverse directorship candidates. This ongoing process reflects the
Company's dedication to diversity and inclusive excellence at the leadership

level.

TXELREREKS

REARAESERAR(TAR ) E16.2
ff BEZSZENEHRRZRIERH
BEENIMNEFEHEEEARA TER
RAE  RAERBEEL - REMAAFE
16.31%  BREBRBREZEAEMBREZ
REERFIEETNEMNESTEREEEN
RETERRA®  RTEERBEEL -

RIBARIE 1618 R ER AR R FEME
BERE L BERAB=DZ—NEZFW
EEARTHE==mEH " AARRE
MEADPR=ZDZ —WMEZTAB)ERTE
T EMAER(BREFELHNES)A
ROB=FHRERE R - BERREIED
E=H UMTEREARF 162K E
MESE - REESHEEEZERENSHS
R EEBEREREE - RRBRER
EEREMNERBFAS L - AHHEEBRH
BMALTHEEEIERHZEER -

% LR
EFEERDTEFEZLCBR - BEHA
FENOERR  ARREIICLESFS
ZILE S EIE DB B IR s A SR
BRMNEZRL - EFSMAZEIRERA
MEARRIFL  EFEREBERBORERE
BEREEKE - RETNEREZ B K
EENEE EFSEVIHEEFTENE
BEEZBEZILCNESETE - WER - F
e - Xk - B - BE - BKEE - ABEIES
FoZ& BEESGRARABEATHEAREE
KEAREREBROERBEREERELT
o - BEARERMZA  EFTHNEE
S P —R2LEtRN\REL - BE#E
ETRNEXER - HP =UBF /B
WITEF  REHEFENEEBRETR
Rigs REE - KRINEFSZTIEEER
EXEgEKR  REZBEAREEESTT
EBRMEREZD > UEREAGENE
BUAMITEES S TILEEK -

ARRGTERTEESHABARK - L
FIK(EhRE)ABOLEAT - BRS
LR FIRIE A G - HAIRT)E 72
KRARANRERBERNS T RA
TR -

ANNUAL REPORT F[Z 3R 2023

73



74

Report on Corporate Governance Practices
TEERERESE

As of 31 December 2023, 64% of the Company’'s employees (including senior
management) are male, whereas 36% of the Company's employees (including
senior management) are female, which the Company believes is a good and
healthy gender ratio of the workforce. The Company is committed to ending
gender discrimination, promoting gender equality, and safeguarding the legal
rights and interests of female employees. Moving forward, the Company
remains committed to embracing diversity and ensuring gender equality in
its talent acquisition efforts. This steadfast approach reflects the Company's
dedication to fostering an inclusive workplace. The Company will consistently

integrate these core principles into its recruitment strategies.

The Board will from time to time review the board diversity policy, as

appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the reporting period, the Company complied with Rule 3.10(1) and Rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules which requires the Company to maintain at least
three independent non-executive Directors and have an independent non-
executive Director with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. Mr. WANG Liyan, one of the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company is a certified public
accountantin the PRC.

The Company has received the letter of confirmation issued by each of the
independent non-executive Directors as to his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. LU Minfang is the Chairman of the Board, while Mr. ZHANG Jiawang is the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. As such, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company are separate and performed by
different individuals.

BOARD PROCEDURES

Meeting Arrangement

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional operational meetings
are also held, when required. The Company Secretary is responsible for
preparing agenda and notices for the meetings. Senior management of the
Group also provides to the Directors in a timely manner relevant information
regarding key business developments of the Group and issues affecting the
Group. Agenda and other information decks are normally delivered to the
Directors before the meetings. The Directors also have independent access to
the senior management in respect of operational issues. The Directors may
take independent professional advice where appropriate to discharge their
duties, at the Company's expenses.
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TXELREREKS

Record of Meetings AR

Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are kept by the BEFESMEELZESHNSZHALEHAR AN
Company Secretary and are not only available for inspection by the Directors A RIMEB HHRF > MEAMEEZEESER - N
but also sent to the Directors for their records. All Directors have access to the X & EEUAELEE - REREEH A HEAN
Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures ~ AlRI/A BIMIEEAR - MARMEBSHRE
are complied with and advising the Board on compliance matters. SHEEREFUREAEESREE

e
ﬁ%%o

BOARD MEETINGS Exgea
The Board convenes a meeting on a regular basis and at least four meetings EBSSFHAETEFRITRILNEGH -
each year. In 2023, the Board held 4 meetings at which the operating results, RZ-ZT_=F EFLHBITLNEHTH
investment issues, etc. of the Company were considered and discussed. NREEEE - WEEEE -
Attendance record is below : HE s T -
Number of
Board meetings
attended/
held during
the year Attendance
FREE
BTEEY
Members EEEHE BEAE =
Executive Director HITES
Mr. ZHANG Jiawang SR RME ST A A 100%
(Chief Executive Officer) (BE#HITE)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. LU Minfang (Chairman) ESMEE(ERE) L4 100%
Mr. ZHANG Ping RFEAE 414 100%
Mr. ZHAQ Jiejun HEHRELE 4lb 100%
Mr. SUN Qian i St 4lb 100%
Ms. SHAO Lijun ABEEE & 414 100%
Independent non-executive Directors BAFEHITES
Mr. WANG Liyan TUERE 44 100%
Mr. WU Liang RRELE L4 100%
Mr. SUN Yansheng BRI & 44 100%
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Director Training

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains
informed and relevant. The Company is responsible for arranging suitable
training for all Directors at the Company's expense. The Group continuously
updates the Directors on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

A summary of training received by the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2023 according to the records provided by the Directors is as
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follows : N

Type of trainings
Directors ) =R
Executive Director HITES
Mr. ZHANG Jiawang SRR A ABC
Non-executive Directors EHITES
Mr. LU Minfang B SRR A AB.C
Mr. SUN Qian S Sitas ABC
Mr. ZHANG Ping SR AE AB.C
Mr. ZHAO Jiejun HAELAE AB.C
Ms. SHAO Lijun BPEE 2t AB,C
Independent Non-executive Directors BAUKFHTES
Mr. WANG Liyan FUESRA AB,C
Mr. WU Liang REpeaE AB.C
Mr. SUN Yansheng FEA S AB,C
A Reading materials, journals and updates relating to the business and industry  A: BIESEMCEMITERREBENOME - BT RZ

development

B: Reading materials relevant to the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirement

C: Attending or delivering seminars and/or conferences and/or forums
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Board Committees

The Company has four Board committees, namely the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and the Strategic
and Sustainability Committee. Each committee performs its work in accordance

with the terms of reference approved by the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 18 June 2014 in
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The
primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include determining the
policies in relation to human resources management, reviewing the Company’s
remuneration policies and determining remuneration packages for the
Directors and senior management members. As at 31 December 2023, the
Remuneration Committee comprised one non-executive Director (Mr. ZHANG
Ping) and two independent non-executive Directors (Mr. SUN Yansheng and Mr.
WU Liang) and was chaired by Mr. SUN Yansheng.

According to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company, the Remuneration Committee convenes at least one meeting in each
year. In 2023, the Remuneration Committee convened one meeting, whereby
the overall remuneration policy and structure for the Company's Directors
and senior management members and proposals on the establishment of
standard and transparent procedures for the formulation of remuneration
policies were reviewed, as well as reviewing and approving matters relating
to the Share Award Scheme. The Remuneration Committee reviewed and
approved the grant of 87,388,000 Award Shares to 66 middle and senior
management personnel of the Group (excluding Directors), and 12,566,000
Award Shares to Mr. Zhang Jiawang, an executive director of the Company, on
21 April. The Remuneration Committee consider that the grant of award shares
as an incentive to motivate the management team and retain talents for the
continuous growth of the Group, is fair and reasonable and in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 18 June 2014 in
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the
Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board. As at 31 December
2023, the Nomination Committee comprised a non-executive director (Mr. LU
Minfang) and two independent non-executive Directors (Mr. WANG Liyan and
Mr. WU Liang) and was chaired by Mr. LU Minfang.

The Nomination Committee recommends potential candidates to appointments
on the Board based on merits of such candidates, having regard for the
benefits of diversity of the members of the Board and the necessity of ensuring
a balanced composition of expertise appropriate for the businesses of the
Group. The selection of potential candidates is based on a range of diverse
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills, knowledge, and
leadership qualities, and ultimately, the contribution that such candidates will

be able to bring to the Board, to complement the abilities of existing Directors.

According to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee of the
Company, the Nomination Committee convenes at least one meeting in each
year. In 2023, the Nomination Committee convened one meeting, whereby
the members discussed the structure and composition of the Board of
the Company, performed qualification review on preliminary candidates
recommended by the management of the Company and identified suitable
candidates, advised on the proposed changes to the Board for the purpose
of the Company’'s corporate strategies and assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors. Prior to election of a new Director,
the chairman of the Nomination Committee submits recommendations and
relevant materials of the directorial candidates to the Board of the Company
based on the nomination policy of the Company for directorship.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company adopted a nomination policy for directorship (the “Nomination
Policy”) on 24 March 2023 which supplements the Terms of Reference of
the Nomination Committee. It aims to set out the processes and criteria for
the nomination of a candidate for directorship in the Company which seeks
to ensure that all nominations of Board members are fair and transparent
in order to facilitate the constitution of the Board with a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that is appropriate to the requirements
of the Company's business.
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1. SELECTION CRITERIA

1.1. When considering a candidate nominated for directorship or a
director’'s proposed re-appointment, the Nomination Committee
will take into account the following factors as a reference :

. whether the qualification, skills, experience and industry
knowledge of the candidate meet the business needs or are

in line with the long-term development of the Company;

. effect on the board’'s composition and diversity in all its
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years
old or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, and the compliance with the diversity policy of the
Company;

. commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient time to
effectively discharge his/her duties. In this regard, the
number and nature of offices held by the candidate in
public companies or organisations, and other executive

appointments or significant commitments will be considered,;

. any potential/actual conflicts of interest that may arise if the

candidate is selected;

4 for the appointment or re-appointment of independent non-
executive directors, the independence of the candidate and

his/her immediate family from the Company; and

. in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an independent
non-executive director ("INED"), the number of years he/she
has already served.

The above factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate on a
case by case basis.
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TXE

1.2.

AEREE

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with their
written consent to be appointed as a director of the Company and
to the public disclosure of their personal data on any document
or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a director of the Company.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide

additional information and documents, if considered necessary.

2. NOMINATION PROCEDURES

2.1

Subject to the provisions in the Company's Articles, if the Board
recognises the need to appoint an additional director, the following

procedures should be adopted

the chairman of the Nomination Committee shall call a
meeting of the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations
of candidates from Board members if any, for consideration
by the Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The
Nomination Committee may also identify or select candidates
to be recommended to the Board, with or without assistance

from external agencies or the Company;

the Nomination Committee may use any process it deems
appropriate to assess the suitability of and the potential
contribution to the Board by the candidates based on (but
not limited to) the criteria set out in section 2.1 herein,
which may include personal interviews, background checks,
presentations or written submissions by the candidates and

third party references;

the Nomination Committee will hold a physical meeting to
consider the matter and avoid the making of decisions by
written resolutions unless it is impractical that a physical
meeting be held;
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° the Nomination Committee shall provide to the Board for its
consideration with all the information required, including
infomation set out in Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules in
relation to the candidates; and

° the Nomination Committee shall make recommendation
to the Board, including the terms and conditions of the
appointment.

2.2. The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment based
upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee. The
Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general
meeting.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprised two independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. WANG Liyan, and Mr. WU Liang and one non-
executive Director, Mr. ZHANG Ping. Mr. WANG Liyan possesses the relevant
professional qualifications required under the Listing Rules. The Chairman of
the Audit Committee is Mr. WANG Liyan.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to oversee the Group's
financial reporting system, risk management system and internal control
procedures, and to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
the applicable standard. The Audit Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 December

2023. Major work completed by the Audit Committee during the year includes :

° reviewed the Group's annual report, interim financial information and
annual consolidated financial statements;

. reviewed significant accounting and audit issues;

. reviewed the external auditor’'s qualifications, independence and

performance;
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reviewed the external auditor's management letter and the

management’s response;

reviewed the ESG report and the ESG policies and strategies of the
Group;

reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit Committee under
the CG Code;

assisted the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of financial reporting

procedures and internal control system;

reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's systems of
internal control and risk management and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, including advising on identification of connected

parties and formulating relevant policies;

reviewed the continuing connected transactions entered into by the

Group or subsisting during the Reporting Year; and

reviewed the utilisation of annual caps on certain continuing connected

transactions of the Group.
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Strategic and Sustainability Committee

The Company established the Strategic and Sustainability Committee on 30
July 2021. As at 31 December 2023, the Strategic and Sustainability Committee
comprised one executive Director (Mr. ZHANG Jiawang) and three non-
executive Directors (Mr. LU Minfang, Mr. ZHAO Jiejun and Mr. SUN Qian) and
was chaired by Mr. LU Minfang.

The primary functions of the Strategic and Sustainability Committee include
formulating the Company's long-term development strategy, as well as
considering environmental, social and corporate governance related matters.
The sustainability department of the Company will report the work progress to

the Strategic and Sustainability Committee on a regular basis.

Attendance Record

The attendance record of Directors at meetings of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee is as follows
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Audit Remuneration Nomination

Committee Committee Committee

Directors =) EREEE FHNEEE RERZEEE
Mr. LU Minfang [E B SE A& N/A TNiE N/A NiE 171
Mr. ZHANG Jiawang SRR SE A N/A N A N/ATER N/ATNEA
Mr. ZHANG Ping RESRE 3/3 2/2  N/A @
Mr. ZHAO Jiejun HEELE A N/A 6 A N/ANER  N/ATER
Mr. SUN Qian S St N/A N iE N/ANER  N/ATES
Ms. SHAO Lijun BB E 2t N/A N A N/ATER N/ATNEA
Mr. WANG Liyan TUERE 3/3 N/A i A 1/1
Mr. WU Liang ReuithE 3/3 2/2 11
Mr. SUN Yansheng RIEE & N/A N A 2/2  N/A @A
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General Meetings

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the attendance record of each Director
at General Meetings is as follows :

BRERXE
BE_ZT-_=F+_A=1t—HIFE &
BEEHERRAS 28T ¢

Number of
attendances/
meetings

Annual General
Meeting and
Extraordinary
General Meetings

R,/

= nﬁ;—gﬂ'/)\%l

RRBFRE

Directors ) FRERESHAE
Mr. LU Minfang EHmEE 2/2
Mr. ZHANG Jiawang RS A 2/2
Mr. SUN Qian 7% vt 2/2
Mr. ZHANG Ping RESRE 2/2
Mr. ZHAO Jiejun EEE LA 2/2
Ms. SHAO Lijun AR L+ 2/2
Mr. WANG Liyan EFUERAE 2/2
Mr. WU Liang Rt 2/2
Mr. SUN Yansheng FEA St 2/2

The 2023 annual general meeting of the Company was held on 15 June
2023, and an extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on 29
September 2023.

Model Code for Directors’ Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions
on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific queries to the Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Directors’ Responsibility for Financial
Reporting in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Group's
accounts and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules,
meanwhile, the senior management should provide relevant and sufficient
information and explanation to the Board to enable it to make informed

assessment of the financial and other decisions.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of the auditors of the Company in respect of their reporting
responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” contained in

this annual report.

Dividend Policy

In accordance with the Company's dividend policy adopted on 28 March
2023 (the "Dividend Policy”), the declaration and payment of dividends shall
be determined at the sole discretion of the Board. The Company's ability to
distribute dividends will depend on, among others, the Company's profits,
operating results, cash flow, financial condition and capital requirements,
contractual restrictions which the Company is subject to, other factors of
the Company which the Directors consider relevant, and the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. The remaining profits that are not distributed
will be used for the development and operation of the Group.

The Company'’s distribution of dividends shall also comply with any restrictions
under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the
Listing Rules, the Articles, as well as subject to the approval of shareholders of
the Company (as applicable).

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views are
Available to the Board

The Company has put in place a mechanism as set out below to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board during the year. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent. The Company has also received written confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules.
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EXELRERES

PURPOSE

These mechanisms are to ensure that there is a sufficient independent element

on, and independent views and input are available to, the Board.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at least three INED(s) and
at least one-third of its members being INEDs (or such higher threshold as may
be required by the Listing Rules from time to time).

Apart from complying with the requirements prescribed by the Listing Rules
as to the composition of certain Board committees, INEDs will be appointed to
other Board committees as far as practicable to ensure independent views are

available.

INDEPENDENCE ASSESSMENT

The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the Nomination Policy and the
independence assessment criteria as set out in the Listing Rules with regard to
the nomination and appointment of INEDs.

Each INED is also required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if
there is any change in his/her own personal particulars that may materially
affect his/her independence.

The Nomination Committee is mandated to assess annually the independence
of all INEDs by reference to the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules to ensure that they can continually exercise independent judgement.

COMPENSATION

No equity-based remuneration (e.g. share options or grants) with performance
related elements will be granted to INEDs as this may lead to bias in their

decision making and compromise their objectivity and independence.

BOARD DECISION MAKING

INEDs (as well as other directors) are entitled to seek further information
and documentation from the management on the matters to be discussed at
board meetings. They can also seek assistance from the Company’'s company
secretary and, where necessary, independent advice from external professional

advisers at the Company’s expense.
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INEDs (as well as other directors) shall not vote or be counted in the quorum
on any board resolution approving any contract or arrangement in which such
Director or any of his/her close associates has a material interest.

The chairman of the Board shall at least annually hold meetings with the
INEDs without the presence of other Directors to discuss major issues and any

concerns.

REVIEW OF THE POLICY IMPLEMENTATION

The Board shall, or may designate a board committee to, make an annual
review of the implementation and effectiveness of this policy.

Corporate Culture

The Board has established the Company's mission, vision and core values.
All Directors act with integrity, lead by example, and promote the desired

corporate culture.

Corporate mission: Devote to the nation and promote agriculture, strive to be
the best, and develop together
Corporate vision: Create the world's leading organic milk brand
Core values:
— Times Perspective
Integrate into the new era
Integrate into global competition
Integration into national rejuvenation
— Agricultural View
Most rich in potential
Worth striving for
— Corporate View
Contribute to society
Strengthen the country
— Work Philosophy
Integrate into the enterprise
Pursue excellence
- Success View
Create Value
Enrich society
— Life Philosophy
Live a joyful life

Lead a blissful existence
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EXELRERES

Risk Management and Internal Control

Our Group has complied with and implemented relevant necessary risk
management and internal control policies in accordance with the Corporate

Governance Code during the year.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to maintain sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems of the Company, which are
designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to

achieve business objectives.

The Board is also responsible for monitoring our risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems.
The Board also ensures the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company's accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions. The Board conducts review of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group once every
year. The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, including all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls in 2023 and the
Company considers them effective and adequate.

The compliance management center of the Group is established to act as the
management institution of risk management and internal control, responsible
for the evaluation of the establishment, optimisation and implementation
of internal control system throughout the industrial chain of the Group to
determine whether the internal control system of the Group is reasonably
designed, gives rise to risks and is implemented effectively, as well as
providing management support for the improvement and refinement of such
defects and risks identified, if any, in the process of evaluation. Meanwhile, the
compliance management center is also responsible for diagnosing material
risk control matters in each segment throughout the industrial chain of the
Group, analysing, assessing and selecting risk management object for review
so as to provide solutions to risk control and related requirements, and
tracking the progress and result of risk control for acceptance for the purpose
of effective risk management and control.

During the year, each operating and management department of the Group

continued to work on system improvement and process optimisation to realise

the management goal in a more effective and consistent way.
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Report on Corporate Governance Practices

The Group conducts risk management and internal control in different aspects
in line with different levels of corporate governance, and aims to implement
necessary adjustment, restriction, assessment and control measures to
enhance the economics, efficiency and effectiveness of the implementation
of the Group’'s operational goals, to keep the assets of the Group safe and
intact and to ensure the correctness and reasonableness of accounting data,
compliance with relevant laws, regulations and rules, and to use reasonable
endeavours to eliminate fraud or error in all operational procedures. All
employees are committed to continually enhancing the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company, tying such systems to our corporate

strategies as well as integrating such systems into our day-to-day operation.

With respect to the dissemination of inside information, the Group
acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO, the Listing Rules and the
overriding principle that inside information should be announced as soon as
reasonably practicable. The Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on
fair disclosure by pursuing broad and non-exclusive distribution of information
to the public through channels such as financial reporting updates, public
announcements on the Stock Exchange's website and the Company’'s website.
Unauthorised use of confidential or inside information is strictly prohibited
by the internal policies of the Group, and the Group has also established
and implemented procedures for responding to external enquiries about the

Group's affairs.

The Group maintains an internal audit function. Internal audit reports are
presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee, who reports the findings
to the Board. Based on the assessment by the Audit Committee, senior
management members and the internal audit department, we did not identify
any material internal control flaw or deficit, nor was any major issue raised for

improvement, as at 31 December 2023.
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EXELRERES

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has formulated an internal Code on Information Disclosure (“Internal
Code”) to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of
information disclosure of the Group in accordance with the requirements of the
SFO and the Listing Rules. The Internal Code provides for detailed rules in the

following areas.

= basic principles of information disclosure

= duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure

— information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria thereof

— procedures for the circulation, review and disclosure of information
— confidentiality of the undisclosed information

— accountability and handling measures

— information communication system with investors, securities analysts

and the media, etc.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company attaches great importance to the establishment of clean
governance and anti-corruption work. We have established management
systems and set up the discipline inspection department to implement various
requirements on anti-corruption work to strictly manage corruption issues
and ensure that every member of the Company does not go beyond the bottom
line of business ethics. The Company has enhanced its anti-corruption policy,
strictly prohibits the employees from accepting any form of rebates, agency
fees, facilitation fees and gifts, and strictly prohibits management personnel
from taking advantage of their positions to seek personal benefits for relatives
and specific related persons to prevent conflicts of interest. The Company
strengthens the supervision and inspection of high-risk nodes and fields,
encourages internal mutual supervision, and continues to carry out training to

deepen the awareness of integrity.
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Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group always upholds the practice of integrity and law-abiding spirit at
all levels. Employees are well aware of and acknowledge the importance of
anti-corruption. The Group has a well established whistle-blowing policy to
encourage and allow employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in matters of financial reporting, farm operation, corporate compliance, and
other malpractices at the earliest possible opportunity. Employees can raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties such as misconduct
and malpractice in any matter related to the Group with the audit committee/
a designated committee comprising a majority of independent non-executive
directors). Complaints received will be handled in a prompt and fair manner.
The policy aims at protecting the whistle-blowers from unfair dismissal,
victimisation, and unwarranted disciplinary actions. Anti-corruption trainings
are conducted annually for all farms and subsidiaries. During the year, all
employees have received anti-corruption training, including seminars, online
training, promotion of anti-corruption activities and self-evaluation. The Group
will review the mechanism and whistle-blowing policy annually and to ensure

its relevance and effectiveness.

Company Secretary

Mr. LI Kwok Fat acts as an authorised representative under Rule 3.05 of the
Listing Rules, the company secretary, and the process agent of the Company
for accepting services of process or notice on behalf of the Company in Hong
Kong as required under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). Mr. LI is responsible for the provision of corporate
secretarial services, facilitation of the Board process, as well as communication
among Board members, management and Shareholders.

All Directors have access to the advice and service of Mr. LI to ensure that the
Board procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are properly complied
with. Mr. LI complied with the professional training requirements with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules during the financial year.
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EXELRERES

External Auditor and its Emoluments

The Group's external auditor is Ernst & Young. For the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2023, the emoluments paid or payable for the audit and
non-audit services (including review and consultancy services) provided by

Ernst & Young was as follows :

B2 S5 B 2 B =

RERE IR BN B 2 K B RTED AT ©

Audit Services EET RS
Non-audit Services IEEET AR
Total 4Bt

BE-_ZT-_—FR-FZ=F+=ZA=+—
AILEFE - REkRHaE RIEFTRS
(BREEBREARS) BN EMEHE
UM

2023 2022

Amount Amount

(RMB) (RMB)

=== —E-F

| k-t

(AR¥T) (AE®TT)

2,100,000 2,100,000

480,000 480,000

2,580,000 2,580,000

Communication with Shareholders and
Investors/Investor Relations

During the year, the Company has amended its shareholders’ communication
policy (“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) setting out the principles of
the Company for Shareholders’ communications, with the objective to ensure
timely and accurate communication with its Shareholders.

The Company adopts a range of communication methods, such as hybrid
annual general meetings, reports and announcements, circulars, various
investor and analyst meetings as well as the Company’'s website to ensure the

Shareholders are kept well informed of the Group's key business imperatives.

In addition, we have a dedicated investor relations email account for taking
enquiries and for receiving information requests from Shareholders (please
refer to page 93 of this annual report for more information ).

We assign dedicated staff members to maintain good relationships with
investors and regularly or occasionally communicate or coordinate with
institutional investors, with an aim to enhance communication and mutual
understanding in a timely manner. During the past year, over 40 investor
meetings have been conducted. We also update our investor relations website
in a timely manner, to ensure that the Shareholders and investors can have
timely access to and understanding of the Company's latest data, information
and reports. Our annual general meetings are effective forums for the
Shareholders to share their views with the Board. Shareholders are welcome

to attend the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Investors are welcomed to send their enquiries to our investor relations
department at zgsm@smorganic.cn or browse the Company's website
(http :
Group.

//www.shengmuorganicmilk.com) for the latest information of the

The management will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy annually. The Board and the Company
are of the view that the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’
Communication Policy was adequate and effective for the year.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board's attention to the
Company Secretary at the Company'’s principal office address at Room A, 32nd
Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The
Company Secretary forwards communications relating to matters within the
Board's purview to the Board.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the operations,
strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at general meetings.
Proposals shall be sent to the Board by email at zgsm@smorganic. cn
(investors relations) or pursuant to the following address via personal delivery,
Board of Directors, Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower,
262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (attention :

mail or courier to :
Shareholders’
Communication Department) not later than : (a) 6 weeks before the annual
general meeting of the Company to which the request relates; or (b) if later,

when the notice of the annual general meeting is despatched.

The request will be verified with the Company’'s Share Registrars and upon
their confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will request the Board of Directors to review the proposal. After
a thorough review of the submitted proposals, the Board may, in its sole
discretion, consider if such proposals are appropriate and shall be put forward
to the Shareholders for approval at next annual general meeting or at an
extraordinary general meeting to be convened by the Board, as appropriate,
and the Shareholders concerned will be advised of such outcome.
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EXELRERES

Procedures for Director’s Nomination and
Election by Shareholders

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring director for
election as a director at a general meeting, the Shareholder should lodge at
the Company's principal office address at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower,
262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, (a) a written notice signed by
such Shareholder (other than the proposed person) duly qualified to attend and
vote at the meeting of his/her intention to propose such person for election;
and (b) a written notice by the proposed person indicating his/her willingness
to be elected together with the personal information of the proposed person
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and consent of publication
of his/her personal information. The period during which the aforesaid notice
may be given shall be at least seven days * such period will commence on the
day after the dispatch of the notice of general meeting and end no later than
seven days prior to the date of such general meeting. The Company would take
appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements, in the event a valid

notice is received.

Procedures for the Convening of Extraordinary
General Meetings by Shareholders

General meetings may be convened on the written requisition of any one
or more members of the Company deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong at Room A, 32nd Floor COFCO Tower 262 Gloucester
Road Causeway Bay Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have
such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objectives of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition represent not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
EY:

Independent auditor’s report

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

LZKER BB T

Kb —E2712

To the shareholders of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Shengmu
Organic Milk Limited (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 102 to 231, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is

provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying

consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter
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Valuation of dairy cows

Biological assets of the Group, which represent dairy cows
and beef cattle, were measured at fair value less costs to sell
amounting to RMB3,214,229,000 as of 31 December 2023.
Dairy cows of the Group include milkable cows, heifers and
calves, which are raised for the purpose of producing raw
milk. Beef cattle are raised to three to six months old and then
for sale. The fair value of biological assets as assessed by
management was significant to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements since (i) the carrying values of such
biological assets accounted for approximately 37.74% of the
total assets of the Group; and (ii) significant estimates were
involved in management's fair value assessment. Management
engaged an external valuation expert to assist in the valuation
of the biological assets as at 31 December 2023.

The accounting policies and disclosures for biological assets
are included in note 2.4 material accounting policies, note 3
significant accounting judgements and estimates and note 16

biological assets to the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ELNNEERREERSE

Valuation of dairy cows
We assessed the objectivity, independence and competence of
the external valuation expert engaged by the Group.

We evaluated the underlying basis and assumptions used by
management. In particular, we assessed the assumptions
applied to which the outcome of the valuation was most
sensitive, including the estimated local market selling price
of the relevant dairy cows, feed costs per kilogram of the
production of raw milk, daily milk yield at each lactation cycle
and local future market prices for raw milk. We checked the
computation of the fair value of biological assets.

We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’'s disclosures
relating to the fair value measurement of biological assets.
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Other information included in the Annual
Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting

process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
35 37 % YR ¥R 5

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Yee Chung Man.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

FERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 &2 20234F 12 A 31 HIFF/E

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Loss arising from changes in fair value less
costs to sell of biological assets

Fair value changes of financial
guarantee contracts

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Reversal of impairment losses on financial
and contract assets, net

Other expenses

Finance costs

Share of profits and losses of associates

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT

Basic

Diluted

SHEWA
SHER A

EF

EWEER
ERELNEE

BMERREHNATEE

H A R Mk S

HE kD HEMA

TR

EMRENEEZRERR
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HEMAX
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DIEBE AR B
BRI A g A
FRSBRM X<
FRER
AT B IREIERF -

BRAHEE A
IR 2

BAREBRESFEA
P EREF

AT ES B4

Notes 2023 2022
g 20234 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBETIT
A 3,383,629 3,176,253
(2,358,609) (2,163,571)
1,025,020 1,012,682

16
(706,302) (291,385)
(124) (1,584)
4 72,319 46,109
(62,746) (55,177)
(166,309) (140,984)
1,651 231
(2,545) (42,001)
6 (53,104) (57,446)
(10,174) (20,372)
5 97,686 450,073
9 (3,074) -
94,612 450,073
86,076 416,460
8,536 33,613
94,612 450,073

11
RMB0.0104 RMB0.0499
AR¥0.01041 AR®E0.04997T
RMB0.0103 RMB0.0496
AE#0.01037t ARK0.04947T

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FeEETHEWER

Year ended 31 December 2023 &%= 20234 12 431 H1FF/Z

Note 2023 2022
Mt =E 2023 F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBET T ARBTIT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRRF 94,612 450,073
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hith 2 E &
Other comprehensive income that may not AlRE T EREZHREN R
be reclassified to profit or ZEENEMEERE
loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation BMERHINETGREH Z58
of foreign operations = 301
Net other comprehensive income that AT e R EZIBMER
may not be reclassified to profit or SEEBERMNEMEE
loss in subsequent periods W F 5 — 301
Other comprehensive income that will not be T E&@NEZEIREFH HLE
reclassified to profit or ZEENEMEEIE
loss in subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at fair value 3EFEIZAFEFAEMEE
through other comprehensive income: W ERIRE
Changes in fair value NTEES) 21(a) 4,000 (34,200)
Net other comprehensive income that will S TE@REZIFEHHE
not be reclassified to profit or loss EiEamEMAEEKEFEE
in subsequent periods 4,000 (34,200)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FREMZERE @ NERKIE
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 4,000 (33,899)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FAREKREEEHE
THE YEAR 98,612 416174
Attributable to: AT & IE RS -
Owners of the parent S RAEA A 90,076 382,561
Non-controlling interests FEERR R A 8,536 33,613
98,612 416174
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B B 35 K05 R

31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

Notes 2023 2022
g 2023 2022 £
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREET T AR¥ET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB NEE 12 1,945,138 1,703,982
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13(a) 595,729 554,068
Other intangible assets Eméﬂﬂzéf—é 14 10,893 9,145
Investments in associates ABE N BRI E 15 23,353 34,352
Biological assets EMEE 16 3,122,650 3,052,124
Prepayments, other receivables AR « EfbEIAGRIE X 20
and other assets HEMEE 49,848 -
Other financial assets HhemEE 21 61,000 57,000
Cash and bank balances W& RIRITHEEH 22 552,429 —
Long-term receivables KHEIE U A 17 829 2,036
Total non-current assets IEMENE ELE 6,361,869 5,412,707
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18 1,006,841 880,650
Biological assets EYEE 16 91,579 66,327
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 19 303,329 276,856
Prepayments, other receivables A RIE - EMEBGRIER 20
and other assets Hi&EE 79,053 102,048
Other financial assets Hih e R &= 21 130,000 459,000
Restricted bank deposits 2R HIRITER 22 148,783 199867
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHH 22 395,457 490,177
Total current assets MEVEEMLTE 2,155,042 2,474,925
CURRENT LIABILITIES G =R
Trade and bills payables B RN FIBERENEE 23 1,706,705 1476,138
Other payables and accruals HiERFRIERTERE R 24 390,779 296,179
Lease liabilities %ﬂa’éﬁ 13(b) 13,380 2,586
Super short-term loan B HIR A & 25 — 100,000
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHERITER 25 911,383 795,610
Total current liabilities mENBEREE 3,022,247 2,670,513
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE (867,205) (195,588)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BB ERAEERE 5,494,664 5,217,119
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RS B EE AR R

31 December 2023 20234 12 531 H

Notes 2023 2022
FI=E 2023 % 2022 €
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 13 38,553 10,797
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHBIRITIER 25 1,219,856 944,640
Total non-current liabilities IERBE ERE 1,258,409 955,437
Net assets FEE 4,236,255 4,261,682
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & A T#EHA A EILHEZ
Share capital & A< 27 69 69
Treasury shares held under RIER M B B AW
share award scheme EFS (76,887) (26,188)
Reserves (e 28 4,099,886 4,081,306
4,023,068 4,055,187
Non-controlling interests FEfE R = 213,187 206,495
Total equity T AREE 4,236,255 4,261,682
Zhang Jiawang Zhang Ping
REKAL RE
Director Director
EFE BH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
. BARREFEXR

Year ended 31 December 2023 &= 2023 4 12 A 31 H 1 F/&

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATEEARG

Fair value

reserve of
financial
assets at fair
value through
Share Share other Exchange Non-
Share Treasury premium  Contributed option  comprehensive Reserve  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
Note capital shares account surplus reserve income funds reserve profits Total interests equity
RATEA
AfrEhE
nemeE
it fx ERRG  REE  BSRR  BRERE ATERR  REEe EXRDEE  RERA &t relEs EReR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000
ARETT  ARMTR ARBTR ARETRT  ARMTR ARBTn  ARETR ARNTR  ARETR  ARETT  ARMTR  ARBTR

At 31 December 2021 R01E12A318 69 - 2434970 91077 95,558 12,038 608,033 16,316 n1m 3,679,833 209352 3,889,185
Profitfor the year Efgf| - - - - - - - - 416,460 416,460 33413 450,073
Other comprehensive FREM2ENG :

income for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity BATE AL h2ENE

investments at fair value through NERREATERE

other comprehensive income, pily 3

net of tax - - - - - (34,200 - - - 34,200) - (34,200)
Exchange differences on translation BB EBHES 28

of foreign operations - - - - - - - 301 - 301 - 301
Total comprehensive income EMRENELE

for the year - - - - - (34,200 - 301 416,680 382,561 33613 416174
Share purchases for B REiENRAEE

Share Award Schem bil B 26,188) - - - - - - - 26,188) - (26,188)
Share Award Scheme L GECRE) bl - - - - 19487 - - - - 19,487 - 19487
Capital injection from FERERNTE

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - 350 350
Acquisition of non-controlling WEsaRiEs

interests - - - (706) - - - - - (706) (4537) 5,263)
Dividends paid to non-contralling BRTFHERRENRE

shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (32,283) (32,283)
Transfer from retained profits ERERBET - - - - - - W27 - 6,271) - - -
At 31 December 2022 R02F12A318 69 (26,188) 2,434970¢ 4903M# 115,245 (221628 652,304 16617 393,981 4,055,187 20649 4,261,682
- Less than RMB1,000. . EARAR 1,0007T

# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB4,081,306,000 (2021:  # ZEREEFREGAVBRARANGS
RMB3,679,764,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. f# 8 AR ¥ 4,081,306,000 (2021 FF + AR¥E
3,679,764,0007T) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HERREER

Year ended 31 December 2023 # = 2023 4 12 F 31 H 1F F/Z

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAREEARE
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at fair
value through
Share Share other Exchange Non-
Share Treasury premium  Contributed option  comprehensive Reserve  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
Note capital shares account surplus reserve income funds reserve profits interests equity

BATETA
AttREkE
NEREE
it kx  ERRB BARE BRERE OVERG BEEE EXNEEE  REEA & FEREE
RMBO0D  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBO0D  RMBON RMBOD)  RMBOD)  RMBOD)  RMBODO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD
ABBTT  ARETR ARE ARRTR ARBTR ARBTR = ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTZ ARRTR ARRTR

At1 January 2023 ROBE1A1A 69 (26,188)  2.434970° 490371 115,245° (22,1628 652,304 16,817 393961 4,055,187 206,495 4,261,682
Profit for the year il - - - - - - - - 86,076 86,076 8,536 94,612
Other comprehensive income EREHRENG

for the year:
Changes in fair value of EATEARb2ENE

equity investments MESRADTERS

atfair value through HRBEE

other comprehensive income,

net of tax = = = = = 4,000 = = = 4,000 = 4,000
Exchange differences on BEENNSRNERZE

translation of foreign operations - - - - - - = = = - - -

Total comprehensive income ERZEL

for the year - - - - - 4,000 = = 86,076 90,076 8,536 98,612
Share purchases for R EBENRNESR

Share Award Scheme 9 - (66,657) - = = = = = - (66,657) = (66,657)
Share Award Scheme A tmTEl il - - - - 30475 - - - - 32475 - 32475
Shares vested under RERDREERRNRG

Share Award Scheme - 15,958 524 = (17,311) = = = = (829) = (829)
Dividends distribution REARK = = (87,184) = = = = = = (87,184) = (87,184)
Dividends paid tonon-controling X FHHERRRARE

shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (1,844) (1,844)
Transfer from retaind profits BRERTRA - - - - - - 16,983 - (16,983) - - -
At 31 December 2023 R023F128318 69 (76,887)  2348,310° 490371 130,409° (18,162)* 669,287 16,817 463054° 4,023,008 213187 4,236,255
# Less than RMB1,000. . B AR 1,0007T ©
# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB4,099,886,000 (2022:  # ZERBEPABGEAVBMRARANGS

RMB4,081,306,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. fEE AR 4,099,886,0007T(2022F : AR

4,081,306,0007T) °

ANNUAL REPORT “FE % 2023 107



108

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nTAiﬁﬁ;ﬁE

Year ended 31 December 2023 &2 20234 12 31 HIFF/E

Notes 2023 2022
g3 2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & &EEFIBIREME
Profit before tax: BRAE AR A 97,686 450,073
Adjustments for: FE
Loss arising from changes in fair value less £ B EXNFEEZEHEE 16
costs to sell of biological assets BERELXNEE 706,302 291,385
Fair value changes of financial HBEREHNNATFEES
guarantee contracts 124 1,584
Finance costs Eﬂﬁﬁﬁw 6 53,104 57,446
Share of profits and losses of associates ShEEE N E 8RR 15 10,174 20,372
Interest income 2 WA (29,555) (8,314)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BEEEE 4
plant and equipment Ig@ﬁiﬂ?i 5,141 3,204
Gain on partial disposal of an associate DLE—RHEE QRN 4
uﬁzﬁé = (25,741)
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BERRETE 5
and equipment 106,370 106,102
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE 5 19,472 5516
Amortisation of other intangible assets H e E =g 5 1,310 873
Impairment of items of property, %% 5 K EE B RE 4
plant and equipment — 8,179
Impairment of items of inventories FTEIRERE 3,511 —
Reversal of receivables FEMGRIE R[] (1,651) (231)
Share award expenses % 1 B2 Ep B 2 29 32,475 19,687
Provision for litigations and claims AR REREE — 35,737
Foreign exchange differences, net SNGE 2= B HER 4 (354) 2,658
1,004,109 968,530
Increase in inventories &N (129,702) (106,941)
Increase in biological assets - current Y EEE I — R E) (121,109) (45,020)
Increase in trade receivables 2 5 e WERIB N (26,473) (28,719)
Decrease in deposits and other receivables &% N H b fE W ZR I8 R 4 5,407 8,047
Decrease in restricted bank deposits %ﬁE%UfE TR 9,804 123,322
Increase in trade and bills payables Z 5 FRIE K RS AR N 180,497 224,224
Increase/(decrease) in other payables H’rﬁjfﬁ RIE R TEIRE A
and accruals #n, Crl ) 14,872 (27,574)
Cash generated from operations KEEEXNRE 937,405 1,115,869
Interest received S &S] 5,953 7,818
Income tax paid BAATSHE (3,074) (618)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEBFBRSREFE 940,284 1,123,069
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
7] '.R EE $ ==} ﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2023 &= 20234 12 431 H1FF/Z

Notes 2023 2022
g3 2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES R &EEBFIBRERE
Purchases of items of property, HEME  BELXFEEE
plant and equipment (291,697) (137,001)
Additions to right-of-use assets Mg AEEE (4,391) (25,732)
Additions to other intangible assets S EMmEREE (870) (2,804)
Prepayment for biological assets EMMEETE R (48,358) S
Payments for breeding calves and heifers EREES B KR (970,429) (860,069)
Proceeds from disposal of biological assets &4 Y& &= TS IE 358,994 305,259
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEYH* - MENKREEBFT
plant and equipment BEE 7,312 3,332
Decrease in other financial HEmemEE - ERRD
assets-entrusted loans = 72,000
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWE AR — 1,454
Payments for previous acquisition SeRTUE —RKT B A R FR
of a subsidiary (5,000) —
Interest received B & 10,822 —
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ~ HEZAFEFAERA
at fair value through profit or loss SREEZFEHIE 329,000 968,945
Placement of term deposits with original FEARZHBEBBE=EAN
maturity over three months TE HRTF 3K (540,000) —
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BERATEFABED
through profit or loss SREE — (1,419,000)
Dividends received from an associate B —REEE QA FIRE 825 -
Proceeds from partial disposal of associates &84 & B & /2 &) B P15 5008 - 30,065
Net cash flows used in investing activities KREEHFAB S NEFHE (1,153,792) (1,063,551)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ BhEEEIFIB IS RE
New bank loan borrowings IR ITIE R 2,112,785 2,643,300
Proceeds from issue of a super BITHREHRE SN
short-term note FriSsk1E — 100,000
Capital injection by non-controlling interests  FEIZ iz T & — 350
Repayment of bank loans EEIRITER (1,721,796) (2,582,218)
Repayment of super short-term note EBEBEHRES (100,000) —
Withdrawal of pledged deposits REERIFHR 66,700 -
Placement of pledged deposits T AERIFH (25,421) (66,700)
Principal portion of lease payments HMENRNALI S (18,126) (2,736)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wi FE 2 A e 2 = (5,243)
Payment for purchase of ordinary shares BELBRMHANR (53,737) (38,070)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B I EER R RS
shareholders (1,844) (83,583)
Dividends paid BT E (87,184) -
Interest paid EfTFE (52,943) (63,918)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= B =
SFEHERER
Year ended 31 December 2023 #tZ 20234 12 A 31 HILF/ZE

Notes 2023 2022
g3 2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEEE,(FTH)
financing activities REeEMEFHE 118,434 (98,818)
NET DECREASE IN CASH Re kRSB FHE
AND CAS EQUIVALENTS (95,074) (39,300)
Cash and cash equivalents FUHRe MR EEEY
at beginning of year 490,177 531,835
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ERE B A/ £ 558 354 (2,358)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRAE MRS EFEY 22
AT END OF YEAR 395,457 490,177
Represented by 15 -
Cash and bank balances W& MIRITHEER 1,096,669 690,044
Less: restricted bank deposits B ZBRHIRIT R SRR
and term deposits with original HRBB=EA
maturity over three months TEHATF R (701,212) (199,867)
395,457 490,177
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INFORMATION

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman

Islands with limited liability. The registered office address of the
Company is P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,

Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the

Company's subsidiaries were primarily engaged in the production and

distribution of raw milk in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC").

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Inner Mongolia Shengmu High-tech
Farming Co., Ltd.
("Shengmu High-tech”)* (note (i)
AERLHERSREERAF
(MBI (L)

Inner Mongolia Shengmu Holding
Co., Ltd. ("Shengmu Holding")*
(note (i)

AR HEBIERAR AR
(FEEHIZERR ) (PREE (1))

Bayannur Shengmu Pangu Farming
Co., Ltd. ("Shengmu Pangu”)*
(note (i)

EBEsRmERBLHEARR
BEAR( RS ) (B G)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

AR RSz,
AR R & i

PRC/

Chinese Mainland

hE
el

PRC/
Chinese Mainland

=
b Bt

PRC/
Chinese Mainland

=0
REAM

Registered
share capital

AMmRA

RMB
888,700,000

AR®
888,700,000 7T

RMB
280,000,000

AREE
280,000,000 7T

RMB
80,000,000

AR®
80,000,000 7T

Notes to Financial Statements
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1. EIREEEH

RRAAR—HRFSHFESTMAZH
BEHENBR A - ARQ AR M
#% = B 4k A P.0. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,

Cayman Islands °

RRBH—RAREERRF - RAEF

B ARFNMHMEBLQ

AIEBREFEA

RAMB(THE DRELEERSHR

K -

BEME QB HER

ARAEEHBATMEENT -

Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company

ARRRERERD L

Direct Indirect
BHiZ ik
— 100

— 100

— 55

Principal
activities

Production
and distribution
of raw milk
JREH

Production
and distribution
of raw milk

Production
and distribution
of raw milk
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

i The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by the
management of the Company to directly translate their Chinese names as these
companies did not register any official English names.

Note:

(i) The entity was registered as a foreign investment enterprise under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs”) (which include all
International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
standards ("IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain biological assets,
agriculture produce and derivative financial liabilities which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. TEHHEE »
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 1 4RBEAE »)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has, less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,

including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the

investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that

such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill) liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continved)
GOING CONCERN

The Group had net current liabilities of RMB867,205,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: net current liabilities of RMB195,588,000). In view
of the net current liabilities position, the board of directors has given
careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.

Having considered the unutilised banking facilities and cash flow
projections for the year ending 31 December 2024, the directors are
satisfied that the Group is able to meet in full its financial obligations as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors have

prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first time for

the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
GOING CONCERN (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs that are applicable to the
Group are described below:

(a)  Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
The Group has disclosed the material accounting policy information
in note 2 to the financial statements. The amendments did not have
any impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation of any

items in the Group's financial statements.

(b)  Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The
amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since the Group's
approach and policy align with the amendments, the amendments

had no impact on the Group's financial statements.

(c)  Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope of
the initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred
tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and
a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION continvea)

GOING CONCERN (Continued)

(d)

Amendments to IAS 12 International 7ax Reform - Pillar Two
Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception from
the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from
the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure requirements for the
affected entities to help users of the financial statements better
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes,
including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income
taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is
effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods
in which the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted
but not yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the scope of the
Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not have any impact to

the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that have been

issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group

intends to apply these revised IFRSs, if applicable, when they become

effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the 2020 Amendments”)!

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the 2022 Amendments”)!

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be applicable

to the Group is described below.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continvea)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between
the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the

IASB. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of
the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e.,, 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected

to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. TEHER 2
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EfEH#F1E i R EFLAY

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continvea)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also
clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and
that only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted
for as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among

(55 B4R Bt 75 2 25 2B Bl ()
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covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those FEFIE—DRBEEERLTHEERN
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect ﬁ%i@%’qqﬂ EZREEEERERL

the classification of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
early application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments
early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments
and whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continvea)

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of supplier
finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’'s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the
amendments is permitted. The amendments provide certain transition
reliefs regarding comparative information, quantitative information as
at the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a
currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is
lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency
not being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
or to the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in
a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. TEHHER =
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EBEKE:HEE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it
has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not

control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's share of
net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting

policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates or
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments in
the associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of

the Group's investments in associates or joint ventures.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (Continuea)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture
or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all
other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence
or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as
held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (Continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the

separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any

resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain

purchase.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or

groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for

goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and

the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its biological assets and agricultural produce at
fair value less costs to sell at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act

in their economic best interest.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continuea)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’'s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising

the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:
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Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets F—E — WHEMNEELEEGER
for identical assets or liabilities EEMISE IS WmE
(RIS
Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is F= — HERMmAEASEA
observable, either directly or indirectly FEFEMSBEKX
B &K B AR TS
Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level B R E E R
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is =
unobservable
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continuea)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, contract assets,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties and non-
current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the assets’
recoverable amount is estimated. An assets’ recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit

to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-

generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in

accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and

that person
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(a) fHEZTBATALTEZALHLI
oW HEZAL

(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) fEHlskkEESIALR

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (il HEREEBEERTEN
B9

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group (i) BEEASKBEXAEETD

or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(iif)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group; and the sponsoring employers of the post-

employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it
is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5, as
further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its

intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property,

plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual

assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose

are as follows:

Buildings

LY

Machinery and equipment
2

Office and other equipment
WA R H AR

Motor vehicles

EBHTE

2. EH R =
24 BEXEFTHE =

ME - BERRBENEE)

WEDRE G AIEAFHUNESRE
HE - EDE - BERIESEEN
AWM EEFIAREE - FULATER
WEZFEMAT :

Useful lives Residual values

A fEAFH FerEE
20 years 5%
204 5%
5-10 years 5%
5-104F 5%
5years 5%
54 5%
5years 5%
54 5%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. TEHHEE »
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24BXKE:HHE o

(continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales

proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of

property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Biological assets comprise dairy cows and beef cattle. Dairy cows include
milkable cows, heifers and calves which are raised by the Group for the
purposes of producing raw milk. Beef cattle are raised by the Group for

sale.

Biological assets are measured on initial recognition and at the end of the
reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell, with any resultant
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss for the year in which it arises.
Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal
of an asset, mainly transportation costs and excluding finance costs and
income taxes. The fair value of biological assets is determined based on
its present location and condition and is determined independently by

professional valuers.

The feeding costs and other related costs including the depreciation
charge, utility costs and consumables incurred for the raising of heifers
and calves are capitalised, until such time as the heifers and calves begin

to produce milk.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. TEHHEE =
24 B KEFBEER 2

(continued)

AGRICULTURAL PRODUCE

Agricultural produce represents raw milk. Upon harvest, agricultural
produce is recognised at its fair value less costs to sell, which is
determined based on market prices in the local area. The costs to sell are
the incremental costs directly attributable to the sales of the agricultural
produce, mainly transportation costs, excluding finance costs and income

tax.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are

reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on

a prospective basis.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL) (Continued)
TECHNICAL KNOW-HOW

Technical know-how is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is

amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 to

B EE (BB (8)

SR p SIS

Pl &0 58 22 A AN R A e R B &5 18 5
B WREFTAIEBFEHI0E204F

20 years. LESEHE -
COMPUTER SOFTWARE B st
Computer software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is B B 4 AR N R AT Rk (B S 1B B

amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 to

10 years.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as

incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure

which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding five to
seven years, commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is/ or

contains, a lease. A contract is/ or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for

all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-

of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
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Useful lives

£ 1

Leasehold land

HE L

5to 50 years
5E 504

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of
the asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

LEASES (Continued) HE(#)

GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEBEREMEA (E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEBME

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. TEHHEE =
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24BXKE:HE o

(continued)
LEASES (Continued)
GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment and laptop computers that
are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

GROUP AS A LESSOR

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they

are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as

finance leases.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for

“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified and measured

at fair value through profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT (Continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the

Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (DEBT INSTRUMENTS)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (DEBT INSTRUMENTS)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised
in other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of profit or

loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (EQUITY INVESTMENTS)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of
equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-

instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the
statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income
in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a
recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not

subject to impairment assessment.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in the statement of

profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. BETHE 2
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24BXE:HE

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued) RERHMWERNEE (4F)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS RAVFEFTABENEREE(E)
(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or ERMARGAN(REsRMAERIES
non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a MERB)NTETEAHFHEREEEAR
separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not FREBENSESERRR 0 BEER
closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms ARTETEERGEROER AR
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; APTETAEMNTESE  BEAAHNIIE
and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or BREZEAFEFZE  AZTET
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in BHEFEIFAVIERERITETAY
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment @E cMARITAETAEATEE -
only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that NEBEEEFAERER - EEEY
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or f%?ﬁ(tﬂfﬁ """"" AE) o KRBk E MR T
a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit MERenER  ERISEEEA
or loss category. FEFAERNEREEESHHE

B JETTEREE o

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial BRARGEHN(BEeMEELRE)N

asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host PMETETSERIE - eMEEE

together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its RERRARNITELRBAERBSER

entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss. BAFEGFABENEREE -

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS BIFEREMEE

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part EATERAT  emEE(KEERE

of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., AT SREENBHIH—BEUS

removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) MEEMNED ) EBS WK IEFER R

when: BARSKERNGZEEPBARRKPIIL)

®  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or o WHZEEMSERESREMNHET

BEm 5

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the o AEBEEHEHZEHEKNZEEMS
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows ReRENESN  HERENE
in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through” FIRHERBHFE=FENE
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially AIERAE R T RES BT
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither BReMEMET: UR@AF
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of SEDERZEBEEENBARLS
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. [BL R K Bl 5] ;2K (b) AN & E i?ﬁ
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B K [ @E@;E%EZIE\QEE’U
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. BEHHEER 2
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24BXE:THE o

(continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the

Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the

Group could be required to repay.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are

integral to the contractual terms.

GENERAL APPROACH

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)
GENERAL APPROACH (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there has been a
significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more

than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual

cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages

for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the

simplified approach as detailed below.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

GENERAL APPROACH (Continued)

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

SIMPLIFIED APPROACH

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant

financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient

of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group

applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified

approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead

recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting

date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its

historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors

specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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31 December 2023 20234 12 A31 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4

(continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an

effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable

transaction costs.
The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, an

amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative financial

instruments and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)
SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their

classification as follows:

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as
defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include any interest

charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and
only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from
the Group's own credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit

or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST (TRADE AND OTHER
PAYABLES, AND BORROWINGS)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables and interest-bearing
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation

process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included

in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted
for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of
the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when

appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
INITIAL RECOGNITION AND SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge its foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at
fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive

and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are
taken directly to the statement of profit or loss, except for the effective
portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive
income and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on a weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with
a maturity of generally within three months that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in

value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on

demand and form an integral part of the Group’'s cash management.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided

that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is

presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and

practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting

purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not

give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences;
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reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. TETHEEK 2
Q4B KEFAHBER 2

(continued)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. BEHHEER 2
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24BXE:THE o

(continued)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods

that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and

released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the grants are
recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary assets and released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant
assets by equal annual instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no or at a
below-market rate of interest for the construction of a qualifying asset,
the initial carrying amount of the government loans is determined using
the effective interest rate method, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Financial liabilities” above. The benefit of the government
loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is
the difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and the
proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant

asset by equal annual instalments.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in

exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently

resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using
the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)
SALE OF PRODUCTS

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the products.

REVENUE FROM OTHER SOURCES

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are

incurred.

OTHER INCOME

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the

financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the

dividend can be measured reliably.

CONTRACT ASSETS

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the contract terms, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to
impairment assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade

receivables when the right to the consideration becomes unconditional.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers

control of the related goods or services to the customer).

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

PENSION SCHEME

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operates in Chinese
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal governments. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central

pension scheme.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for equity

instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and

end of that period.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. BEHHEER 2
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24BXE:THE o

(continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are

also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance

and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share

dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

TERMINATION BENEFITS

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination

benefits.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of

funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the purpose of
obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate has been applied to the

expenditure on the individual assets.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Interim dividends
are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company's
memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and

declared.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 2023 12431 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 2. BEHHEER 2
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24BXE:THE o

(continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary

items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group's
net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit or
loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on

those monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also

recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the

Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the

advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the

transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative

amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is

recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign

operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are

translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts

recognised in the financial statements:

WITHHOLDING TAX ARISING FROM THE DISTRIBUTIONS OF DIVIDENDS

The Group's determination as to whether to accrue for withholding taxes
arising from the distributions of dividends from certain subsidiaries
according to the relevant tax jurisdictions is subject to judgements on
the timing of the payment of the dividends or the amount of profits to
be retained by the relevant subsidiary. As at 31 December 2023, the
deferred tax liabilities recognised thereon amounted to nil (2022: Nil).

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described

below.
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31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

FAIR VALUE OF BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

The Group's biological assets are valued at fair value less costs to sell.
The fair value of biological assets is determined based on either the
market-determined prices as at each year end adjusted with reference to
the species, age, growing condition, cost incurred and expected yield of
the milk to reflect differences in characteristics and/or stages of growth
of biological assets; or the present value of expected net cash flows from
the biological assets discounted at a current market-determined rate,
when market-determined prices are unavailable. Any changes in the
estimates may affect the fair value of the biological assets significantly.
The independent qualified professional valuer and management review
the assumptions and estimates periodically to identify any significant
change in fair value of biological assets. Further details are given in note

16 to the financial statements.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at
its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out in
“Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised

less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

The fair value of a financial guarantee contract is determined based on
either the credit rating of the warrantee and the risk-free interest rate.
The determination of each warrantee and the risk-free interest rate
of each guarantee contract involves significant estimate. Any changes
in the estimates may affect the fair value of the financial guarantee
contracts significantly. The independent qualified professional valuer
and management review the assumptions and estimates periodically
to identify any significant change in fair value of financial guarantee

contracts. Further details are given in note 24 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

FAIR VALUE OF UNLISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on a market-
based valuation technique as detailed in note 21 to the financial
statements. The valuation requires the Group to determine the
comparable public companies and select the price multiple. In addition,
the Group makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group classifies the fair value of these investments as
Level3.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the
end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested
for impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate

the present value of those cash flows.
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4. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 4. SHEUWA - Hittlg A
GAINS KUk zs
An analysis of revenue is as follows: SHEWMA DT -

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT

Revenue from contracts with customers RERFELMEERA 3,383,629 3,176,253
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS REEFEHNNHEEWRA
(a) DISAGGREGATED REVENUE INFORMATION (@) SHEWAERBHA
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Segment o SRR AL Sale of raw milk
HEREI SHE R
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
Type of goods EmER
Sale of products EmiHE 3,383,629 3,176,253
Geographical market HETH
Chinese Mainland R Y AT D, 3,383,629 3,176,253
Timing of revenue recognition LN
Goods transferred at a point in time RE—REERNE R 3,383,629 3,176,253
Revenue recognised in the current reporting period that was SIAREHUNEHEERRKR
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting MEHNBERHEERARERAR
period amounted to RMB232,000 (2022: RMB55,000). #232,0007C(20224F : AR
55,0007T) °
(b) PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION (b) FEHNEME
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods BAEE TR RS & R EK
and invoice and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days from BRERNRBEAEEB R
invoice. 30E90 HAZRIHES -
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4. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 4. SHEWA - Hittlg A
GAINS (continved) &q&é(%)
INFORMATION ABOUT A MAJOR CUSTOMER EE—EEXEEZEFNER
Revenue of RMB3,226,136,000 (2022: RMB2,906,573,000) was derived §H & W A A R %3,226,136,000 7T
from sales of raw milk to a single customer, including sales to a group of (20225 : A R #2,906,573,0007T )
entities which are known to be under common control of that customer. RERE—RFHEHEREY  B1EM

EMXZEP ARENN—EERH
ERE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBET T ARBF T

Other income and gains N N
Other income Ealg A
Beef cattle SES 66,134 147,409
Raw materials R 70,449 12,007
Total other income R N L 136,583 159,416
Other costs H AR
Beef cattle e (66,134) (147,409)
Raw materials R (70,721) (12,374)
Total other costs H A B (136,855) (159,783)
Government grants* IR 475 A 45,198 12,893
Bank interest income RITH B YA 18,733 8,314
Other interest income from financial assets BAFEFABENEREE
at fair value through profit or loss Z HAF S UA 10,822 8,945
Foreign exchange differences, net SN ZE B FEE 354 (2,658)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWME - BEKEE
plant and equipment 18 B M ET1E (5,141) (3,204)
Impairment loss of items of property, W - WEMRERERERE
plant and equipment — (8,179)
Impairment of inventories FERE (3,511) —
Gain on partial disposal of an associate BB & — A & R BRI — 25,741
Others HAh 6,136 4,624
Total other income and gains = Nk 72,319 46,109
The government grants have been received for the Group's contribution to the . AEEREEMIABRITENEREM
development of the local farming industry. There are no unfulfilled conditions or B tOATURER B AT A AL o sZE RN
contingencies attaching to these grants. TS R ARER R R B F IR -
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31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

5. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 5. BR¥LATEF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEBOBRBE AL RN, (GEA)
U TEBEREH
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKA 2,358,609 2,163,571
Loss arising from changes in fair value EYEEAFESERNEE R
less costs to sell of biological assets EAWEBE 706,302 291,385
Fair value changes of financial B EREHNN AT EES
guarantee contracts 124 1,584
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4% - ME MR EITE 171,924 156,160
Less: Capitalised in biological assets W EMEEERL (65,554) (50,058)
Depreciation recognised in the consolidated RiFeEa RAMEEYERER
statement of profit or loss ERITE
and other comprehensive income 106,370 106,102
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 20,847 6,470
Less: Capitalised in biological assets B EWMEEER (1,375) (954)
Depreciation recognised in the consolidated RireEskEmEmEmksE
statement of profit or loss ERNITE
and other comprehensive income 19,472 5516
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hofh i & A 8 1,513 1,232
Less: Capitalised in biological assets o EMEEERNME (203) (359)
Amortisation recognised in the consolidated RieEEREMEEmKER
statement of profit or loss TR B2 5
and other comprehensive income 1,310 873
Research and development costs GIREID RN 7,093 7,158
Lease payments not included in AT AMHESGEF=ENHEENK
the measurement of lease liabilities 14,147 9,654
Auditor's remuneration 1% B 7 B 2,580 2,580
Foreign exchange differences, net SN ZE BT R (354) 2,658
Reversal of impairment on financial SRR ENEERBERRE FE
and contract assets, net (1,651) (231)
Impairment losses of property, W - BE MR ERERE
plant and equipment = 8,179
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31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

S Al S,
PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continved) 5. BR¥BiIAER )
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREF T
Provision for litigations and claims AR RERE = 35,737
Gain on partial disposal of an associate o & — e A R Al — (25,741)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BEKXEBEENEE
plant and equipment 5,141 3,204
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ {EERAFASZ(BIEEEN
and chief executive's remuneration (note 7)):  Em T A BHFB (FH:E7)) ¢
Salaries and allowances e KOERh 307,407 279,655
Other social insurances and benefits E =R M AEF 24,724 20,393
Equity-settled share option expenses LA 5 e 4 5 ) B AR AR B <2 32,475 19,687
Pension scheme contributions RIREFHEIHER 12,775 10,966
Total HEt 377,381 330,701
There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the MEa AR EIEREEFEREMH
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. FOKF 2 B8 MK -
FINANCE COSTS 6. A& A
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR T T
Interest on bank loans and other loans RITERREMEFFE 52,295 63,918
Interest on short-term notes MHmE SN B 648 80
Fair value loss on interest rate swaps ME AT EEE — (7,172)
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBEFE 161 620
Total HEt 53,104 57,446
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31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

7. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 7. EERBSITHAE

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

& B
KEEEEREBTRABHHIIE
T ARE BB A F 125 38301
(@~ (o) () ROIERARRRI(REE
BRI AR ROIE 2 BTBE - LB
T

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB'000 RMB'000

AREET T AREFTT

Fees we

Other emoluments: E b -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R EEMN =
Pension scheme contributions RIS FTEIER
Share-based payment expenses AR BERER A KA X
Subtotal NEE

Total BET

600 600
4,921 5455
43 41
4,125 2,475
9,089 7,971
9,689 8,671

During the year, certain directors were granted share award, in respect
of their services to the Group, under the share award scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements. The share award was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for the current year
is included in the above directors’ and chief executive's remuneration

disclosures.
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Notes to Financial Statements

7. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continved)

(a)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the

year were as follows:

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

7. EBEERERSITHRAER
FrEM )

(@) BIAFHITES

FAZNFEIIENTEETNHE
£mr

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREET T ARBF T

Mr. SUN Yansheng BRIEA A 200 200
Mr. WU Liang RenfAE 200 200
Mr. WANG Liyan FIERE 200 200
Total st 600 600
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non- FAN - BERNTEBIENTEEN

executive directors during the year (2022: Nil).

H MR (20224 &) o
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31 December 2023 20234 12 31 H

7. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 7. EERERSITBRAR
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (ontinved) Fr i =)
(b) EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND (b) BITES - FHTESERER
THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE SITHAE

Salaries,
allowances Pension Share-based
and benefits scheme payment Total
in kind contributions expenses remuneration

LR %

e 2 RIS £= 254
e KREWEFN AKX IXExX H#WEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTRT ARETRT AR¥TRT ARETR

2023 20234

Executive director: MITEE

Mr. ZHANG Jiawang BRI KL - 4,921 43 4,125 9,089
Non-executive directors: FMITES

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun HEELE — — - — -
Mr. ZHANG Ping RELE - — - — -
Mr. LU Minfang EHp R E - - — - —
Mr. SUN Qian s Sites — — - - -
Ms. SHAO Lijun MBEELL — - — — —
Total Bt — 4,921 43 4,125 9,089
2022 2022 F

Executive director: WITEE

Mr. ZHANG Jiawang RRIE K E - 5,455 41 2,475 7971
Non-executive directors: FMITES :

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun HEELTE — — — — —
Mr. ZHANG Ping RELE — — — — —
Mr. LU Minfang EfpE — — — — —
Mr. SUN Qian s St — — — — —
Mr. SHAO Genhuo BB - - — — —
Ms. SHAQ Lijun MEELL — — — — —
Total 4Bt - 5,455 41 2,475 7,971
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8. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 8. TEmEHMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included one director AEE AémmgHEERE &
(2022: one), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 7 above. BEF0Q002F: —&) HFBFES
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2022: four) HRNEXHFET7 e REE - 2 TFOA
highest paid employees, who are neither a director nor chief executive of (2022 : MR)WIEARRREERIE
the Company are as follows: BEaTBAENR=EEFHFBO
T~

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEEMER 13,148 11,044

Pension scheme contributions IRRE FTEIH R 167 129

Share-based payment expenses VAR 1 B E R 5B 2 7,003 4,202

Total #ast 20,318 15,375

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid FHMN T T BN &REEHES (3F
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as FEERFERTHRAE)HMAZMT -

follows:

Number of employees

BEAH

2022
2022 %

HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 77T 2,500,00078 7T — —
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 2,500,001 7T 3,000,000 47T — 1
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 3,500,001 B7CE 4,000,000/ 7T 1 —
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 4,000,001 7T & 4,500,00078 7T = -
HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 4,500,001 BT E 5,000,000 7T — 2
HKD5,000,001 to HKD5,500,000 5,000,001 72 5,500,000 57T = -
HKD5,500,001 to HKD6,000,000 5,500,001 3T 2 6,000,000 57T — 1
HKD6,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 6,000,001 BT 6,500,000 47T 3 —
Total st 4 4
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9. INCOME TAX 9. Fi8#i

2023 2022

2023 F 2022
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T

Current - PRC BIER — A [

Charge for the year FARRXZ 3,074 -
Total tax charge for the year FARIER Y B 3,074 —
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit before BRE G EANRERS(Ke)
tax at the statutory tax rate for the country in which the Company and BARRNARREKRZ S B RRTER
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the KEEED EMIREREMEFENN
effective tax rate is as follows: ERZRFAEBENT

2023 2022

2023 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBTIT

Profit before tax B A5 B4 A 97,686 450,073

Tax at the statutory tax rate (note (i) BOAEMEFTEMIE () 24,422 112,518
Lower tax rate for specific provinces or BT A 0 skt 5 B AR A

enacted by local authority (note (jii)) RIBE R K (B 3% (i) 735 667
Income not subject to tax (note(ii) BARTUA (FIEE i) (29,485) (117,348)
Effect of withholding tax at 10% RNEE AR KB AT

on the interest paid by a PRC B ER10%

subsidiary of the Group FHETEIIR AT E 3,074 —
Tax losses not recognised RIERTIAE1E 4,328 4,163
Tax charge at the Group's effective RASEBRFE 3%

rate at 3% (2022: nil) (2022%F : B)FIEMNTIERX 3,074 —
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10.

Notes to Financial Statements

INCOME TAX (continued)

Notes:

(i) The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman Islands are not
subject to any income tax pursuant to the local rules and regulations. Hong Kong
profits tax has not been provided as there were no assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. Entities in the PRC were generally subject to the PRC
enterprise income tax rate of 25% for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
25%).

(ii) According to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (the "EIT Law"), the
Group's income arising from agricultural activities, such as dairy farming and
the processing of raw agricultural products, is exempt from income tax.

(iii) In accordance with “The notice of tax policies relating to the implementation of
the Western China Development Strategy” (B1E(3F. /BEBE. BXRFEER
(EARTEEFR S ARBECEMBHRBRMNAE) ), the Group's taxable income
arising from the processing of grass is subject to a preferential tax rate of 15%
from 2021 to 2030.

DIVIDENDS

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of
HKD1.13 cents (equivalent to RMB0.99 cents) per share was proposed
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board on 28 March 2023 and
was approved at the annual general meeting of the Company on 15
June 2023. The aggregate amount of the final dividend declared and
paid in the current year amounted to RMB87,184,000 (2022: nil) and was
appropriated from the Company's distributable share premium.

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 of
HKDO0.23 cents (equivalent to RMB0.21 cents) per share was proposed
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board on 26 March 2024 and
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the 2024 annual general
meeting. The proposed dividend is not reflected as dividend payable in
the consolidated financial statements.

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 2023 12431 H

9. Fﬁ?%*% (continued)

PRz

(i) ARA R R ETE 2 B S ek AR T B9 BT
A EIRAR & 3 8 1R Al K 5% 51 8 78 S AR
EFER - AEBW BEREBFIEH
FHREME L BN FANEERRE
ERERBURA o REIE 2023612831
HIEFE  ERENEE—HER25%

(20224 : 25%) KIBIERGMPBEIDEZE
FRi8®t o

(i) RE (hEARKNMBEEEMFTE)
( TREMBIE] ) @ AEEXBR
¥R (MPAEERDRRERSIN
T) AR BEMPAE -

(i) IREMEE - SHAE  ERBRISER
(RAREEPESB AR B EFTSRIEE
BAEY - AEBERAERINIAER
FUA B 2021 FE2030FBIZ15% KB
E-viES ¢

10. Iz 2

BIEEEER 20233 A28 HEIBH
RER - BEMEE 2022912 A 31
BIEFERESR1.13BWEEERA
R¥0.997)MRERKRE  WERAR
A)TE20234F 6 A 15 HER /TR R RIBF
RNEg LEME - ANFEEIRRIEMND
RNEAR E AR R AR 87,184,000 7T
(20224 : &) - BARR A A DR
DR ER BN -

BIEEEET 2024 F 3 A 26 HBIBH
RER - BERMEE2023F12 A 31
HIEFEIRE AR B SR 0.23 7L
(HERARB0215) - HARFRKRE
2024 FRRAFBFRE LHE - BUR
REWERIZAEMERERAZY AIE
BRE -
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The basic earnings per share amount is calculated by dividing the profit
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 8,244,327,000 (2022:
8,352,133,000) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of
RMB86,076,000 (2022: RMB416,460,000). The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation of 8,244,327,000(2022: 8,352,133,000) shares, plus the
weighted average number of ordinary shares which were repurchased

by the Company and the shares held under the Company's share award

11. B R el E @R EL S

BEAELESREF

FREARZN TIRIES QGRS
BA ABGERRFBRARFERD BT
TR A D AE 19 IR £8,244,327,000
(20224 : 8,352,133,000 )5t E o

BERBEFRANDDBEIAFTER
BREZFBEABGEFANZIAR
#86,076,0000(2022F : A R ¥
416,460,000 7T ) B LA D048 - 35 A% BT
B ARFIENIETFAREBHE
BREAAMNSHANFTFRNEETYE
A% S B 8,244,327,000 f% (2022 F :
8,352,133,000/% ) - MNA R A FTEE[E

scheme. LB RARIE AN B IR 2B 5T 2 AT
A RN NI -
Number of shares
& E
2022
2022 4
Shares [i&5)
Weighted average number of ordinary REt B BIRE R B
shares in issue during the year used in FrAMFERNE BT
the basic earnings per share calculation SRR N HE 15 £ 8,244,327,000  8,352,133,000

Effect of dilution — weighted average number BCE R — Ry

of ordinary shares: hnieFg
Share award & 17 42 E)
Total st

82,250,000 39,366,000

8,326,577,000 8,391,499,000
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31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2023, net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions

Reclassification

Transfers

Disposals

Depreciation provided
during the year

Transfers to other intangible
assets (Note 14)

At 31 December 2023, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 31 December 2023
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

and impairment

Net carrying amount

2023F 128310
R2023F1 A1E
[R1E

2EE

REFE

R2023F 1818
MR 2HE

NE
EHNR
LT

2023128318
MR RFHERRE

R2023F12A31H
[RE
ZEHTERAE

FREFE

Notes to Financial Statements
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12. 9% - MERRE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Machinery
and

Buildings  equipment

BEY HENRHE

RMB'000
ARETR

RMB'000
ARETR

Office

and other
equipment
N
HitR
RMB'000
AREBT T

Motor Construction
vehicles in progress
HEIR
RMB'000
ARET T

EWIA
RMB'000
ARETR

Total

A5t
RMB'000
ARETR

2,195,954 470,567 156,605 7,554 21,291 2,851,971
(771,405)  (284,612) (88,799) (3,173) —  (1,147,989)
1,624,549 185,955 67,806 4,381 21,291 1,703,982
1,624,549 185,955 67,806 4,381 21,291 1,703,982
7,701 91,593 28,633 9,334 289,064 426,325

84 - (84) - - -
139,418 1,819 7,715 = (148,952) -
(1,509) (8,028) (1,203 (114) - (10,854)
(110,517) (38,869) (18,031) (4,507) - (171,924)
= = = = (2,391) (2,391)
1,459,726 232,470 84,836 9,094 159,012 1,945,138
2,340,454 526,298 181,904 15,672 159,012 3,223,340
(880,728)  (293,828) (97,068) (6,578) — (1,278,202)
1,459,726 232,470 84,836 9,094 159,012 1,945,138
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31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. 9% - MENRRE =)

(continued)
Machinery Office
and and other Motor Construction
Buildings  equipment  equipment vehicles in progress Total
NS
BEY) KERZE  HEtFE EHIE  TRIE 5t
RMB000  RMBO000  RMB000  RMB000  RMBO0O0  RMB'000
AREBTT ARETE ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
31 December 2022 2022F 128311
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1E
Cost [R1E 2,111,155 442,147 138,804 3,489 1983 2697578
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (663,585)  (254,772) (77,386) (2,198) - (997,941)
Net carrying amount BEEE 1,647,570 187,375 61,418 1,291 1983 1,699,637
At 1 January 2022, net of R202%1818
accumulated depreciation Nk 2EHNE 1,447,570 187,375 61,418 1,291 1983 1,699,637
Additions RE 26,172 37,183 17,438 4,667 88,377 173,837
Reclassification BN E - 30 - (30) - -
Transfers ELE 63,031 717 5,321 - (69,069) -
Disposals & (3,291) (1,801) (563) (184) - (5,839)
Depreciation provided FRFERE
during the year (101,707) (37,659) (15,431) (1,363) - (156,160)
Impairment RE (7,226) 110 (377) - - (7,493
At 31 December 2022, net of M2022F 128318
accumulated depreciation Mk 2 ERRME
and impairment 1,424,549 185,955 67,806 4,38 21,291 1,703,982
At 31 December 2022 20225128318
Cost [R1E 2,195,954 470,567 156,605 7,554 21,291 2851971
Accumulated depreciation ZHTERRE
and impairment (771,405) (284,612) (88,799) (3173) —  (1,147,989)
Net carrying amount EEEE 1,424,549 185,955 67,806 4,38 21,291 1,703,982

During the year, there was reversal of impairment amount of
RMB478,000 due to disposal of property, plant and equipment (2022:
impairment amount of RMB8,179,000) was recognised for certain
property, plant and equipment. There was no recoverable amount which
has been determined at the level of the cash-generating unit based on a
value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections. The cash-generating
unit mainly consists of property, plant and equipment allocated to the

other segments.
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Notes to Financial Statements

13. LEASES

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the
leased land from the owners with lease periods of 3 to 50 years. Leases
of plant and machinery, motor vehicles and other equipment generally
have lease terms of 12 months or less and/or are individually of low
value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets outside the Group.

(@) RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the

movements during the year are as follows:

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 20234 12 531 H

13.fHE

REBEREBEA

AEEARANEXBEENZ ERE
HEMBEEAK - DIRANEH XK
NHRAREERBEEBRIE0FH
ME L - BB RS - E@ T AN
REMRENHABEE R 1288
T RASERREOEERE - —
RmE  ARENSRNEEAIA
TEEROHEHEERE -

() EREEE

FAXKEEREEREMNEREE
KEBMT :

Leasehold land

HE L

RMB'000
ARBT T

As at 1 January 2022 R2022F1H1H
Additions NE
WERX

Depreciation charge

As at 31 December 2022
and 1 January 2023

Additions NE
Depreciation charge meEMx
Lease modification HEES

As at 31 December 2023 202312 A31E

519,306
41,232
(6,470)

A2022F 12 A31 B % 202391 A1H

554,068
52,445
(20,847)
10,063

595,729
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31 December 2023 20234 12 31 H

13. LEASES (continued)

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued)
(b) LEASE LIABILITIES

13. 108«

REBEREMEA )

(b) HEBE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during FAMESENRABLRESN
the year are as follows: T
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREF T
Carrying amount at 1 January B1 A1 BHEERmEE 13,383 —
New leases g 48,054 15,499
Accretion of interest recognised FNERNH BIEE
during the year 161 620
Lease Modification HEgE 8,461 -
Payments (BN (18,126) (2,736)
Carrying amount at 31 December B2 A31 BHREREEE 51,933 13,383
Analysed into: DT
Current portion BIHAER > 13,380 2,586
Non-current portion FEBNHARE 2 38,553 10,797
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as (c) RERPEREHEEBENIEE
follows: wmr
2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 161 620
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ {# FAEE EFERI L 19,472 5516
Expense relating to short-term leases HGEHEERENAY 13,877 7,885
Expense relating to leases of low-value HEEEEEHRE
assets BRAMRX 270 1,769
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIEEERNAEEE 33,780 15,790
(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31 to the (d) FAERS T BN BREMN

financial statements.
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14. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 20234 12 531 H

14. Hitn B\ EE

Technical Computer

software Total

EREIES S

RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T AR®T T

know-how

54t R
RMB'000
ARBET T

31 December 2023
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of

2023512831 H

20231 A1 HAKAK -

accumulated amortisation bk Rt 8N — 9,145 9,145
Additions NE — 870 870
Transfer from construction BEZETREER(ME12)

in progress (note 12) — 2,391 2,391
Amortisation provided during the year F A §5 545 — (1,513) (1,513)
At 31 December 2023 202312 431 H — 10,893 10,893
At 31 December 2023 7R2023%F12 831 H
Cost [R1E 15,004 14,778 29,782
Accumulated amortisation and ERTE S LORE

impairment (15,004) (3,885) (18,889)
Net carrying amount IREDFE — 10,893 10,893

Technical Computer
know-how software Total
BT En B st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREEF T AREF T
31 December 2022 2022128 31H
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of 202251 A1 BERAK

accumulated amortisation OBk R AT 8 — 7,591 7,591
Additions NE — 2,804 2,804
Disposal s . (18) (18)
Amortisation provided during FREHEEE

the year — (1,232) (1,232)
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H — 9,145 9,145
At 31 December 2022 202212 A 31 H
Cost [R1E 15,004 11,598 26,602
Accumulated amortisation and RETEEERORE

impairment (15,004) (2,453) (17,457)
Net carrying amount REFE — 9,145 9,145
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15. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

15. R E QTN E

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREEF T

Share of net assets EIEEEFRE 23,353 34,352
The Group's trade receivable and payable balances with the associates AEBHEEERNRNE SRR KL ER

are disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the associates as at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

REBRIN B TS TR P R 34 AR ER ©

M2023%12H318 -

BT

AN

Place of

incorporation/

Percentage of
equity interests

Registered registration and attributable Principal
Name capital operations to the Group activities
DRI, REBENG

H18 HEMEAR M ERKE R REESLE FEEBTH

Food Union Shengmu Dairy Co., Ltd. Usb PRC/ 1.85%  Dairy processing
("Food Union Shengmu”) 111,000,000 Chinese Mainland

EREBAERIMERAT 111,000,000 B, 1.85% FLEMMNT
(IERmaER]) Er FERH

Inner-Mongolia Mengniu Shengmu RMB  PRC/ 49.00% Dairy products sales
High-tech Dairy Co., Ltd. 300,000,000 Chinese Mainland

NEERFERSR ARY  HBE 49.00% FLEMIHE
AmBRATA 300,000,0007C R EIAH

Inner-Mongolia Yiyingmei Dairy RMB  PRC/ 8.64%  Dairy processing
Co., Ltd. ("Yiyingmei") 250,000,000 Chinese Mainland

NEERBEAEARAA ARY  $B 8.64% ZFLELSEMT
(Tm8%]) 250,000,0007C HEIAHL

Mudanjiang Liang yuan Technology RMB  PRC/ 7.00% Feed processing
Co., Ltd. (" Liang yuan”) 100,000,000 Chinese Mainland

HATRIBER R BR DR ARE  BE 7.00% RN
(MR 1) 100,000,0007T R EIALH
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15. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continves) 15, RIEE A BIRNIRE o)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the
Group's associates that are not individually material:

TERABAREGFEFEANBZ A
BRI T E R

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREET T AREF T

Share of the associates’ profit and loss FE(LEEE AR EEER
for the year
Share of the associates’ total R E R RN 2 E KSR

comprehensive income

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REEREE QN RIRE
investments in the associates KRR S5

(10,174) (20,372)
(10,174) (20,372)
23,353 34,352

The Group's shareholdings in the associates comprise all the equity
shares held by the subsidiaries of the Company.

All the above associates have been accounted for using the equity method
in these financial statements. The Group has discontinued the recognition
of its share of losses of two associates because the share of losses of the
associates exceeded the Group's interests in the associate. The amount
of the Group’s total unrecognised share of losses of cumulatively was
RMB3,970,000 (2022: nil).

AREERBERAHFREEARA
F B8 2 B AT IS B B PR AR

RZEMBRES - FTA L8 &
NEHEAEREAER - AEEDF
IFHERENMEEE QA ENE
B AAZBLEARNELEERBA
REBRZEBERAMER - A%
ERFABERANEEEBEELEAAR
#3,970,0007L(20224F : &)
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16. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

(a)

NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

The biological assets of the Group comprise primarily dairy cows
held to produce raw milk and beef cattle raised for sale.

The quantity of biological assets owned by the Group as at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022 is shown below.

16. £EMEE

(a) EKME
AEBNEYMEET B OIERHE
FERBDNNG M AEEHEE
FBBALE -

K EER2023F12A318 &
202212 A3 BHEANEME
EHSRE AT -

2022
2022 4F
Head
GE}

Milkable cows paSEes
B - EF ALY

Heifers, calves and beef cattle

Total ET

64,193

64,355

83,836 71,989

148,029 136,344

The Group's biological assets include heifers and calves, milkable
cows and beef cattle. Heifers and calves are dairy cows that have
not had their first calves. In general, heifers are inseminated with
semen when they reach the age of approximately 14 months. After
approximately 9 months following a successful insemination, a
calf is born and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and the
lactation period begins. The heifers, at this time, will be transferred
to the group of milkable cows. A milkable cow is typically milked
for approximately 305 days before a dry period of approximately
60 days. The male calves will be sold when born while the female
calves will be bred for six months and then transferred to heifers.
Beef cattle will be bred for three to six months and then sold for
profits. The sale of biological assets is not the Group's principal
activity and the proceeds net of cost of sales are recorded as other

gains or losses.

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its biological
assets. In addition to the financial risks disclosed in note 37, the
Group is exposed to the following operational risks:

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A

AEBNEMEERBRAERT RE
£ RBFERAT c ERTRET R
REBBETONF - —RMEF > BX
FHEL1GEARKELE - RNZRBLE
GE AR BALLE MPHFRBE
ERFHNI FIA L o bR AR
A AR BB o BCREFTEA) 60 KA
YA —AREPHIB05K - FHER
BAERBBHE  MEBEFERENE
ARBABRLE - AT HERE3IES
EAROERRN - HEEMEEL T
EARBENEIZER  SIBRHEEK
PSSR T EE AR TR B A2 Hy e as
HEE ©

AEEMHEREEMEENSER
B o BREEE 37 W ORI RSN - AR
SEmEIATELRR



Notes to Financial Statements

16. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continvea)
(a) NATURE OF ACTIVITIES (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

REGULATORY AND ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
location in which it operates breeding. The Group has
established environmental policies and procedures which
aim at complying with local environmental and other
laws. Management performs regular reviews to identify
environmental risks to ensure that the systems in place are

adequate to manage these risks.

CLIMATE, DISEASE AND OTHER NATURAL RISKS

The Group's biological assets are exposed to the risk of
damage from climatic changes, diseases and other natural
forces. The Group has extensive processes in place which
aim at monitoring and mitigating those risks, including

regular inspections, disease control, surveys and insurance.

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from changes in the

price of the dairy products. The directors of the Company are of the

opinion that there are no available derivatives or other contracts

which the Group can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in

the price of the dairy products.

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 20234 12 531 H

16. EYWEE =

(@) XBMHEE)

(@i

(ii)

EERBRERAR
AEEABETHETER
P B B R R ROER »
AEECHESEHEETE
WIRE R EMEARNIRE
BREEF - BEEEETT
EHEE AR RERE
% - I WER P E B B R
RAEEZERR -

RIR - KRR EMBERE

A
ag
2N

REBOEYEER LR
BREREL  RKEEEM
BANENBIERER - KN
SECHIEAREREBEE
YR EZERR  BHE
HmE - KBTS #E
AR AR

AEBEAZIHRERES S
KH R FERR - ARREER
R AEBYWERRNTETA
FHEMAI AR A AN EE
A ERERTRORER o
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16. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)
(b) VALUE OF BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

The values of the Group's biological assets at the year end were as

16. £EMEE =
(b) EYMEEEE
MAE SR A S B A A (I I

follows: Nk
Heifers,
Milkable calves and
cows beef cattle Total
BRAF - BF
EAYF ST
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
31 December 2023 202312831 H
At 1 January 2023 7202391 A1H 1,993,986 1,124,465 3,118,451
Additions NE = 2,404 2,404
Increase due to raising BA] &) 12 32 1
(feeding costs and others) (BERA R EAD) — 1,227,900 1,227,900
Transfer R 733,554 (733,554) —
Decrease due to sales &R (324,562) (103,662) (428,224)
Loss arising from changes in NEEEHFBIEEE A
fair value less costs to sell EXErEE (472,820) (233,482) (706,302)
At 31 December 2023 M2023%F 12 A31H 1,930,158 1,284,071 3,214,229
Current E — 91,579 91,579
Non-current FEED 1,930,158 1,192,492 3,122,650
1,930,158 1,284,071 3,214,229
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Notes to Financial Statements
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16. EYWEE =

VALUE OF BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) (b) EMEEEBEGE)
Heifers,
Milkable calves and
COWS beef cattle Total
B
JpASEEs B RS st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFIT ARBFIT AREFIT
31 December 2022 2022%F 12831 H
At 1 January 2022 7R2022F 1 A1H 1,849,254 914,986 2,764,240
Increase due to raising B £ IR 12 11
(feeding costs and others) (BB A R EAh) — 1,098,759 1,098,759
Transfer [y 637,152 (637,152) —
Decrease due to sales &R (274,701) (178,462) (453,163)
Loss arising from changes NEEEHFBIEEER
in fair value less costs to sell EAREE (217.719) (73,666) (291,385)
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 1,993,986 1,124,465 3,118,451
Current D — 66,327 66,327
Non-current IERB 1,993,986 1,058,138 3,052,124
1,993,986 1,124,465 3,118,451

The Group's biological assets in the PRC were independently valued
by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited
("JLL"), a firm of independent professional qualified valuers not
connected with the Group, which has appropriate qualifications and

recent experience in the valuation of biological assets.

AEBEETENEYMEETI A
EBRTEXNERHERBERAT
(T 28T DBIGE - MPE
B 1T T A LN R [ 4 A B O 0B
VABRERMNEE  BEEE
MERINEEEMEETEA
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16. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 16. EMEE =)
(c) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (c) AFEER
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and REBEFATIERET R EE
disclosing the fair values of biological assets: EYEERATE
Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F—HR-—ERHEREESEER
identical assets or liabilities JER TSR R ARES
Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which all inputs which F oM -ER EEREEERR
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, HMmBLEEEEEN AT
either directly or indirectly BEERTE)NGHERE
Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which any inputs which FZR-ERTUBERITIHE
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are not based on BRNEM2EE(TAEBREE
observable market data (unobservable inputs) BE)EHEZHENAFEEEAY
B)NHESE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— EZR E=& st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTR ARETRT ARET:R

As at 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H — - 3,214,229 3,214,229
As at 31 December 2022 2022612 A31H - - 3,118,451 3,118,451
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16. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continvea)

(d)

DESCRIPTION OF VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED AND KEY (d)

INPUTS TO VALUATION ON BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the

determination of fair values within Level 3 of the hierarchy, as well

as the key unobservable inputs used in the valuation.

Notes to Financial Statements

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 20234 12 531 H

16. EWEE =

ST Y P PR E R

LER2EEFHE

TRINFREE R =R FER
FTAMEETEARGERA

MR ATBRBAE -

Type

bl

Valuation approach

fHET %

Key unobservable inputs

BETIRRSZE

Inter-relationship
between key
unobservable inputs
and fair value
measurements
BRTABE
SEZEENTEITE
ZBNAERE

Calves and heifers

BERBERT

The fair value of the heifers purchased
within 6 months prior to each reporting
date is determined with adjustment

by adding the feeding costs from the
purchase date to the reporting date.
REREAHAEAANEENEK
ERATEDNERRERREER
&Rz B FRKART FARZE -

For the calves and the rest of the
heifers, the fair value of 14-month-old
heifers is determined by referring to
the market price of the actively traded
market.
BESRAKRERIME - 14087
AEBRGNRATELERSERD
BRTHERETE °

Average market price of the heifers of
14 months of age:

RMB19,000 to RMB19,500 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB19,000 to RMB19,500).

14 EARARNBE K NTHTE :
HZE023F12A31 BIEFEAA
K% 19,000 EARK 19,500 7T
(2022 : AR¥19000TE AR
19,5007T) ©

The estimated fair value
increases when the market

price increases.

DRI - 5 ATE
1 -

ANNUAL REPORT F[Z 3R 2023

185



Notes to Financial Statements

¢ BB HmRMEE

31 December 2023 20234 12 31 H

16. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continved) 16. EYEE »)

(d) DESCRIPTION OF VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED AND KEY (d)

INPUTS TO VALUATION ON BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

FHEEMEEMAGER
KBRS EEFHIE (E)

Type Valuation approach Key unobservable inputs
Lisid) HERE BRATHEEZZE

Inter-relationship
between key
unobservable inputs
and fair value
measurements
BRTTER
SEERNTENE
ZENHEERE

The fair values of the heifers over

14 months of age are determined by
adding the breeding costs required to
raise the heifers from 14 months old
to the respective specific ages plus
the estimated margins that would be
required by a raiser.
BEGEARNERFNRTER
MEBBERFRILAAREEES
BREFRABOARAA - L
A RBEMEROMNEERE -
The fair values of the heifers under

14 months of age and the fair

values of the calves are determined
by subtracting the breeding costs
required to raise the heifers or calves
from the respective specific ages to
14 months old and the margins that
would be required by a raiser.
PMR1GEAROBR AR RTFER
BEOATEDRD BEERTHE
AREERTFRREE UEAK
PR B B R & PR SR A
HETE °

186 CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A



16. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continved)
(d) DESCRIPTION OF VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED AND KEY (d) FEEYMEEFMAMELE

INPUTS TO VALUATION ON BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
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16. EWEE =

KBRS EEFIE(E)

Type

Valuation approach

fhER A

Key unobservable inputs

BEAIERZSZE

Inter-relationship
between key
unobservable inputs
and fair value
measurements
BRTTHRR
SEERNTENE
ZENHEERE

Milkable cows

w4

The fair values of milkable cows are
determined by using the multi-period
excess earnings method, which is
based on the discounted future cash
flows to be generated by such milkable

COws.

KT RTHETER S HEEAN
EET  ZNERBRERETE
EENBRATASRET

For the quantity of the milkable cows,

assuming the number of the existing
milkable cows as at the year end will
decrease in the projection period at

The estimated fair value
decreases when the
estimated culling rate
increases.

certain culling rates due to natural or
unnatural factors, which include illness,
difficult birth, low milk production or
completion of all lactation periods, the
estimated overall culling rate ranges
from over 18% up to 100% along with
the increase of the number of the
lactation periods.

ARBENHENS  BRREANE
FHBRBASEERE TEAXHR
BAFFBRRR(BERR  BE
BENEF2BHABER)MRER
WD o R BREAXHEE RIS
BRI LA 18% Z100% ©

DA LA - st
AFIERD -
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16. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continvea)

(d) DESCRIPTION OF VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED AND KEY (d)
INPUTS TO VALUATION ON BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

16. £YEE »

FHEEMEEMAGER
KBRS EEFHIE (E)

Type

Valuation approach

ERERS

Key unobservable inputs

BEAIERZSZE

Inter-relationship
between key
unobservable inputs
and fair value
measurements
BRTTER
SEERNTENE
ZENHEERE

The calving interval (including

the dry period and open days) is
estimated based on historical data
and is assumed to be 400 days (each
milkable cow will give birth to a calf
every 400 days). This 400-day period
is one lactation cycle in this valuation

exercise.

BEBT SR - BREE(REL
AR R FAER R )RR 5 400 R (S EERK
BEEERA0RT T —HESE)
It 400 RERRITE UL ER A—EWD
B -

A milkable cow could have as many

as six lactation periods. The estimated
average raw milk production volume
per head for the lactation period ranged
from 10.5 tonnes to 12.8 tonnes for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 9.5
tonnes to 11.3 tonnes) depending on the
number of the lactation periods and the
individual physical condition.
GEREF R TEE AR
HE 2023512 A31 BILFEOEE
BEBIAAGETHRRNEEN
F105MEE12.8M8(2022F : 95 E
11.30) - RFEABORERERE
FAURE °

The estimated feed costs per kilogram
of raw milk for the year ended 31
December 2023 ranged from RMB2.20
to RMB2.95 (2022: RMB2.72 to RMB3.00).
HE2BENANBILFEST
RERPE G FAEREA : ARE
20 TEARB295TL(2022F « AR
BLI2TEARKI0TT) °

The estimated fair value
increases when the estimated
raw milk production volume

increases.

TR} A 242 s -
fhat R FEEA -

The estimated fair value
decreases when the estimated
feed costs per kilogram of
raw milk increase.

BT REHAMN G FE
BOAR BRI - Et AT A
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16. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 16. EYWEE =
(d) DESCRIPTION OF VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED AND KEY (d) FEEVEEMARERE
INPUTS TO VALUATION ON BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) FERSEEFIEE)

Inter-relationship
between key
unobservable inputs

and fair value

Type Valuation approach Key unobservable inputs measurements
BRTTHRR
SEERNTENE

bl EER BRIIBEEZEZE ZENHEEE

The estimated future local market prices  The estimated fair value

for raw milk per tonne for the year increases when the estimated
ended 31 December 2023 ranged from future local market price for
RMB3,760 to RMB4,950 per tonne (2022:  raw milk increases.
RMB4,590 to RMB5,103 per tonne).

BE2023F12A31 BILFEMNRE fhEt RRA SRR E
AAEARRGHERENTE : GEA LRS- AR RTELM
R 3760 TEARHK 4,95070(2022
F:GBEARBLIOTEARE

5,1037C) °
The discount rate was 13.00% for the The estimated fair value
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: decreases when the discount

14.00%), calculated by using the capital rate increases.

asset pricing model.

EREREETEREFE BZF HEEREE - AT
023F12ANALFENBERRS ERD -

13.00% (2022 : 14.00%) °
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16. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continvea)

(e) QUANTITY OF THE AGRICULTURAL PRODUCE PRODUCED
BY THE GROUP’S BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Raw milk R

16. EMEE =
(e) REBEVEEMELANE
EmAEE
2022
20224
Tonne
TR
726,154 648,551

()  GAIN ARISING ON INITIAL RECOGNITION OF AGRICULTURAL
PRODUCE AT FAIR VALUE LESS COSTS TO SELL AT THE
POINT OF HARVEST

() RBERSZELIFEREESE
RUnEIREmMmEL K

m

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR¥ET T

Raw milk JREH

3,324,055 3,123,604
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17. LONG TERM RECEIVABLES

18.

Notes to Financial Statements
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17. REAFEURFRIR

Contract amounts of

long term receivables

Present value of
long term receivables

ROEWFBEBENEE REEWFERE
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 F 20224 2023 & 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT INRSOM ARETT NG SO
Within 1 year 1ER 1,440 4,640 1,207 4,289
1to 2 years 15825 946 1,440 829 1,207
2to 5 years yEYE:S - 946 — 829
2,386 7,026 2,036 6,325
Less: Unearned finance income W REBRBERA (350) (701) — —
Present value of long term receivables ~ REIEKFIBERE 2,036 6,325 2,036 6,325
Portion classified as current assets R MER BN BB E

under other receivables B (1,207) (4,289) (1,207) (4,289)
Non-current portion SEENER AR 829 2,036 829 2,036

b 1—]

INVENTORIES 18. 8
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Consumables SFEm 24,714 30,917
Raw materials R 982,127 849,733
Total 4t 1,006,841 880,650

The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an expense was

RMB3,511,000 (2022: nil), which was recognised in revenue, other income

and gains (note 4).

BRAAINGEEMREEAARE
3,511,00070(2022F « &) - Jh R $H
EWA - bl A RS (FTsE4)

HERR o
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 9. ES EWFIE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Trade receivables =) & e 310,656 284,183
Impairment A (7,327) (7,327)
Net carrying amount BRTEFE 303,329 276,856

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. In
2023, the credit period is generally one month, extending up to three
months for major customers. However, the Group normally allows a
credit limit to its customers credit terms which are adjustable in certain
circumstances and closely monitors overdue balances.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. The trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEETZUNEETABERPETT
BE -MN2023%F  FEH-—RAE—E
A XEZFERE={A - A
AEE-RETEFP—EERBEH
RETERTHE) LT EmE s

AEE W ELE B 5 JE YRR R Fs
BEMERmRELEMBERTR -
ZE HRWIRAL BB o

REERR REZZAHRINKRE
BREENE S RWFIANRE DTN
T

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFTT

Within 3 months 3TEARA

4 to 6 months 4LZE LA

7 months to 1 year TEAEAF
1to 2 years 1227
Total 4t

302,688 276,639
= 217

228 —
413 —
303,329 276,856
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Notes to Financial Statements

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 20234 12 531 H

B S EIFIE 2

At beginning of year REF
Impairment losses FEEE
At end of year RER

ZHRrRWZKIBRESEREZ SN
T
2023 2022
2023 F 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARET T
7,327 7,327
7,327 7,327

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure ECLs. For special cases, management
will consider the corresponding expected credit losses separately. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other
forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more than one
year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

R&HmE RS R A REEREETR
BEAH  FTEEHEEBE - 5K
BT EBRE/SBIZRBEREESR
EEBE - BHXIDENARAEEE
UBEEANZEEF D EETHA
(BNEMER - BEPERIRTR - 54
FRHEMEERBEANRELE)M
BHMBBET - ZitERREE RN
*&m CEEREREELRNERSHB

SNEBBESEE - EAIR K
PKZ%/WIHBE?E;‘EUE‘\Jé\ﬁ&ﬂ%‘?ﬁ*ﬂr °
—RiME BHRBE-—FNEZFREK
FIBF MR IR - T T & BREUE A 58
BB o
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31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

20. A FRIE - HAEIR
MERHMEE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 FF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBET T ARBF T

Prepayments ARG

Deposits and other receivables e R E M B GRIE
Prepaid expenses AT E R

Total 5T

Non-current prepayments JEBNHATE (S k1B
Current portion BIEAER >

85,032 48,782
32,866 44,899
11,003 8,367
128,901 102,048
49,848 =
79,053 102,048
128,901 102,048

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent receivables from sales
of biological assets, employee loans and financial support to distributors.
Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date by considering the probability of default of comparable companies
with published credit ratings. After applying IFRS 9, an impairment
analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix
to measure ECLs. ECLs are estimated by applying a loss rate approach
with reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate
is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate.
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Notes to Financial Statements

21. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 20234 12 531 H

21 Hihe M EE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
DE=s ARET T AREF T
Unlisted investment, at fair value through ZAFEFFAEMEE KA
other comprehensive income, EEMIREGERE)
non-current (a) 61,000 57,000
Short term investment deposits HHR BN (b) 130,000 459,000
191,000 516,000
Current mE 130,000 459,000
Non- current IERE 61,000 57,000
191,000 516,000
Note: Fit 3
(@ The Group held a 9.12% equity interest in Bayannur Shengmu High-tech (a) AEERFEEEEEMEHRSRIERE
Ecological Forage Co., Ltd. ("Shengmu Forage”). The Group designated the equity BEAERAA([EHREZE]).12% &
investment as a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income e REER2014F1A1BEXER
upon initial application of IFRS 9 (2009) on 1 January 2014, as management B PR B 5 R 5 22 I 58 9 5% (2009 47 ) B 8
considered it a strategic investment for the purpose of securing high quality ZRAFERE AR AT EFAEME
raw materials in the long run. An accumulated increase in fair value for the year HEENeREE  RERAEEERR
ended 31 December 2023 with amounts of RMB4,000,000 (2022: decrease in fair D —IEHEERE - BNERABRRS
value, RMB34,200,000) had been recognized in other comprehensive income. HERME - BE2023F12 A31H1E
FEM R A TEE AR 4,000,000
TT(2022% : RAFERD - BARE
34,200,0007T) - EREMEEKERF
(b)  The above short term investment deposits were wealth management products (b) EEEHRETREHPEANMIRITE

issued by banks in Chinese Mainland. They were mandatorily classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest.

THEVER - EREHREFRR
BB ARRAFEFARENEHE
= REAREBREFERNEORDR
WIHEREAE RSN
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Bt 3% R R B 5

31 December 2023 20234 12 31 H

22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

Cash and cash equivalents
Time deposits with original

maturity of more than three months

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the consolidated statement of cash flow
Time deposits with original maturity of

more than three months (note (a))
Restricted bank deposits (note (b))

Less: Restricted bank deposits
Cash and bank balances

Analysed as:
Current

Non-current

Cash and bank balances

RERREFEY

[REHI R BB =1E A & HFR

REFEBRETREREIN
R MREEEY

REHABE=(EA
E #TE SR (YA (a)

ERHIRITER (M ()

o ZRBIRITER
Re RIRTTHER
DT

mE

R
e RIRITHERR

2. BERMITHEBRRS
PREIERITERR

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
225,021 420177
170,436 70,000
395,457 490,177
552,429 -
148,783 199,867
1,096,669 690,044
(148,783) (199,867)
947,886 490,177
395,457 490,177
552,429 -
947,886 490,177

The Group's cash and bank balances and pledged deposits were

denominated in the following currencies as follows:

REER S RIRITHESBH MG RFHA

THEREEHE -

Euro

United States dollars
Hong Kong dollars
RMB

Total

BT
X7
BT

AR¥

i3

1

RN

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
158 154

1,983 3,282

143 68,670
1,094,385 617,938
1,096,669 690,044
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Notes to Financial Statements

22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

Notes:

(a) Time deposits with original maturity over three months were held within banks
and carry interest at prevailing market rates of 3.0% to 3.3% (31 December
2022: 3.0% to 3.3%) per annum as at 31 December 2023. Certain commercial
acceptance bills with an aggregate balance of RMB50,000,000 (2022: nil)
were secured by the pledging certain of the Group's deposits amounting to
RMB50,000,000 (2022: nil).

(b) As at 31 December 2023, restricted bank deposits mainly included deposits for
the issuance of bank acceptance and the bank accounts which were frozen by
the Intermediate People’'s Court of Huhhot, further details are given in note 32 to
the financial statements.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Chinese Mainland 's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest rates.
Time deposits are made for varying periods depending on the cash
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective time
deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 20234 12 531 H

2. BERBITHEBRRS

PREIIRIT K =)

ff s

(@)  M2023F 128318 TARITHERE
HABB=FEANTHFRIEEF3.0%
=3.3% (202212 A318 : 3.0% &
33%)MIRITHIHF R B - A%
AR¥50,0000007T(20224F : T)KE
THEALZRBABIKAASESER
AR%50,000,0007C(20224 : T)HE
FIERIEER -

(b)  R2023F 128318 SRHBITHE
REZBEAERITAREZGFREH
AN T o AR A REBD R & SR 1T BR
F o B SHBERT BRI T
320

ARBTREHBRREMER - A
i AR A% P B A SN B B R AR B B
(HIE - EERNEETERE) A&
B E B R R IME R RV IRTT
HARELBAEMES -

RITFRLRITHENERAE - EH
FROERHT— BFAEENHR
THREME - WK E 75 =
BREUHI S - SRITHEBR B M F KT 17
RATEAY 2 MRC 8k B R B RIFVER
4

o

a
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¢ BB HmRMEE

31 December 2023 20234 12 31 H

23. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 2. ESBEARIEREN
=g
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables of the Group as at the RBERRTEENE FEFHIER
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: ENEREEZEBHAERR DT
T

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 FF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBET T ARBF T

Within 3 months 3EAMA 1,031,541 962,344
4 to 6 months LZE6EA 620,504 471,105
7 to 12 months 721218 A 44,257 26,049
1to 2 years 12246 4,982 16,640
2 to 3 years 2E3F 5,421 —
Total st 1,706,705 1,476,138
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled ZEESHENRIBEWLETE - HEX
within 90-day terms. BHi—#"90H -
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Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 20234 12 531 H

24 Htt R AR FAER
BH

Notes 2023 2022
Mot 2023 F 2022 FF
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBET T ARBT T

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

RAFHINEMATHIA (a)

Payables for taxes other than

corporate income tax 3,700 3,048
Payables for third parties’ deposits ERNE=F&s (a) 16,932 22,376
Long term payables due within one year R—FANEIHH (a)

B R — 28,940
Salary and welfare payables FERTE € RET 86,896 62,843
Payables for acquisition of items of WEEME - BB REE (a)

property, plant and equipment TH B W B 190,634 78,620
Payables for acquisition of Bayannur WEEE Zismm ERER (a)

Shengmu High-tech Ecological Food FRERMARAT

Co., Ltd. ("Ecological Food Shengmu”) ([ AERERR DB

5 — 5,000
Contract liabilities alaf 765 1,359
Provision for litigations and claims FARREEE 84,961 84,961
Financial guarantee contracts BB ERE L 2 2,216
Others Hth 6,889 6,816
Total Bt 390,779 296,179
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¢ BB HmRMEE

31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24, HiEAFRIE R FEIR

(continued) E (4&)
Notes: s -

(a) These payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of 90 days.

(b) Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 are
as follows:

ZEENFALER R - B ERY
/908

72023512 431 B ]2 2022412 431
BNREFEET

2023 2022
2023 5 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
Short-term advances received from customers B E 5T EITE T 5 E
- Sales of goods —EmiHE 765 1,359

(c) The financial guarantee contracts represent guarantees given to banks in
connection with facilities granted to Shengmu Forage. As at 31 December 2023,
the banking facilities guaranteed by the company were RMB160,000,000 (2022:
RMB199,529,000), out of which RMB68,963,000 (2022: RMB142,863,000) was
utilised by Shengmu Forage, disclosed in note 32 to the contingent liabilities. The
Group has no consideration received from guarantee contracts.

HBERAENERE TEREERE
i 1A 88 77 32 it 2 #E AR o F 40 BT 5 32
RBEABEAMHEE R2023F12831
H BARAERZEBITRERE
AARE160,000,0007T(20224F : AREE
199,529,0007T) * EA AR 68,963,000
J0(20224F + AR #142,863,0007T ) A
EHEXEHA AEETWEBIEREY
IRBUEA]RAE ©

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except for limited BRERNIERIN » AEEI EIR IS
circumstances. R

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of the ECL
allowance and the amount initially recognised less the cumulative amount of
income recognised. The ECL allowance is measured by estimating the cash
shortfalls, which are based on the expected payments to reimburse the holders
(i.e., the banks) for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the debtor (i.e., the associates and external distributors).

The credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts is classified as stage 1.
During the year, there were no transfers between stages (2022: Nil).

(d) As of 31 December 2023, A civil judgement in relation to certain payment
obligations, provision has been made with amounting to RMB84,961,000 for
the probable losses, which was reflected in other expenses of the financial
statement. Further details are given in note 32 to the financial statements.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A

MIBERE OIZBREREBREBRY)
FRERTERCERRTRASENR
BEE - REEEBBEREVRE
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RIT)FMEEEEE IR 2 RRMFRA
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Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 25. 5t BERIT R E{{EFK
OTHER BORROWINGS
2022
20225

Effective Effective

interest interest

rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BIERAE (%) HHE AR®Tr EGES) HHE AR®TR

Current B
Bank loans - unsecured RITIER - EIEH 0.87-3.26 2024 911,383 0.87-4.15 2023 795,610
Super short-term MR HEE - MR

notes - unsecured - - - 3.95 2023 100,000
Total - current st — AN 911,383 895,610
Non-current JEENE
Bank loans - unsecured IRITIER — B 2.4-3.20  2025-2030 1,219,856 26-305  2024-2025 944,640
Total - non-current @5t — 3R 1,219,856 944 640
Total st 2,131,239 1,840,250
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31 December 2023 20234 12 31 H

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND

25. st BERIT R E{h{EFK

OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) (%)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREET T AREFTT
Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: JEEZIRTTE
Within one year or on demand —FARKZEK 911,383 795,610
In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZFEFRTF
(BEEMFBREFEEAN) 1,088,610 944,640
Beyond five years AFE 131,246 -
Subtotal NEF 2,131,239 1,740,250
Other borrowings repayable: FEEZ H AL E RN
Within one year or on demand —FRRIREK — 100,000
Subtotal NET = 100,000
Total Bt 2,131,239 1,840,250
Notes: M3

(i) As at 31 December 2023, all of the Group's bank borrowings were denominated
in RMB.

(ii) The super short - term note with an aggregate nominal amount of
RMB100,000,000 were issued by the Company on 27 December 2022 in the Inter-
bank Bond Market in the PRC according to the approval by National Association
of Financial Market Institutional Investors. The super short-term note bear
annual interest rate of 3.95% and are repayable in 90 days.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A

(i) MR2023F 12 A31 8 AEBEKHZIIR
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A AR AEIR2022F 128278
FRITHEF MBS HTEAEEAARE
100,000,000 JTLHYFBAZ HARRE 5 © 325
HRESNEREAE3.95%  ARIOK
RIETE ©
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26. DEFERRED TAX

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if
there is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction of the
foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The
Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings

generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2023, no (2022: nil) deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that
are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established
in Chinese Mainland. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB2,465,432,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB2,360,134,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of

dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of
RMB33,908,000 (2022: RMB18,189,000) that will expire in one to five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the losses
of RMB33,908,000 (2022: RMB18,189,000) as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which

the tax losses can be utilised.

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 2023 12431 H

26. IRIEFHIE

BEFBEMEMEHE  MRRERA
MK BINE R EMFIMEEESIR
BB - EIR10% B RN - tEER
20084F 1 A1 B Ak - I3 A 7 2007
F1I2ANAERMARBT - f§F
R BRE SN E B FTE M R AR 2
MAHWHE - AEAMEINRER
K o REEEAERLER5%310% °
Bt - A B AR R B A H A S A
ZEWBARIAEB2008F1A1H#E
EERNEF IR BEMNTEIF

2023812 A31 0 TERAEE
AR B A b R S RO B B R R BB TR
MR E B & F & e TR R R
BRERIIE (2022 - &) - EFERE
RA]TBRER  ZEMBRARTKAA
BEDIRZERT - RERBELEHIES
EEBRRENTRAANHE AR NY
B 48 = 58 702023F 128318 42
A AR 2465432,0007T(2022
&+ AR 2360,134,0007T) °

AN A A BORK A B B3 PR 1S TR &2
@E o

REETEARENBEE Z BN —
ERFRNEMAEBEAZERR
Az B E & B A R #33,908,000T
(20224 : AR¥18,189,0007T) °

R E 1B A R #33,908,0007T(2022
£ ARM18,189,0007T) JI K B 4315
FlEEE—BREBEZHB AR BEER
Tt v FI 45 3R 4 7N K ] B8 FR PR K 88 AT &)
AzRHEEE  HIEREEEERE
RELEFRIBEEE ©
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31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

JL
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. Ig7AR
SHARES [i%)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 €
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Authorised: JETE :
30,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 30,000,000,000 & =RZEE
HKDO0.00001 each (2022: 30,000,000,000 0.00001 BITHYEBIR
ordinary shares of HKD0.00001 each) (20224 : 30,000,000,000 %
FFALEE 0.00001 78 A E3@A% ) 236 236
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
8,381,295,229 (2022: 8,381,295,229) 8,381,295,229 f&
ordinary shares (20224 : 8,381,295,229 f%)
LB 69 69
=
28. RESERVES 28. i
(@) MOVEMENTS IN COMPONENTS OF EQUITY (a) REZHVAERER D EE

(b)

(c)

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity in the financial statements.

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

The Group's contributed surplus represents the excess of the net
asset value of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company over
the nominal amount of the shares issued by the Company as
consideration pursuant to the Reorganisation and the warrants

exercised.

RESERVE FUND

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and the articles
of association of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group, the PRC
subsidiaries are required to set up certain statutory reserves,
which are non-distributable. The PRC statutory reserves can only
be utilised for predetermined means upon approval by the relevant
authority.
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(b)

(c)
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28. RESERVES (continued)

(d) SHARE OPTION RESERVE

The share option reserve comprises the share options granted
which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the
financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are exercised or
be transferred to retained profits should the related options expire
or be forfeited.

29. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 19 April 2022 (the "Adoption Date” and the “Grant Day |"), the Company
adopted a long-term share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”),
which shall remain effective for ten years, to recognise the contributions
by certain employees of the Group and to provide them with incentives
in order to: (i) improve the corporate governance structure to achieve
sustainable development of the Company; (ii) attract, retain and motivate
outstanding talents and build a common interest among shareholders,
the Company and employees; (iii) fully motivate the core employees and
continue to stimulate high-quality growth of the team performance; and
(iv) attract external talents for the Company. The board of directors had
approved three batches under the Share Award Scheme with amounting
to RMB35,000,000 in 2022, 2023 and 2024 for each batch, respectively,
which would vest 50% in the first anniversary of the grant date and
remaining 50% in the secondary anniversary of the grant date provided
that certain non-market performance and service conditions are met.
Upon acceptance of the Share Award Scheme, the grantee shall pay nil to

the Company as a consideration for the grant.

The Group does not have a past practice of cash settlement for these
share options. The Group accounts for the Share Award Scheme as an
equity-settled plan.

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 2023 12431 H

28. f#f@E =

(d) BRERE

BREREBERECRDA®ERT
B RERE - AABRRMBR
RMFE 24 AR RERA A
VEETECRPE— LN - &5
7% 7 FE1 A S AR A JE T T R B AR
EERP - ERAEERE
B HA sk 1R s 8 AMRBE IR o

29. IR {p 32 Rt 2

B2022F 4 A19B(THR B B H | &
[(HHBEBID  AREEMTFRE
B R EARR D SR B AT 21 ([ AR (0 22 B &1
g UEREAEBRLETREEFELZ
a@ Wi THRERBUONTER
WER BRARAMAIFER
@:nwa REBMABEIEBFAL
BERE  RAaEET xBNFEHE
FE : (i) o #AEZOE TERME -
SERBBBREENREENR &
(iVRAARRSIINBAL - EFE
ERE=HRND RS SHERE
%ﬁﬁa&ﬁ%sam&mOEvn%ME
2022 ~ 20234 K 2024F - R ®
PHENE—BAEFHEFEB 0% H
BR50% LR BEME —@EBEF AR
B EREE TIHEMSRERRS
BRI - B RENEHEIR - AR A
ARMARRZNETERERORE -

REBBEYEARSEEZFTER

W o KRB AR W B AR 51
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31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

29. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continved) 29. IR 1R EIETE) =)

206

Subject to any early termination as may be determined pursuant to the
rules of the Share Award Scheme (the “Scheme Rules”), the Share Award
Scheme shall be effective from the Adoption Date and shall remain in
full force and effect for a period of ten years from the Adoption Date.
Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the shares under the Share Award
Scheme will comprise existing shares of the Company purchased or to be
purchased by the trustee (the “Trustee”, a professional and independent
trustee appointed by the Company to assist with the administration of the
Share Award Scheme) on the open market. The Share Award Scheme
shall be subject to the administration of authorised representatives
authorised by the Board and the Trustee in accordance with the Scheme

Rules.

The board of directors granted the first batch of shares of RMB35,000,000
to 60 selected participants (equivalent to a total of 95,246,531 shares
have been granted by the Company to a total of 59 middle and senior
management personnel of the Group on the Grant Day | and 13,695,580
shares to Mr. Zhang Jiawang on 30 November 2022) under the Share
Award Scheme.

The board of directors granted the second batch of shares of
RMB35,000,000 to 67 selected participants (equivalent to a total of
87,388,000 shares granted by the Company to a total of 66 middle and
senior management personnel of the Group and 12,566,000 shares to Mr.
Zhang Jiawang) on 21 April 2023 under the Share Award Scheme.

The following table discloses the number of shares of the Company
granted to selected participants of the Share Award Scheme during the
reporting period:

Outstanding

BRAR IR A0 SRRt & A0 AR RI (T EH &R
A1l 1) A] BE R FE B L {A] S AT A& LS
Betn B2 DAt 81 B B B AR A 5k
I # B RA B BMERE T B8 RIE
R o RIBAD EERD T &) - RO BB AT
RN BAZFEATETEAL AR
AR E RN ER B MR ED
BEXMBUREAN)ERHMSLEER
HEEBENARNR AR B RO AK
B R EBIERESTE REEAR
BEEFEIMARENRERRERE -

EESRBRM BT 2R 602ETE
2 EEEEE AR 35000000
T RGO (HERARARRE L A HI
MAEEAERNEZRRREEAER
95,246,531 &A% 1D - 120225 11 A
30 H A 5R SR 58 A 5 1 13,695,580 1%
f&) °

EF2REBERMEEFER2023F 4
A21BMTBEENSEERDSE
—Ht AR 35,000,000 TTHIRLD (FRE
RARRAAEBEEGH 6 BPERE
B ABEEA $£87,388,000 & I -

LA R [ 5% 2R B 55 A #% 1E 12,566,000 %

Betn) o

TREFEREHAMARD ZEET B2
E2ERERLNARBRMNER

Outstanding

as at Granted Forfeited Vested as at
1 January during during during 31 December
2023 the year the year the year 2023
R 20235 R2023F
1H1H 12A31H
i RATE FRFEH ERRH EREE T RATE

Share Award Scheme B 1n 52 By =T 8
First batch Bt 108,942,111 — (1,164,059)  (53,889,012) 53,889,040
Second batch E4t — 99,954,000 - — 99,954,000
108,942,111 99,954,000 (1,164,059)  (53,889,012) 153,843,040
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29. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continved)

30.

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2023 20234 12 531 H

29. g3 REIETE =)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a total of 206,932,000 ordinary BE2023F12A31HILEFE - X5t
shares of the Company were purchased from the open market by the AR AE 72,673,000 8T (FHERA
Trustee at a total consideration of HKD72,673,000 (equivalent to RMB R¥ 66,657,000 ) e RFATIHEE
66,657,000). #206,932,000 B A2 A1 E AR

The Group recognised a share award expense of RMB32,475,000 (for the RBERA  XEB G BRI
year ended 31 December 2022: RMB19,687,000) in respect of the Share R SRENF X AR ¥ 32,475,000
Award Scheme during the reporting period. A total number of 53,889,000 TT(HZ=2022F 12 A31HLEFE - A
shares of the first batch of the Share Award Scheme were vested during R #19,687,0007T) c Bl = 2023412

the year ended 31 December 2023.

A3MBEFERNRBRE RS, EE
STEIMR D 48884 53,889,000 f% -

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH  30. B EXIEIEAg =
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING HEZEME QT
INTERESTS

Details of the Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling BEERFER BTN AEENBER

interests are set out below:

RIEBEEIINT

Shengmu Pangu

BEysd 2022
2022 4

Percentage of equity interest held
by non-controlling interests

Profit for the year allocated to
non-controlling interests

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Accumulated balances of non-controlling

interests at the end of the reporting period

RS RS A D

45% 45%
DEE IR RN F REF
16,556 33,801
BT FIEE R RS (1,481) (32,283)
AR BAR IE I AR 25 B
EE g3 183,040 167,965
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30. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH  30. ¥B = KIEHE IR fESS

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING HNIEZEMB AT =
INTERESTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of T 5% 6 i B A AR T B R B TS B R o
Shengmu Pangu. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company i B B AR ETEM A R EE
eliminations: H

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREET T AREF T

Revenue WA 281,574 294,691

Profit for the year F A5 A 36,790 75,114
Total comprehensive income for the year FAEAERELE 36,790 75,114
Current assets MENVEE 221,060 227,547

Biological assets EYEE 232,618 254,664
Other non-current assets HEMIEmBEE 102,008 104,917

Current liabilities DEE=RE (46,854) (112,172)
Net cash flows from operating activities KR RSB HREREFE 60,337 115,339
Net cash flows used in investing activities REERFARSREFE (27,567) (24,856)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEESFTAR SR E F5E (32,887) (204,802)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents HehIReFEMR D FEE (117) (114,319)
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Notes to Financial Statements

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

3. FERERERME

(a)

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB48,054,000 (2022:
RMB15,499,000) and RMB48,054,000 (2022: RMB15,499,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for leasehold land.

FEFEERS

RNEE  AEEHEE LHAIHE
SxH - HERAEEEREE
EMIERSEED R AARE
48,054,0007C(20226F : AR
15,499,000t ) &k A R ¥
48,054,000 0(20224F : AR
15,499,000 7T) °

CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING (b) RIBITBEEMNEEEE:
ACTIVITIES:
Super
short-term Lease
Bank loans notes liabilities
IRITIER HBEHRES
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARBT T
At 1 January 2023 M 2023F1H1H 1,740,250 100,000 13,383
Changes from financing cash flows BIEREREELEZ
2 338,694 (100,648) (18,126)
New Lease FEE — — 48,054
Lease Modification HE" — — 8,461
Interest expense FBEAXZ 52,295 648 161
At 31 December 2023 R 2023412 A31H 2,131,239 = 51,933
Super
short-term Lease
Bank loans notes liabilities
IRITER  HBEMRES HEAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTT AREFTT
At 1 January 2022 20221 H18 1,679,168 — —
Changes from financing cash flows RERESREEEZ
& (2,836) 100,000 (2,736)
New Lease HHEE — — 15,499
Interest expense FIEFSZ 63,918 — 620
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31H 1,740,250 100,000 13,383
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c)

TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash

flows is as follows:

31. FERERERMEE
(&)
(€ BERLFLEE
HARSRERNAER S

Within operating activities KRN
Within financing activities BVEEBIN
Total st

FEEEP N
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
(14,147) (9,654)
(18,126) (2,736)
(32,273) (12,390)

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group provided
guarantees to banks in respect of the bank loans of Shengmu
Forage amounting to RMB68,963,000 (2022: RMB142,863,000).
Further details are given in note 24.

On the civil judgement of the Inner Mongolia High People’'s Court
in relation to a claim against Shengmu High-tech, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the former directors
of the Group, a provision has been made with an amount of
RMB84,961,000 for the probable losses as at 31 December 2023
(31 December 2022: RMB84,961,000) to the Group after taking into
account the legal advice. The civil judgement of the instance has
not been issued by the reporting date.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A

R.FIBEE

(a) EZE2023F12A31HILEE
REEAEREZEMRITERM
RITIRHER 2BAARY
68,963,000 7T(20224F : AR &
142,863,0007T) ° # —FFI1EH
M FE 24 ©

(b)) BARASTHSHARERE
HEHSE - BEAQR —HHE
BE2EMBAR) RAEEAF
EENERMTENREHA
E AEBRKEREEERR
72023912 A31 8 A &
FREyiB R 1B AR ® 84,961,000
JL(2022F12A31H: AR
84,961,00070) B B s - Bl = 1)
HAH ARMRBHREHR
TE o
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33. COMMITMENTS 33. i

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the REERREARNEREFENT ¢
reporting period:

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Contracted, but not provided for: BRT4BEREE
Land and buildings T REF 43,733 4,980
==
34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 34. EANS 5 K 5
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial (a) BZEYBEHREMBHFLLN
statements, the Group had the following significant transactions RGN - AEBEEHHH T
with related parties: BEARS :
Notes 2023 2022
g3 2023 F 2022 %
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREET T AREEFIT
Associates: i /NCT
Sales of products $HE Em (i) 83,621 67,027
Affiliates of substantial shareholders: T EARREEE A 7] :
Purchases of raw materials EEREME (i (i) 211,538 115,275
Service charges ARi% & (i) (i) 1,481 —
Sales of products HEEM (i) (i) 3,229,483 2,906,573
Notes: et -
(i) The considerations were determined with reference to the then prevailing (i) REDLEERBETME FIERAE
market prices/rates and the prices charged to third parties. ZHMEEET -
(i) The related party transactions also constitute continuing connected (i) BT RS MERSERER S (EE
transactions as defined in chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. R EMMRBIE14AFE) -
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34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 34. BT IHE =)

(continued)

(b) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL OF (b) AEEFTEEEASRRM :
THE GROUP

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 FF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBET T ARBTF T

Short term employee benefits SEEL SRR 21,034 17,952
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIHEER 248 200
Total HEt 21,282 18,152
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive's emoluments EREERERTTRABHMOE—
are included in note 7 to the financial statements. FSHIBHR Y EHREMET

(c) OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES () HEEAELHREZGEH

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

Amounts owed by/(owed to) AT & BB 2 R A

associates included in: RE/CRISHE R E]) &

SEEBE

Trade receivables B 5 W GRIA 6,512 7,315
Affiliates of substantial shareholders: TERRBB AR

Trade receivables B 5 R 294,323 251,617

Trade and bills payables B 5 RN FRIA R EN RE (3,492) (742)

Prepayments, deposits and AR - Re REAmER

other receivable IA 31,268 31,268

Other payables and accruals HENFIERBIRER (28,945) (28,940)
Those balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-free ZEEBER T NER D AEER T
and have no fixed terms of repayment. Trade receivables and trade STEREETENE A@EKINE
payables with related parties have similar credit terms to those SEBGIERE S ENFTIEHERAE=
offered by/to third parties. FRREIREGEEZFHFEERL

GOREYERES

212 CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A



Notes to Financial Statements

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 20234 12 431 H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 5. &I ANSE

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

RFEEROSESBTAEAED

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T
2023 2023 F
FINANCIAL ASSETS TREE

Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value
fair value through Financial
through ~ comprehensive assets at
profit or loss income amortised cost
BOYE  BRATEFA R
T ABRN ZHKREDN B B )
EREE SREE SREE &%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T ARET T ARETT
Long term receivables RHEAEWEUR — - 829 829
Financial assets included STABERFE
in prepayments, other receivables  EL O EURFUE K
and other assets HEENSREE - — 34,072 34,072
Restricted bank deposits B HIRITER - - 148,783 148,783
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTHER - - 947,886 947,886
Trade receivables g HENGE - - 303,329 303,329
Other financial assets HihemEE 130,000 61,000 - 191,000
Total st 130,000 61,000 1,434,899 1,625,899
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 5. &MIT AN E
CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RERARNSEER T ERBERN
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued) ™ : (&)
2023 (Continued) 2023 F (&)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES TREE

Financial
liabilities at fair
value through

profit or loss
RAYE

T ABE
NEmaesd

Designated

as such Financial

upon initial liabilities at

recognition amortised cost

R

R IR TR b RSB BR Y

EEAIL TRAaRE
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBT T ARETT

Financial liabilities included S AE A RS TR K

in other payables and accruals BIREANSREE — 390,779 390,779
Trade and bills payables S ENFIARENZE — 1,706,705 1,706,705
Interest-bearing bank and FTEIRIT R EMER

other borrowings = 2,131,239 2,131,239
Lease HE — 51,933 51,933
Financial guarantee contracts included &t At JE A 2008 &

in other payables and accruals TEIREB AWM BERE D 2 = 2
Total HEt 2 4,280,656 4,280,658
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

3I5. 2T ENSE

RFEEROSESBTAEAED

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued) ™ : (&)
2022 2022 F
FINANCIAL ASSETS TREE
Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value
fair value through Financial
through comprehensive assets at
profit or loss income amortised cost Total
BAFERTA EBAFERA RESRER
B ZHEH KD HIBREY
TREE CRIEE CRAE “RET
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBT T AR¥BTFTT ARBT T ARBTF T
Long term receivables REBFE M IR — — 2,036 2,036
Financial assets included FTATERFRIE -
in prepayments, other HoAth fE MR IE
receivables and other assets ~ E & ER T E
BE — — 49,189 49,189
Restricted bank deposits ZRFIRITIFR — — 199867 199,867
Cash and bank balances & RIRITAEER — — 490,177 490,177
Trade receivables g 5 FIR — — 276,856 276,856
Other financial assets HEhamEE 459000 57,000 — 516,000
Total st 459,000 57,000 1,018,125 1,634,125
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 5. 2MIT AN HE
CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RERARNSEER T ERBERN
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued) ™ : (&)
2022 (Continued) 2022 F (&)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES TRBE
Financial

liabilities at fair
value through
profit or loss

RATE
FTAER
fals SN
Designated
as such Financial
upon initial liabilities at
recognition amortised cost Total
biogz 303
TR AT 95 HE 7R B B AR F AR A
FEE B TRAf et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETTT ARETT

Financial liabilities included ST AE M FE A FRIE K

in other payables and accruals BIREANSREE — 293,963 293,963
Trade and bills payables S ENFIARENZE — 1,476,138 1,476,138
Interest-bearing bank and FTEIRIT R EMER

other borrowings — 1,840,250 1,840,250
Lease HE — 13,383 13,383
Financial guarantee contracts included &t At JE A 2008 &

in other payables and accruals TEIRE AN BERED 2,216 — 2,216
Total HET 2,216 3,623,734 3,625,950

216 CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A



36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

Notes to Financial Statements
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6. ERMTENAFER

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial

instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably

approximate to the fair values, are as follows:

DFESFH

AEEERTACGREERAFERRE
HEERINREER A FERNT

Financial assets

Long term receivables

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing bank

Borrowings

THEE
REEKTR
E N

ATRIRITHER

Carrying amounts Fair values

As at 31 December As at 31 December

REER+T=-A=1—-H AFERT=R=1—-H

2023 2022 2023 2022

2023 F 20225 2023F 20225
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AP AR%Tn SR
829 2,036 798 2,000
2,131,239 1,740,250 2,126,142 1,686,126

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash

equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, trade and bills payables,

financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other

assets, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals and

guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities granted to an

associate approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short

term maturities of these instruments.

BEHECDHG RERREFED -
EHEX - BEZRWE  BHEN
RENMENREE  FFABMRE - E
hEBREREBEENSBEE
FRARMENFIBERBREANDRE
BEN LB E QR EREE MRT
REEROHDITFEEALREEMES
T2HRRETADREHAEHE -
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
IN STRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation

sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair

values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of long term receivables, the
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank loans have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining

maturities.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

6. EMTANAFER

PEEER o

TREENRABNATFERENRS
hEHERETRBNSEARK &
BB E B EHIRRIN o

AT IERBRAREFRFE -

Eﬁﬁfﬂﬁl RIAEFEREIER D~ FHEER
TEFOERBDE SR TFEIIERA
*EMME?K EERRESTIHA W
T AR AESHHNXRITIEBIRK

REMENHAGE -

AT EER
TRHAAREENERTANATE

AAEEA

BAFEENEE

Short-term investment deposits SEIEE S YEE N
Unlisted investment, at fair value

through other comprehensive income FEKE

Total 4Bt

FELEMERE - BOFEAHM

Fair value measurement using

significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

FREATEEHABEN
NEEFE(E=ZR)

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREET T AR®EFIT
130,000 459,000
61,000 57,000
191,000 516,000
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value:

Notes to Financial Statements
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36. £MITANATER
DFESFR

N,

NPHESERE)
BAFENENERS

=113

Fair value measurement using
significant observable inputs (Level 2)

FREATHEEHAZBEN

DNEEFTEEZR)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®EFIT
Financial guarantee contracts HIEERE LY 2 2,216
Total HEt 2 2216

Assets disclosed at fair value: BAVERENEE -

Fair value measurement using
significant observable inputs (Level 2)
ERERTHRBAREN
AFEFE(E=R)

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETFTT

Long term receivables KA EWGRIE

Liabilities disclosed at fair value:

798 2,000

BAVERBENEE

Fair value measurement using
significant observable inputs (Level 2)
ERERTHRRAREN
AFEHE(E=R)

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBF T

Interest-bearing bank borrowings ETERITEN

2,126,142 1,686,126
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

6. EMTANAFER

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL PDEEZFH =)
IN STRUMENTS (continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) N EEHRKE)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of
financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

AR AR 2023 F K& 202212 A 31 H
HeEMT AEGEEMNER T ERE A
BN ZER T EMRE DN

Sensitivity of
fair value to the input
NFEHEA
HENHRE

Valuation Significant

technique unobservable input Range
BEARAHE

fHE 7% WA BUE BE
Short-term Future cash flow  Expected yield 1.6% to 3.22%
investment deposits method (2022: 2.85%
to 3.17%)
RHIREFR ARBEmAE FAHREE 1.6% %2 3.22%

(20224 :
2.85% & 3.17%)

Unlisted investment, at fair Market approach
value through
other comprehensive
income

FELTIRE - BATE
ST AE M 2 HE

EE27

Discount for lack
of marketability
("DLOM")

EIHBEITE
(TESHBEIE L)

20%
(2022: 30%)

20%
(20224 : 30%)

10% (2022:10%) increase
(decrease) in expected yield would
result in increase (decrease) in
fair value by RMB153,000 (2022:
54,000)

T8 HA W am X 18 R 2 ) 10%
(20224 : 10%) - KEHQF
BEZMOR D) AR 153,0007T
(20224 : AR®54,0007T)

10% increase/decrease in DLOM
would result in decrease/increase
in fair value by RMB1,600,000
(2022: RMB2,000,000)

BB ITEEIE M, D 10% 1§
BHRANFERD EMARE
1,600,0007T(20224F : A R %
2,000,0007T)
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Notes to Financial Statements

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank borrowings, pledged deposits and cash and bank balances. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade and bills payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group's policy
that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below:

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's long term debt obligations with a floating
interest rate.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-
rate bank borrowings. The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise. The Group's interest rate profile is set out in note 25.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax through the impact on floating-rate borrowings

and the Group's equity.

Bit 7% 35 2= B 5E

31 December 2023 2023 12431 H

7. MBFEAMREEBRER

R

$%@I¥$@Iﬁﬁ%*§ﬁﬁﬁ
R BREREEE RRBITHER -
%ﬁﬂIEIE%KEK%IW%L
Ef582 - AEEEZREMESRE
ERAE MESERYGKAENANES
ENFELENRIE(AELEEERE
G

AREB—E 2K WHAEBEREESF
ER - TEETERMTASE -

K%Iﬁﬂlﬂﬁimixﬂﬁﬁﬂ
Rk - SMERE R - 15 E R KR
éiﬂw°%$@$T&Hi“@R
ZERRHOBEK  ZERRMEW

T

A=

7K 55 B T 4 69 T 35 ) R S B AL B
A$E@&&Qﬂ¢ﬁmmﬁﬁﬁﬁ
REHR -

AEBHRAFEMNERREEERT S
ﬁﬂﬁ*ﬁ% Ew 2N SRl

@ﬂﬁﬁ m EEESERTN
IE*EM%FﬁﬁiKﬂ

bz o ARERE BB ZH A FE25 -

TRERERA LS B RETE
B - A B 0 BLAT R 4R LA
RMYERAEEREYRIEART
BB B A -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

7. ERABEEEER
B e

Increase/

basis points

(Decrease)/
increase (Decrease)/
(decrease) in in profit increase
before tax in equity*
BENLEZE BRBADENN R
S (TRE)  (TRB) /18R (TR) 1ER*
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFR  ARBTR
2023 2023 %
RMB AR 50 (13,469) (13,469)
RMB ARY (50) 13,469 13,469
2022 20224
RMB AR 50 (14,143) (14,143)
RMB AR (50) 14,143 14,143

Excluding retained profits

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group's businesses are principally located in Chinese Mainland
and substantially all transactions are conducted in RMB, except for
the purchases of imported machinery and equipment. During the year,
substantially all of the Group’'s assets and liabilities were denominated
in RMB except that as at 31 December 2023, cash and bank balances
of approximately RMB158,000 (2022: RMB154,000), RMB1,983,000
(2022: RMB3,282,000) and RMB143,000 (2022: RMB3,282,000) were
denominated in Euro ("EUR"), United States dollars ("USD") and Hong
Kong dollars ("HKD"). The fluctuations of the exchange rates of RMB
against foreign currencies could slightly affect the Group's results of

operations.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in the USD exchange rate (2022: EUR exchange rate) with all
other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities):

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A

: TEERERF

HNEE [ e

AEENEREFBUAREAM - B
BRAIAIRBUAARBEELT - HEE
EHOBBRBHERIN RFR -
TEENBRBLHEERAGUA
R® & B W R2023F12831H
4 N R #158,00070(2022F : AR
#154,0007T ) + A K % 1,983,000 T
(20224 : A R %3,282,000T ) &
AR #143,0007C(2022F - AR®
3,282,0007T ) B IR & KR 1T 45 #h DA K
(Bl Ex(ExX] RBET
([T DEHE - ARBEINE K& K
IREN A BERS U BN RS A -

TREREREHhERBRETE
B - 7 S B 4 R o AT ) 4 2 T
(20224 : BUTER) R EAIREE IR
FRE(HREEEERARNHATE
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
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37. KRR EEEER

B e

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (Continued) HhEE B (4F)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in rate before tax
EEMEE  BRBIDER
/(TH)  #E/(TH)
% RMB'000
ARETF R
2023 2023 F 5 1,045
(5) (1,045)
2022 2022 F 5 4,723
(5) (4,723)

CREDIT RISK EERkE

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to
bad debts is not significant.

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. For
listed debt investments, the Group also monitors them by using external
credit ratings. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee
contracts.

AEEERERRMEEBRIENF =
TETRS - REAKREOBE - L
BEUEERARZNER H BAB
BEEES - W AEEERER
REW IR - BASEEEH
ERARITTERX -

B KRB K% £ K B R
TREIERAEEEEBRRITH
EREEENBAEERAR  ENEE
ER12A31 B ERGRIEFRE
BAMNBTBERARS HAAES
MEMER) REREROE - 3L L™
BEHREME - AEEITMERINBE
ERBEEETEE - M2JISHER
TREERAAEIMBERANN
EERR -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37.MBEREMEEBER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continved) B
MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING (Continued) BAEME N EREERE)

As at 31 December 2023 12-month
72023412 8318 ECLs Lifetime ECLs
T+=f@A EEAE
BHEERR BHEERR

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach

F1BR F2RER FIER k075
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥TR ARETr AR%Tr AR®T:R

Trade receivables* B 5 G E - - - 310,656 310,656
Long term receivables™ RGO
- Normal** —EF* 829 - - - 829

Financial assets included in STATERFUR - Efofelk
prepayments, other receivables FBREMEER

and other assets® PREE"

- Normal* ~E&" - = = 34,072 34,072
Restricted bank deposits XRHFITFER

— Not yet past due —HARAH 148,783 - - - 148,783
Cash and bank balances Re RBTHEA

— Not yet past due — AR A 1,077,886 - - - 1,077,886
Guarantees given to banks in BEEAREREEEM

connection with facilities MR ER

granted to associates

— Not yet past due —HARAH 68,963 - - - 68,963
Total st 1,296,461 - - 344,728 1,641,189

224 CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A



37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING (Continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
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3. MERABEEEER
B e

RAREBRERERE)

As at 31 December 2022 12-month
R2022%12A318 ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f@A B {EHE Total
BHEEER BHEEER st
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
F1RER F2ER F3IER B A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETRT ARET:R
Trade receivables* B HEWIR" - - - 284,183 284,183
Long term receivables™ RGO
- Normal** —E&E~ 2,036 - - - 2,036
Financial assets included in STATERFUR - Efofelk
prepayments, other receivables FBREMEER
and other assets® PREE"
- Normal* —EF* - - - 49,189 49,189
Restricted bank deposits XBRHRITER
— Not yet past due —HARAH 199,867 - - - 199,867
Cash and bank balances Re RBTHEA
— Not yet past due — AR 949,177 - - - 949,177
Guarantees given to banks in BEEAREREEEM
connection with facilities MR ER
granted to associates
— Not yet past due —HARAH 142,863 - - - 142,863
Total st 1,293,943 — = 333,372 1627315

For trade receivables, prepayments, deposits and other receivables to which
the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 19 and 20 to the financial statements,
respectively.

The credit quality of long term receivables and the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets are considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

*%

RAEEEABEHERENE SR
B - FENRE - e REHMEWRE
ms ' ERBEREOHER TS BIRH
FERAMTE19 M 20 3R EE -

= BB ARIA AT ATER A -« Ef
AR EMEENEBEEL RE
B AVSENBETeREEEERR
B AR A RE B IN - BIRENE
BEZRAREIETR]  BREBEED
EEERWRE AR -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
MAXIMUM EXPOSURE AND YEAR-END STAGING (Continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit
risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and
by industry sector. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk
within the Group as the customer bases of the Group's trade receivables

are widely dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk
arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’'s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings and projected

cash flows from operations.

CHINA SHENGMU ORGANIC MILK LIMITED A BREHRA I ZEER A A
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3. MERABEEEER
B e

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial

liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on contractual

undiscounted payments.

B (E)

TERBMEREFT O M AREBNK -
AEERRERRNIMEREE -

Ondemand Lessthan 1year 1to 5 years Over 5 years
REX PR1E 125% BiB5F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
2023 2023%F
Financial liabilities included in 5T A A ER A K
other payables and accruals ~ TBIRBFMLREE 390,779 - - - 390,779
Trade and bills payables EHRNTERENER 1,706,705 - - - 1,706,705
Lease liabilities HERE - 13,380 38,553 - 51,933
Interest-bearing bank and TERTREMER
other borrowings (excluding ~ (TREREERE)
lease liabilities) = 911,383 1,088,610 131,246 2,131,239
Guarantees given to banks BMA N EREEEM
in connection with facilities MR TIREMNER
granted to associates 68,963 = = = 68,963
Total FeE 2,166,447 924,763 1,127,163 131,246 4,349,619
2022 20225
Financial liabilities included in st AR AERFER
other payables and accruals ~ BIREFMEHERE 293963 - - - 293963
Trade and bills payables EHENFERERNEE 1,476,138 - - - 1,476,138
Lease liabilities HEEE - 2,586 10,797 - 13,383
Interest-bearing bank and FTERTREMER
other borrowings (TBREHEEAR)
(excluding lease liabilities) - 895,610 944,640 — 1,840,250
Guarantees given to banksin ~ ABMEAREREEEM
connection with facilities MR TIREMER
granted to associates 142,863 - - — 142,863
Total Bt 1,912,964 898,196 955,437 — 3,766,597
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debt
divided by the total capital. Total debt includes interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and lease liabilities. Total capital is the equity as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group's policy is
to maintain a healthy gearing ratio. The gearing ratios at the end of the

reporting periods were as follows:

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (note 25)

Lease liabilities HEaE
Total equity REmiaza
Gearing ratio ERHE &

FHRRIT R E M tE R (M5 25)

37. KRR EEEER

B )

EAREE
AEEEAEEN T EEEL REA
2 B35 0 A0 A T A 3 TR R A b R
b B E R AR A
KB -

REESRBELCHERNE(CRIBBAE
ENEREHEELARAEINE
EESEABRNTRENRKRE 7\
REGRERARLBITHR - NREEL
EAEAIINGSE AT K - BIE 2023512
B31HN2022F12 A3 HILFE -
BEAEEMNEE  BRIRELEE
1t »

AEBEERERELERERERN &I
RIREBRBRARERTE - B
BB BRI REMERMEE
BE - REABEAMBMNKRAR
i - AEENRRERFREMNE
REE o REROERL AT ¢

2023 2022
2023 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREEFIT
2,131,239 1,840,250
51,933 13,383
4,236,255 4,261,682
51.5% 43.5%
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 38. AR BB AR R R

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at MR ERIR - BREEARA R B AR &R
RERINT ¢

7

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
20234 20224
128318 12 A31H
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIBATRRE 543,599 491,437
Due from subsidiaries JEUR B B A =) FRTE 2,852,549 2,852,508
Total non-current assets ERBEELR 3,396,148 3,343,945
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, other receivables TERTFRIE - bW FRIE K&
and other assets HipEE 600 12,469
Cash and bank balance & MIRTTA &R 32,693 74,021
Due from subsidiaries Y= NCIE L] 259,082 397,544
Total current assets MEEEERE 292,375 484,034
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Super shot-term notes FRRE HA R R — 100,000
Other payables and accruals Hb e sIERTERE A 20 563
Total current liabilities mEBEER 20 100,563
NET CURRENT ASSETS EREEE 292,355 383,471
TOTAL ASSETS HEERRBEE
LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,688,503 3,727,416
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Loans from subsidiaries B AR ER 70,000 —
Total non-current liabilities FERBAaFERER 70,000 —
Net assets HEE 3,618,503 3,727,616
EQUITY s
Share capital % 69 69
Reserves (note) s (FIE) 3,618,434 3,727,347
Total equity R iAER 3,618,503 3,727,416

ANNUAL REPORT F[Z 3R 2023



230

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 3% %k 2= B 5F

31 December 2023 20234 12 A31 H

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:

3. AR MBERRATR =

ARARIMORFEREHRALLT -

Treasury
Share shares held Exchange
premium Share Other under share  Accumulated fluctuation
account  option reserve reserves award scheme losses reserve
)
RRitEl
kiVEE BRERE HitREE SENEER ZHEE  OKBRE a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR AR%ETR ARBT:R
At 1 January 2023 202351818 3,702,140 57,265 131 (26,188) (132,998) 126,997 3,727,347
Loss for the year and FRBBRRZAKEEE
total comprehensive income - - - - (8,242) - (8,242)
Shares purchases for B3 R IR A B E
share award scheme - - = (66,657) = = (66,657)
Share Award Scheme ffn £eEEt 2l - 52,161 - - - - 52,161
Dividends distribution B8R (87,184) = = = = = (87,184)
Shares vested under RER DB BIEB ORI
Share Award Scheme 524 (15,473) - 15,958 - - 1,009
At 31 December 2023 20235124318 3,615,480 93,953 131 (76,887) (141,240) 126,997 3,618,434
Treasury
Share shares held Exchange
premium Share Other under share  Accumulated fluctuation
account  option reserve reserves —award scheme losses reserve Total
RERR
B8l
RHEE  BRERE Hivkts  BENEER ZiEBR  ERLRDREE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR ARETT ARETr  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
At 1 January 2022 20251818 3,702,140 57,265 131 - (127523 126,997 3,759,010
Loss for the year and total FREERZANGEE
comprehensive income - - - - (5,475) — (5,475)
Shares purchased for share RN EEEINRNEE
award scheme - - - (26,188) - - (26,188)
At 31 December 2022 2022512 A31R 3,702,140 57,265 131 (26,188) (132,.998) 126,997 3,727,347
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Notes to Financial Statements

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised. The amount will either be
transferred to the share premium account when the related options are
exercised, or be transferred to accumulated losses should the related
options expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 26 March 2024.
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38.

39.

AT BRRT =

BRREFHEEFCREBRARITEN
BRENATE 2B ERARE
BRETESEEERMEENR X
el 75 280 s PO e S BOR UK - BRI 8B
BEZRAEBER -

bt B 15 Rk

SRR N 2024 F3 A 26 B EEE
Hofe IR RETI) 3 -
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Financial Summary

Bris i =

Unit: RMB’000 By AR¥TT For the year ended 31 December
HE+-_A=+—HLLFE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 F 2022 4F 2021 4F 2020 £F 2019 4
Revenue SHE WA 3,383,629 3,176,253 2,984,616 2,660,823 2,759,369
Profit for the year FW A 94,612 450,073 509,571 460,969 135,696
Of which: Profit attributable H/ : FRRHA A
to owners of the parent FE(R R 86,076 416,460 471,713 406,680 27,742
Earnings per share a AR T B ER
ttributable to ordinary BE AEG
equity holders of SRR &F)
the parent:
Basic EEWiN RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR AR AR AR ARHE
0.01047T 0.04997T 0.05637T 0.05357TC 0.00447T
Diluted B RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR AR AR AR ARHE
0.01037T 0.04967T 0.05637T 0.05357TC 0.00447T
At at 31 December
Rn+=—A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 F 2022 FF 2021 2020 F 2019 4F
Total assets BEE 8,516,911 7,887,632 7,131,585 6,725,226 6,600,253
Total liabilities BEE 4,280,656 3,625,950 3,242,400 3,305,700 4,189,425
Net assets FEE 4,236,255 4,261,682 3,889,185 3,419,526 2,410,828
Of which: equity attributable H/ : S RRHEA A
to owners of the parent: FE(E R 4,023,068 4,055,187 3,679,833 3,196,732 2,186,421
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